

LUND UNIVERSITY

Neuropsychiatric symptoms in early stages of Alzheimer's disease: associations with neuropathological changes and cognitive deficits

Johansson, Maurits

2022

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Johansson, M. (2022). Neuropsychiatric symptoms in early stages of Alzheimer's disease: associations with neuropathological changes and cognitive deficits. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Neuropsychiatric symptoms in early stages of Alzheimer's disease

Associations with neuropathological changes and cognitive deficits

MAURITS JOHANSSON | LUND UNIVERSITY







Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:64 ISBN 978-91-8021-225-0 ISSN 1652-8220



Neuropsychiatric symptoms in early stages of Alzheimer's disease

Associations with neuropathological changes and cognitive deficits

Maurits Johansson



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended May 13, 2022, at 13.00 in Belfragesalen, BMC D15, Lund University.

> *Faculty opponent* Nancy Donovan

LOND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral Dissertatio	
	May 13, 2022	
Author Maurits Johansson	Sponsoring organization	
Title and subtitle Neuropsychiatric s neuropathological changes and cogn	symptoms in early stages of Alzheimer' itive deficits	s disease: associations with
Abstract Alzheimer's disease (AD), the most common cause of dementia, is regarded as an illness of lost memories. Yet, its symptoms go beyond cognitive deficits. At some point, most persons with AD also develop neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPS), defined as disorders in emotions, motivation, or behavior. Previously thought to turn critical late in the disease, these manifestations are now shown related to adverse outcomes already in its early stages. However, their underlying neurobiological signature and their interplay with cognitive deficits have been understudied, hampering clinical management and the development of interventions. The aim of the thesis was to explore the relationship between NPS (especially apathy, anxiety, and depression), cognitive deficits, and core AD-related pathologies (amyloid-beta [Aβ], tau, and neurodegeneration) in non-demented individuals. The thesis further aimed to bring out a psychometrically evaluated rating scale for apathy in		
demented individuals. The thesis further aimed to bring out a psychometrically evaluated rating scale for apathy in Swedish. Data were derived from the prospective and longitudinal Swedish BIOFINDER Study. In <i>paper I</i> , a Swedish version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) was demonstrated to perform similarly to the original English version and exhibited acceptable psychometric properties among cognitively unimpaired (CU) elderly and patients with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or parkinsonian symptoms. In <i>paper II</i> , using a mixed sample of CU and MCI, apathy and anxiety were found associated with brain Aβ deposition as well as cognitive decline. A high level of anxiety further interacted with Aβ to predict even faster cognitive change. Moreover, apathy levels were found associated with frontotemporal atrophy. In <i>paper III</i> , studying CU with biomarker verified preclinical AD, the overall burden of Mild Behavioral Impairment (MBI), but not memory performance, was found associated with early brain tau pathology. In <i>paper IV</i> , examining CU elderly, levels of Aβ at study start were shown to be associated with a change in apathy or anxiety levels over time. A more rapid cognitive decline was also related to future higher levels of apathy. Yet, the effect by Aβ on future apathy was only partly mediated by cognitive change. Taken together, the thesis provides initial support for the Swedish version of the AES to be used in clinical and research settings. We further show that anxiety and apathy seem to be early clinical manifestations of underlying AD pathology, partly independent from cognitive impairment, and with the potential to predict subsequent cognitive decline.		
Key words Alzheimer's disease, Neuropsychiatric symptoms, Apathy, Anxiety, Depression, Mild behavioral impairment, Mild cognitive impairment, Cognitively unimpaired, Amyloid-beta, Tau, Neurodegeneration, Psychometry		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical inform	nation	Language English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-8021-225-0
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 114	Price
	Security classification	1

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2022-04-05

Neuropsychiatric symptoms in early stages of Alzheimer's disease

Associations with neuropathological changes and cognitive deficits

Maurits Johansson



Main supervisor: Oskar Hansson, MD, PhD, Professor Co-supervisor: Niklas Mattsson-Carlgren, MD, PhD, Associate Professor Co-supervisor: Per Mårten Johansson, MD, PhD Co-supervisor: Sebastian Palmqvist, MD, PhD, Associate Professor Co-supervisor: Shorena Janelidze, PhD, Associate Professor Cover "Glömska" in aquarelle by Erik Levin

Copyright pp 1-114 (Maurits Johansson)

Paper 1 © by Taylor & Francis Group (Nordic Journal of Psychiatry) Paper 2 © by Elsevier (Neurobiology of Aging) Paper 3 © by Springer Nature (Open Access at Translational Psychiatry) Paper 4 © by Elsevier (Open Access at Biological Psychiatry)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:64 ISBN 978-91-8021-225-0 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2022



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

To Hanna

Bridging the gap between a mindless neurology and a brainless psychiatry - Per Johansson, Ängelholm, 2010

Table of Contents

Abstract11		
Sammanfattning på svenska (Swedish summary)	13	
Abbreviations and acronyms	15	
List of original publications	17	
Introduction	19	
The thesis rationale in brief	19	
Terminology of neuropsychiatric symptoms	20	
Defining cognition	21	
Alzheimer's disease	22	
A historical background	22	
A popular clinical description of Alzheimer's disease	24	
Prevalence and impact of Alzheimer's disease	25	
Neuropathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease		
Biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease neuropathology		
Treatment of Alzheimer's disease		
Other degenerative brain disorders	38	
Nauronsvehiatria sumntoms	40	
Prevalence and recognition of neuropsychiatric symptoms	40	
Adverse outcomes of neuropsychiatric symptoms		
Definitions of apathy, depression, anxiety,		
and mild behavioral impairment	41	
The relationship between neuropsychiatric symptoms, cognitive		
impairment, and Alzheimer's disease neuropathology	46	
Pharmacological treatment of neuropsychiatric symptoms	53	
Psychometric evaluation of neuropsychiatric symptoms	54	
Rating scales for neuropsychiatric symptoms	54	
Basic concepts of Classical Test Theory		
Challenges in rater source selection	57	

Rationale and aims	59
General aim	59
Specific rationale and aims	59
Paper I	
Paper II	59
Paper III	60
Paper IV	60
Methods	61
Study populations	62
Cognitively unimpaired in the BIOFINDER-I study	62
Mild Cognitive Impairment in the BIOFINDER-I study	62
Parkinsonian disorders in the BIOFINDER-I study	62
Cognitively unimpaired in the BIOFINDER-II study	63
Assessments	63
Rating scales for neuropsychiatric symptoms	63
Cognitive tests	65
Measures of in vivo neuropathology	66
Fluid-based biomarkers	66
Positron emission tomography	66
Magnetic resonance imaging	67
Statistical analyses	68
Principal component analyses	
Multiple linear regression analyses	
Linear mixed effect models	69
Mediation analyses	70
Imputation of missing data	70
Corrections for multiple comparisons	71
Ethical considerations	71
Main results and conclusions	73
Paper I	73
Sample	73
Main results	73
Conclusion	74
Comments	74
Paper II	75
Sample	75
Main results	75
Conclusion	76
Comments	76

Paper III	78
Sample	78
Main results	78
Conclusion	78
Comments	78
Paper IV	80
Sample	80
Main results	80
Conclusion	82
Comments	82
Concluding remarks	83
Future directions	83
Harmonization of neuropsychiatric symptom study protocols	84
Recognition of AD-related neuropsychiatric symptoms	85
The over-all clinical management of neuropsychiatric symptoms	86
Neuropsychiatric symptoms in future Alzheimer's disease criteria	86
Acknowledgements	89
References	93
Appendices The Swedish version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale	

The Swedish version of the Mild Behavioral Impairment - Checklist

Paper I-IV

Abstract

Alzheimer's disease (AD), the most common cause of dementia, is regarded as an illness of lost memories. Yet, its symptoms go beyond cognitive deficits. At some point, most persons with AD also develop neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPS), defined as disorders in emotions, motivation, or behavior. Previously thought to turn critical late in the disease, these manifestations are now shown related to adverse outcomes already in its early stages. However, their underlying neurobiological signature and their interplay with cognitive deficits have been understudied, hampering clinical management and the development of interventions.

The aim of the thesis was to explore the relationship between NPS (especially apathy, anxiety, and depression), cognitive deficits, and core AD-related pathologies (amyloid-beta [A β], tau, and neurodegeneration) in non-demented individuals. The thesis further aimed to bring out a psychometrically evaluated rating scale for apathy in Swedish. Data were derived from the prospective and longitudinal Swedish BIOFINDER Study.

In *paper I*, a Swedish version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) was demonstrated to perform similarly to the original English version and exhibited acceptable psychometric properties among cognitively unimpaired (CU) elderly and patients with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or parkinsonian symptoms. In *paper II*, using a mixed sample of CU and MCI, apathy and anxiety were found associated with brain A β deposition as well as cognitive decline. A high level of anxiety further interacted with A β to predict even faster cognitive change. Moreover, apathy levels were found associated with frontotemporal atrophy. In *paper III*, studying CU with biomarker verified preclinical AD, the overall burden of Mild Behavioral Impairment (MBI), but not memory performance, was found associated with early brain tau pathology. In *paper IV*, examining CU elderly, levels of A β at study start were shown to be associated with a change in apathy or anxiety levels over time. A more rapid cognitive decline was also related to future higher levels of apathy. Yet, the effect by A β on future apathy was only partly mediated by cognitive change.

Taken together, the thesis provides initial support for the Swedish version of the AES to be used in clinical and research settings. We further show that anxiety and apathy seem to be early clinical manifestations of underlying AD pathology, partly independent from cognitive impairment, and with the potential to predict subsequent cognitive decline.

Sammanfattning på svenska (Swedish summary)

Alzheimers sjukdom är den vanligaste degenerativa hjärnsjukdomen och starkt förknippad med fortlöpande försämring av den drabbades minne och andra tankeförmågor (kognitiva funktioner). Andra betydelsefulla och vanliga, men ofta förbisedda, yttringar av sjukdomen är påverkan av känsloliv, drivkraft och beteende. Sådana neuropsykiatriska symtom inkluderar depression, apati och ångest med ofta stort lidande för såväl den drabbade som närstående.

Vid Alzheimers sjukdom aggregerar och inlagras vissa proteiner såsom betaoch tau i hjärnan, med efterföljande amyloid $(A\beta)$ nervcellsdöd (neurodegeneration). Inlagringen av A β börjar flera decennier innan symtom framträder. Kopplingen mellan dessa vävnadsförändringar och de kognitiva funktionsnedsättningarna har studerats flitigt, medan däremot de biologiska mekanismerna bakom uppkomst av neuropsykiatriska symtom inte är tillnärmelsevis så väl kartlagda. Framför allt saknas studier under tidiga siukdomsstadier.

Denna avhandling avsåg att, under tidiga faser av Alzheimers sjukdom, utforska relationen mellan neuropsykiatriska symtom, underliggande sjukdomsförändringar och kognitiva funktionsnedsättningar. Vidare var målsättningen att ta fram en svensk version av ett internationellt etablerat apatiskattningsinstrument, för att på så vis kunna mäta och utvärdera apati. De studiedeltagare som undersökts ingår i de olika kohorterna i den longitudinella observationsstudien "The Swedish BIOFINDER Study" (www.biofinder.se).

I en första studie, utförd på kognitivt friska äldre, patienter med lindrig kognitiv störning och patienter med parkinsonism, visades den svenska versionen av Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) uppträda på ett likartat sätt som det engelska originalet samt ha goda mätmetodologiska egenskaper.

I en andra studie på individer utan demens, inkluderande kognitivt friska äldre och patienter med lindrig kognitiv störning, visades en ökad förekomst av A β i hjärnan vara kopplad till en högre grad av apati och ångest, men inte till depressiva symtom. En hög grad av apati respektive ångest kunde vidare förutsäga kognitiv försämring över tid. En accelererad försämring i kognition sågs hos dem med både hög

förekomst av $A\beta$ och hög ångestnivå. Apati var ytterligare relaterat till vävnadsförlust i hjärnans tinninglob samt i mindre delar av pannloben.

I en tredje studie på kognitivt friska äldre, med samtidig patologisk förekomst av $A\beta$ i hjärnan (preklinisk Alzheimers sjukdom), visades graden av neuropsykiatriska symtom, men inte minnesbesvär, vara relaterad till ökad förekomst av tau i de delar av hjärnan som drabbas tidigt vid Alzheimers sjukdom. Detta fynd talar för att neuropsykiatriska symtom är kopplade till Alzheimerpatologi tidigt i sjukdomsförloppet samt oberoende av den kognitiva nedsättningen.

I en fjärde studie visades A β , hos kognitivt friska äldre vara relaterat till utveckling av både apati och ångest över tid. Även en mer accelererad kognitiv svikt var kopplad till framtida ökad grad av apati. Effekten av A β på utveckling av apati visades däremot enbart i begränsad omfattning verka via den kognitiva försämringen. Detta antyder att A β kan ha en mer direkt inverkande effekt på apatiutveckling.

Sammanfattningsvis talar våra studier för att den svenska versionen av AES kan tas i bruk i såväl en klinisk som vetenskaplig kontext. Vidare att de neuropsykiatriska symtomen apati och ångest utgör viktiga och tidiga kliniska manifestationer relaterade till underliggande Alzheimerpatologi (inklusive A β , tau och neurodegeneration), delvis oberoende av de kognitiva symtomen, men med potential att kunna förutsäga sådana över tid.

Abbreviations and acronyms

Αβ	Amyloid-beta
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADAS-DR	The Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale – Cognitive Subscale - Delayed Memory Recall
AES	Apathy Evaluation Scale
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
AQT-CF	A Quick Test – the color form task
ARWMC	The Age-Related White Matter Change Scale
BF-I	The Swedish BIOFINDER Study I
BF-II	The Swedish BIOFINDER Study II
BPSD	Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia
bvFTD	Behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia
CBD	Corticobasal degeneration
CTT	Classical Test Theory
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CU	Cognitively unimpaired
FDR	False Discovery Rate
FLAIR	Fluid-attenuated inversion recovery
FTLD	Frontotemporal lobe degeneration
GDS	Geriatric Depression Scale
HADS-A	The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale – Anxiety
HADS-D	The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale - Depression
ICD-10	The tenth revision of the International Classification of Diseases
LATE	Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy

LLD	Late-life depression
MBI	Mild Behavioral Impairment
MBI-C	Mild Behavioral Impairment – Checklist
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
MMSE	Mini Mental State Examination
mPACC5	modified Preclinical Alzheimer Cognitive Composite
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
ND	Neurodegenerative diseases
NfL	Neurofilament light chain
NFTs	Neurofibrillary tangles
NPS	Neuropsychiatric symptoms
PART	Primary Age-Related Tauopathy
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDD	Parkinson's disease dementia
PSP	Progressive supranuclear palsy
P-tau	Phosphorylated tau
DLB	Dementia with Lewy Bodies
PET	Positron emission tomography
ROI	Region of interest
SEm	Standard Error of Measurement
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor
TDP-43	TAR DNA-binding protein 43
VaD	Vascular Dementia
WML	White matter lesions

List of original publications

This thesis is based on the following original papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. **Johansson, M.**, Johansson, P., Stomrud, E., Hagell, P., Hansson, O. Psychometric testing of a Swedish version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry* 2017; 71(6), 477-484.
- II. Johansson, M., Stomrud, E., Lindberg, O., Westman, E., Johansson, P. M., van Westen, D., Mattsson, N., Hansson, O. Apathy and anxiety are early markers of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging* 2020; 85, 74-82.
- III. Johansson, M., Stomrud, E., Insel, P. S., Leuzy, A., Johansson, P. M., Smith, R., Ismail, Z., Janelidze, S., Palmqvist, S., van Westen, D., Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Hansson, O. Mild behavioral impairment and its relation to tau pathology in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Translational Psychiatry* 2021; 11(1), 76.
- IV. Johansson, M., Stomrud, E., Johansson, P. M., Svenningsson, A., Palmqvist, S., Janelidze, S., van Westen, D., Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Hansson, O. Development of apathy, anxiety, and depression in cognitively unimpaired older adults: effects of Alzheimer's disease pathology and cognitive decline. *Biological Psychiatry* 2022, Epub ahead of print Jan 28. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2022.01.012.

Introduction

The thesis rationale in brief

The human mental abilities arise from neuronal activity and can be divided into the three categories cognition (thoughts), emotion (feelings), and drive (motivation and endurance)^{1,2}.

In degenerative brain diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) neurons progressively lose function and ultimately succumb. In time, many of these neurodegenerative diseases (ND), display a profound impact on several areas of the brain³. Accordingly, all three overarching mental processes are likely to be affected during the disease progression⁴⁻⁶.

In AD, cognitive deficits have been extensively studied and recognized, but less attention has been given to neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPS, disturbances in emotions, drive, or behavior), especially so during the early stages of disease⁷.

Even if advances have been made, the temporal and causal relationships between typical AD pathological changes, cognitive deficits, and disturbances in emotional or motivational processes are yet to be determined. A better understanding of the associations between these variables, together with psychometrically favorable assessments of NPS, might prove helpful in clinical settings, develop into new prognostic markers, and facilitate future intervention trials⁸.

Terminology of neuropsychiatric symptoms

As knowledge regarding neuropsychiatric symptoms in the field of ND has been acquired, disregarded, and eventually reconsidered, the terminology has evolved.

Neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPS) is an umbrella term encompassing a heterogenous array of disturbances in emotion, motivation, and behavior, as well as psychotic symptoms in all stages of ND. The term covers disturbances such as depression, apathy, anxiety, aggressivity, agitation, irritability, disinhibition, euphoria, delusions, hallucinations, sleep disturbances, eating disorders, and aberrant motor behavior.

Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia (BPSD) covers similar disturbances as NPS, yet these are restricted to more advanced stages of disease, when dementia has already developed⁹.

Mild Behavioral Impairment (MBI) is a recently developed construct that recognizes changes in behavior (here also including emotions and motivation) or personality late in life in individuals without dementia. MBI can be diagnosed prior to, in concert with, or somewhat after development of *Mild Cognitive Impairment* (MCI)¹⁰.

The Behavioral variant of Alzheimer's disease (bvAD) is considered a less common clinical presentation of AD, with predominantly behavioral deficits and personality changes. The manifestations encompassed by the construct bvAD substantially overlap with those of the Behavioral variant of frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD). The first specific bvAD criteria were recently published (autumn 2021)¹¹.

Defining cognition

Cognition is defined as mental processes or actions by which we think, comprehend, learn, and remember¹². According to *The fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5)*, the cognitive domains are grouped into memory and learning, executive function, complex attention, language, perceptual-motor function, and social cognition (Figure 1)¹³.



Figure 1. The six cognitive domains according to The fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.

The cognitive abilities rise steeply from infancy to young adulthood, peaks around early middle age and then subtly decreases over the years as part of normal aging^{14,}¹⁵. This senescent decrease is mild and does not affect one's independence in everyday life, whereas cognitive impairment due to ND is accelerated and pronounced¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Most commonly, normal aging affects mental speed, our ability to multi-task, and word finding. However, vocabulary and verbal reasoning often remain unchanged^{14, 15}.

Alzheimer's disease

A historical background

On 25 November 1901, the 51-year-old Auguste Deter (Figure 2) and her husband Karl arrived at the Municipal Asylum for the Insane and Epileptic, in Frankfurt am Main, Germany. The Asylum was located in a spacious gothic building, surrounded by grand gardens. Soon she would become historical as the first case ever described with AD¹⁹.

In the preceding months, there had been a noticeable change in Auguste's behavior. On 18 March 1901, she started groundlessly, and persistently for weeks, to accuse her husband of infidelity with a female neighbor. Retrospectively her husband pointed out this incident as the first sign of what later would come. Soon she displayed progressive memory problems. She grew restless, neglected housework, and developed delusions of an intruding character that wanted to harm her. Furthermore, she spoke of death, became agitated and disturbed neighbors. She purposely hid objects. The situation got out of control. After seeking medical advice, their family doctor recommended her to the local mental institution¹⁹.

Upon admittance, she was closely examined and observed by the psychiatrist and neuropathologist Dr. Alois Alzheimer. The examination of Auguste Deter is well recorded and can be read in the rediscovered medical file²⁰. According to it, the middle-aged woman showed clear signs of progressive cognitive impairment, including memory problems, expressive and comprehensive aphasia, writing difficulties, and disorientation. Beyond these cognitive deficits, there were also notes on psychotic, affective, and behavioral disturbances as portrayed in the following quotes (Auguste Deters words in italic):

"I show her a key, a pencil and a book and she names them correctly. What did I show you? *I don't know, I don't know.* It's difficult, isn't it? *So anxious, so anxious.* I show her 3 fingers; how many fingers? *3.* Are you still anxious? *Yes.*" (Maurer, 1997, p. 1547)²⁰ (Quoted with permission from Elsevier.)

"During physical examination she cooperates and is not anxious. She suddenly says *Just now a child called, is he there?* She hears him calling." (Maurer, 1997, p. 1548)²⁰ (Quoted with permission from Elsevier.)

"In the afternoon Auguste D. lay in the big main room; in the evening she became unruly. She ran around the room wailing and grabbed other patients' faces so that they, too, became agitated." (Maurer, 2003, p. 12)²¹ (Quoted with permission from Columbia University Press.)



Figure 2. Auguste Deter at the Asylum for the Insane and the Epileptic in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 1901²⁰. Reprinted with permission from Elsevier⊚

The last entry in the file by Dr. Alzheimer dates from June 1902:

"Auguste D. continues to be hostile, screams, and lashes out when one wants to examine her. She also screams spontaneously, often for hours..." (Maurer, 2003, p. $22)^{21}$ (Quoted with permission from Columbia University Press.)

As the years pass at the asylum, Auguste Deter's behavior changes and the agitation subsides. Instead, she spends her days in bed with legs drawn up and is described as "completely stupefied"¹⁹.

On 8 April 1906, Auguste deceases. On histopathological examination, Dr. Alzheimer noted peculiar alterations outside and inside the neurons that later came to be known as amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, respectively. Dr. Alzheimer had both described the clinical characteristics and discovered key pathological hallmarks of a disease today known as AD^{20} . A century later, it is demonstrated, by a re-examination of the preserved histopathological sections, that Auguste Deter most likely suffered from a rare autosomal dominant variant of familiar AD (presenilin-1 gene mutation), with an early and rapid onset of symptoms²².

Taken together, the story of Auguste Deter depicts AD as an illness that goes beyond cognitive symptoms. Affected individuals most often also suffer from non-cognitive mental disturbances, including emotional distress, reduced motivation, psychotic experiences, or changes in behavior. The story further infers that these non-cognitive mental manifestations can appear in various stages of the disease, not only in the later.

A popular clinical description of Alzheimer's disease

Ordinarily, the average AD case is today described as a neurocognitive disorder that clinically starts with subtle, yet slowly progressive, memory problems (e.g., the affected individual forgets where items have been placed or recent conversations). As the disease advances, the memory problems worsen (e.g., forgetting important appointments or names of relatives and repeating oneself)²³⁻²⁷. It is also common with early anxiousness over the impact of these difficulties or worries over an underlying brain disorder²⁵.

In parallel, there is a gradual development of other cognitive difficulties²³⁻²⁶. These include language impairment (e.g., difficulties finding the correct words in speech), learning difficulties (e.g., to learn new facts or develop new skills), apraxia (e.g., difficulties to practically getting dressed or tooth brushing), executive dysfunction (e.g., difficulties with handling devices or planning the day), attention deficits (e.g., being unable to concentrate or being easily distractable) and visuospatial problems (e.g., inability to perceive contras, speed, or orientation)²³⁻²⁶. Initially these symptoms are mild and can be compensated by other abilities. These mild symptoms are often referred to as MCI. However, when the cognitive deficits have impacted one's functional capacity to such an extent that one's independence in life cannot be sustained, then one has developed the state of dementia¹³. The dementia term is not explicitly used in the context of AD. Hence, dementia can develop due to several diseases compromising the brain.

In the dementia phase, most patients sooner or later manifest BPSD such as anxiety, agitation, aggression, depression, or apathy. There may also occur hallucinations, delusions, wandering, screaming, perseverations, or sleeping disorders. The intensity and duration of these vary widely from case to case²⁴⁻²⁶.

In the more advanced stages of AD dementia, the affected individuals display severe global cognitive impairment and need assistance with most aspects of everyday life. For instance, there are profound difficulties in communicating and orientation. Bodily functions deteriorate, such as the ability to swallow, control of bladder and bowel. Also, the ability to walk is gradually lost^{24, 25}. Many AD patients die from secondary diseases such as pneumonia or cardiovascular disease²⁵. The average survival time from a diagnosis of AD dementia has been approximated to 4-5 years²⁸.

Despite this "typical" clinical presentation of AD, there are significant individual differences in its clinical manifestations and progression, and lately, awareness has grown regarding the importance of also "atypical" profiles²⁷.

Prevalence and impact of Alzheimer's disease

AD is a major and increasing global health concern. As the most common ND, AD contributes up to approximately 50-60 percent of all dementia cases^{29, 30}. It is approximated that more than 50 million people worldwide currently suffer from AD and other dementias²⁶. The strongest risk factor for the development of dementia is aging²⁶. Today we live longer than ever, and the number of people above 65 years of age is expected to almost double by 2050^{26, 31}. Without an effective intervention the prevalence of AD will expand considerably.

As affected persons with AD inevitably worsen in their mental capacities, there is a parallel development of functional impairment, which subsequently renders difficulties in caring for themselves. Consequently, persons with AD grow dependent on others in the management of their everyday life³². Often, the task of caring falls heavily on family members or close friends. In addition to the suffering by patients and caregivers, AD further causes an immense burden on countries' social care systems with significant economic implications. In 2018 the total cost of dementia worldwide was estimated to be one trillion US\$. This figure is expected to rise to two trillion US\$ by 2030³³. Some countries have already reported higher health and social care costs for dementia than cancer and chronic heart disease combined³⁴. Altogether, AD has wide-ranging consequences for patients, families, care systems, and the general society.

Neuropathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease

From a neuropathological point of view, AD is associated with three cardinal hallmarks, including accumulation of insoluble extracellular beta-amyloid (A β) plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs), later accompanied by neuronal loss and structural brain atrophy (Figure 3)^{30, 35}.



Figure 3. Core Alzheimer's disease pathology and some related biomarkers. Created with BioRender.com

Amyloid plaques

The build-up of A β plaques are thought to arise from an imbalance in A β production or clearance. A β originates from the processing of the transmembrane amyloid precursor protein (APP), richly found in neuronal synapses. APP is proteolytically degraded by two main metabolic routes, the α -secretase pathway and the β -secretase pathway, where the latter is related to the build-up of subsequent A β fibrils^{26, 30}. In the β -secretase pathway, APP is initially proteolyzed by β -secretases (originating from the β -site APP-cleaving enzyme 1) into soluble β sAPP. This degradation is then followed by cleavage by γ -secretases. By these processes, the initial APP molecule is fractionated into free A β peptides that typically contain 37-43 amino acids. The most common isoform is A β 40, whereas the longer peptide A β 42 is more prone to aggregate into oligomers or insoluble fibrils, which cluster and finally form extracellular A β plaques (Figure 3)^{26, 30}. The link between A β and neuronal loss is still under debate, yet the A β oligomers are today thought to play a somewhat superior role compared to A β plaques in causing neurotoxicity³⁵.

Neurofibrillary tangles

NFTs are built up of hyperphosphorylated tau proteins (P-tau). The normal physiological function of tau is to assemble and stabilize the intracellular microtubules, important for the axonal architecture and intracellular transport³⁵⁻³⁷. Accordingly, tau is essential for axonal elongation, morphogenesis, and plasticity^{36, 38, 39}. Hyperphosphorylation results in detachment of tau from the microtubules and consequently creates an increase in the axonal cytoplasmatic unbound tau. These unbound compounds of P-tau then aggregate into different shapes and locations^{26, 40}. Aggregates of hyperphosphorylated tau are found inside the nerve cell soma as NFTs, within the neuronal dendrites as neuropils, and extracellularly together with aggregates of Aβ as neuritic plaques (Figure 3)⁴⁰.

Hierarchy and interplay between core Alzheimer's disease pathologies

The interplay between $A\beta$ and pathologic tau and how they might cause neurodegeneration is still a source of controversy. According to the widely supported amyloid cascade hypothesis, $A\beta$ is central in the etiology of AD as an upstream event driving the evolution of pathologic tau, which in turn mediates neurodegeneration, which finally renders clinical manifestations⁴¹⁻⁴⁴.

In support of a hierarchal role of A β , studies on rodents have demonstrated enrichment of tau when A β is injected in the brain tissue⁴⁵. It has also been shown that removal of pathologic tau processes, through genetic knock-out, protects against harmful effects of A $\beta^{46, 47}$. Yet, some animal studies suggest that tau stimulates A β production, and consequently forms pathological feedback loops with accelerated pathological progression⁴⁸.

Humans with hereditary AD, have early onset and rapid decline, and carry autosomal-dominant mutations in the genes encoding for the A β substrate protein APP or the proteolytic presenilin proteins (parts of the γ -secretase complex)⁴⁹. In line, individuals with trisomy 21 (Downs syndrome), which carries an additional copy of chromosome 21 where the APP gene is located, are known to early in life display cerebral A β plaques and clinical AD symptomatology⁵⁰. Biomarker studies have shown that A β accumulation starts ~20 years prior to the development of AD dementia^{51,52}. This advocates that A β is involved very early in the disease processes, yet with only subtle effects on clinical symptomatology, which subsequently infers a mediator variable between the pathological presence of A β and later neurodegeneration and subsequent clinical symptomatology.



Figure 4. The sequential development of typical Alzheimer disease pathologies and corresponding AD biomarker trajectories. Used and modified by courtesy of Oskar Hansson, Niklas Mattsson-Carlgren and Sebastian Palmqvist

More recent findings on clinical samples instead highlight the presence of pathologic tau to be more strongly associated with neurodegeneration, as well as clinical manifestations (cognitive impairment)⁵³⁻⁵⁷. Also, positron emission tomography (PET) studies have demonstrated that significant levels of pathologic tau are rarely encountered in A β naïve brains⁵⁸, and furthermore that A β is an independent predictor of future tau accumulation in CU subjects^{58, 59}. Nevertheless, the upstream molecular mechanisms behind the build-up up of P-tau and NFTs are still unclear and potentially multiplicative since tau pathology is found, not only in AD but also in several other ND³⁶. Interestingly, studies have demonstrated that soluble P-tau species in the presence of A β fibrils mediate the effect by A β on the aggregation of cortical NFTs^{44, 60-63}. Combined, these findings favor the sequential development of A β pathology to production, phosphorylation, and secretion of

soluble tau, followed by a sequential growth of NFTs, neurodegeneration, and clinical symptoms (Figure 4) $^{42, 58, 64}$.

In short, A β could perhaps be designated the "trigger," while tau could be labeled the "bullet" in the sequences leading up to neuronal dysfunction and clinical AD manifestations⁴⁸.

Spreading of Alzheimer's disease pathology

Another intriguing aspect of AD pathology is its propagation and spread in the brain. It is speculated that A β and pathologic tau can relocate as seeds from nerve cell to nerve cell by structural connections⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷. In support, *in vitro* studies have demonstrated the capacity of tau aggregates to travel along axons and dendrites as well as to be transferred between neurons through synapses. As such, these pathological compounds appear to progress predominately through highly interconnected brain areas^{37, 66}. Human studies were for a long time limited to *ex vivo* evidence⁶⁷, but already early neuropathological studies suggested that A β and especially tau, on a population level affects brain regions in a stereotypical spatial-temporal pattern³. More recently this evidence has been reinforced by *in vivo* PET studies^{57, 68-70}.

Archetypically, the earliest $A\beta$ deposits are found in the medial parietal and frontal cortices, including regions such as the precuneus, posterior cingulate cortex, medialand orbitofrontal cortex (Figure 5 - Panel A). Hereafter, $A\beta$ is localized in most parts of the human cortex, eventually appearing also in the sensory and motor cortex. Lastly, $A\beta$ can be demonstrated in the brainstem and cerebellum.

Neuropathological *ex vivo* data^{3, 71} (verified by more recent longitudinal *in vivo* imaging studies^{57, 70}) have revealed that tau on a group level accumulates in the cortex in a quite stereotypic manner according to what is called the "Braak staging scheme" (Figure 5 - panel B). In contrast to A β , tau fibrils in AD are first found in the trans-entorhinal cortex, then typically detected in the amygdala and hippocampus, followed by the presence in other parts of the temporal cortex. Then, tau pathology appears in the parietal and occipital cortex. Finally, tau aggregates in the brain's frontal areas and the motor and sensory cortex³⁵.

Intriguingly, $A\beta$ and tau pathology have distinct anatomical accumulation patterns. Neuroimaging studies point to an involvement of separate, but nevertheless partly overlapping, functional brain networks^{72, 73}. Initially, $A\beta$ predominately accumulate in areas involved in the functional default mode network, but also to some extent the frontoparietal network³⁵ - networks thought to play essential roles in cognitive task performance or goal-directed processes, respectively^{74, 75}. However, accumulation of tau seems to map on a wider range of functional networks like the visual, limbic, somatosensory, language, and the frontoparietal networks, as well as to some degree the default mode network^{72, 73}.

Α

Aβ pathology in Alzheimer's disease



В

Tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease



Figure 5. Illustrations of the spatio-temporal distribution of A β (panel A) and tau pathology (panel B) in Alzheimer's disease. Arrows and color indicate direction of sequential spread⁷⁶. Used with permission by Springer Nature.

It can be assumed that clinical symptomatology arises in a typical sequential order highly reminiscent of which regions or functional networks that are affected by pathology⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷. AD typically manifests with early impairment in episodic memory, followed by other cognitive deficits, which corroborates well with the spatio-temporal

development of tau pathology^{35, 56}. Yet, clinical observations also support the existence of more rare, atypical clinical presentations of AD, such as the logopenic variant primary progressive aphasia, posterior cortical atrophy, or bvAD^{11, 27, 77, 78}. This questions the consistency of these stereotypic spreading patterns. Also, recent neuroimaging findings have demonstrated a somewhat more heterogenic tau spread according to four different but distinct spatiotemporal patterns (including temporoparietal-, posterior- or medial temporal spreading patterns) with associated distinct cognitive profiles⁷⁹. How these different patterns of tau spread are related to non-cognitive manifestations, such as NPS, remains to be explored.

Biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease neuropathology

Several of the neuropathological changes in AD, including A β and tau pathology as well as neurodegeneration, can today be measured and quantified by biomarkers. Biomarkers are defined as objective indicators (such as physiological, biochemical, or anatomical parameters) of a normal or pathological process, or state, in living organisms⁸⁰. In AD research and clinical settings, biomarkers serve as important and objective ways of studying *in vivo* pathophysiological processes, provide aid in early detection, and predict or monitor disease progression⁸¹.

Biofluid based biomarkers

Molecular abnormalities in the brain can often be detected in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)⁸¹, that is a clear, colorless fluid continuously produced by the choroid plexus of the ventricles and the brain parenchyma. Anatomically, the CSF directly surrounds the brain and spinal cord⁸². Given their proximity, chemical compounds and nutrients of the brain are released into the CSF, which can be obtained by lumbar puncture^{81, 82}. Eventually, the CSF and its compounds are reabsorbed by arachnoid granulations into the venous blood system through a pressure-dependent gradient⁸². As a result, both CSF and blood can potentially provide valuable information regarding metabolic processes in the brain parenchyma⁸¹.

One of the more important CSF biomarkers for A β pathology is the A β 42 peptide. In AD, the concentration of A β 42 in CSF is reduced^{35, 81}, this since these peptides are prone to aggregate into A β plaques in the brain parenchyma (Figure 3), resulting in lower concentrations of soluble A β 42 left in the CSF. Low levels of CSF A β 42 are demonstrated to occur decades before the onset of clinical symptoms, as well as before detection using more recent neuroimaging techniques (Figure 4)³⁵. This biomarker is also widely accepted and incorporated in many modern AD diagnostic criteria^{83, 84}.

A β 40 is the predominant form of the A β peptide in the brain, but it does not appear as pathogenic as A β 42. The ratio of CSF A β 42 and A β 40, compared to CSF A β 42 alone, is demonstrated to have several advantages. The ratio results in an even higher concordance with A β pathology (measured by neuroimaging), improved discrimination of AD dementia vs. other dementias, and higher accuracy in predicting MCI to AD dementia conversion⁸⁵.

In AD, the extent of soluble tau species can be measured in CSF (Figure 3). Increasing levels of CSF P-tau have been shown to reflect both the quantity of AB plaques (in the early stages of disease), as well as NFTs (in the late stages of disease) on PET imaging or neuropathology⁶³. The levels of total tau (T-tau), on the other hand, are assumed to mirror the intensity of neuronal degeneration⁸¹. The use of CSF T-tau and P-tau phosphorylated at threonine181(P-tau181) has extensive literature⁸¹. Considered together with CSF A β 42 or the CSF A β 42/A β 40 ratio, these tau biomarkers are regarded as robust core biomarkers in support of an AD diagnosis and prediction of dementia^{35, 81}. CSF P-tau181 has been shown highly specific to AD and can thus, with high accuracy, discriminate AD from non-AD neurodegenerative disease³⁵. Additionally, levels of soluble P-tau are reported to increase already during the pre-symptomatic phase, when AB fibrils have emerged, but not yet NFTs detectable by PET imaging^{60, 61, 86-88}. Recently, CSF measures of another soluble P-tau species, like CSF P-tau217, has been demonstrated to have a somewhat stronger association with NFTs and outperform CSF P-tau181 in its AD dementia vs. non-AD dementia discriminatory accuracy⁸⁹.

Another important CSF biomarker is neurofilament light chain (NfL)^{35, 81}. Neurofilaments of various sizes are expressed in neurons, especially in their axons, where they play an important role in structural support, axonal growth, and axonal transmission⁹⁰. Increased levels of CSF NfL are found in a variety of neurological diseases such as, Parkinson's disease (PD), multiple sclerosis, vascular pathologies, among others, as well as to some extent in AD and reflect axonal damage (Figure 3)³⁵. Accordingly, the specificity of CSF NfL towards AD is low, yet it is meaningful as a proxy for the level of neurodegeneration and brain atrophy^{35, 81}.

The utility of blood-based AD biomarkers has gained increased attention in recent years. Although CSF AD biomarkers currently are essential in research and clinical management, the development of accurate blood-based biomarkers would have the advantage of being less invasive, requiring less educated personnel and specialized facilities, as well not being as costly. Overall, such a development in diagnostic techniques has the potential to facilitate AD research and intervention trials and enable early disease detection of AD in countries with less advanced health care systems⁹¹. Addressing these needs, P-tau217 has recently demonstrated its promise as such a blood-based biomarker. In one study, P-tau217 in plasma was shown to have a higher or an equally good diagnostic accuracy as established biomarkers⁹². Moreover, plasma P-tau217, in combination with some brief cognitive tests and blood-based genotyping, has further been reported to significantly improve the diagnostic prediction of AD⁹³. Additionally, the less AD-specific biomarker NfL, measured in blood, shows promise as a future tool to detect effects by disease-modifying treatments⁹¹.

Neuroimaging biomarkers

In advantage of fluid AD biomarkers, neuroimaging techniques can provide better spatio-temporal *in vivo* information about A β , tau or neurodegeneration.

PET is a minimally invasive imaging technique where an infusion of a radioisotope labeled ligand binds to a biological target of interest (e.g., cerebral A β deposition). When the radioligand decay, it emits a positron detected by the PET camera. Depending on location and the quantity of the biological target, positrons are sent out in various levels in different anatomical locations, which then can be localized and quantified⁹⁴.

Today there are three clinically approved PET ligands for A β fibrils ([¹⁸F] flutemetamol, [¹⁸F] florbetapir, and [¹⁸F] florbetaben). These have been demonstrated to detect cerebral fibrils with a high accuracy³⁵. In CU individuals, A β -PET has been shown to predict future cognitive decline, and among MCI patients, a positive A β -PET scan constitutes a risk marker for conversion to dementia^{17, 18}. Furthermore, a negative A β -PET in a patient with cognitive impairment essentially eliminates AD as a probable aetiology³⁵. Notably, even if A β -PET positivity on a group level increases the risk of future cognitive decline, many CU individuals with a positive A β -PET scan will not advance to cognitive impairment even after several years of follow-up⁸⁴.

Tau pathology can also be mapped and quantified by PET. Several ligands such as (¹⁸F) flortaucipir, (¹⁸F) MK6240, and (¹⁸F) RO948 have been developed with high affinity to the tau isoforms found in the NFTs in AD (Figure 3)^{35, 95}. Tau-PET has been demonstrated to outperform magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and CSF biomarkers in separating AD dementia from other ND^{96, 97}. In line with this data, (¹⁸F) flortaucipir has been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for clinical diagnostic use. Compared to both Aβ-PET and structural MRI, tau-PET has been reported to be more closely linked with early clinical manifestations such as change in cognitive function^{54, 56}.

Structural imaging

In short, MRI is a non-invasive and highly available imaging technique that produces three-dimensional detailed anatomical images by inducing a strong magnetic field together with the addition of radiofrequency pulses. By combining these energies, different "sequences" can be designed with different sensitivity to different tissue characteristics⁹⁸.

Hence, MRI may detect abnormalities in the anatomical structures of the brain. One main clinical advantage with structural imaging is that it can rule out non-AD-related brain disorders like brain tumors, hydrocephalus, or infarcts, which also can cause cognitive impairment. Another comorbidity of importance that can be quantified is the presence of white matter lesions (WML)⁹⁹.

As a proxy for AD-related neurodegeneration, structural MRI allows accurate detection of regional cortical or subcortical atrophy (measured as volume loss or reduced cortical thickness). A large body of evidence supports a stereotypical spreading also for neurodegeneration that maps well on to the Braak staging scheme for tau-pathology^{3, 99, 100}. One of the earliest structures to display atrophy in AD is the entorhinal cortex. Spatially, this is then closely followed by the presence of atrophy in hippocampus, amygdala, and other medial temporal regions, including the inferior temporal, middle temporal, and fusiform cortices (together with the entorhinal cortex by some referred to as the AD-signature cortex). Later the atrophy extends to all parts of the temporal lobe, as well as the parietal and frontal areas of the brain^{99, 100}. As a biomarker for AD neurodegeneration, hippocampal atrophy constitutes one of the most studied. Longitudinal data suggest that hippocampal atrophy precedes dementia with several years, is predictive of AD, and relates to the memory deficits^{99, 100}. However, as neurodegeneration in the medial temporal lobe or hippocampus is commonly encountered also in other ND, such as Dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) or frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD), the specificity for AD is regarded as low compared to other AD biomarkers¹⁰⁰.

Diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease and cognitive stages

The evolution of Alzheimer's disease criteria

The nosology and diagnostic criteria for AD and dementia have evolved as knowledge has grown regarding their clinical characteristics or pathophysiology, or as in vivo biomarker techniques have been advanced.

The word dementia originates from the Latin root *demens* with the meaning "without mind" from the composition de [without] and mens [mind]). Until Dr. Alzheimer described the case of Auguste Deter, dementia was a loosely defined syndromal concept that covered cognitive impairment as well as behavioral manifestations¹⁰¹. However, after Dr. Alzheimer's histological discovery of cerebral Aß plaques and NFTs, the AD construct slowly shifted from being strictly clinical to clinical-biological⁸³. Before the AD biomarker era, the presence of AD neuropathology could only be determined by histopathological examination ex vivo, wherefore the *in vivo* identification of the disease nonetheless was restricted to its symptomatology¹⁰². Subsequently, to differentiate the AD dementia syndrome from other conditions (including primary psychiatric disease) and further to increase the specificity of the clinical AD dementia criteria towards AD pathology, the probabilistic clinical criteria were steadily reformulated to center around the cognitive dysfunctions. The behavioral disorders became considered as less important epiphenomena^{101, 102}. With the last decades' remarkable development of in vivo AD, the diagnosis of AD has moved from the dementia stage towards the prodromal stages, and the clinical AD criteria have increasingly become biologically oriented with less focus on the clinical syndrome^{83, 103}.
Today, there are several diagnostic criteria for AD, as well as cognitive impairment, in use for both clinical practice and research purposes.

The Petersen criteria for Mild Cognitive Impairment

With growing attention to the early stages of the disease, and as cognitive decline in AD is continuous rather than dichotomous, the concept of MCI has evolved to describe a transitional stage of cognitive impairment that bridges normal aging and early dementia¹⁰⁴. In 1997 Petersen et al. published a set of now widely used criteria which define MCI by i) complaint of defective memory, ii) normal activities of daily living, iii) normal general cognitive function, iv) abnormal memory function for age, and v) absence of dementia¹⁰⁵. These criteria have later been extended by Petersen et al. to cover also mild impairment in other cognitive domains. Three subtypes of MCI are proposed, including *amnestic MCI*, *multiple-domain MCI*, and *single-domain non-memory MCI*¹⁰⁶.

The fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

In 2013, an updated set of criteria for AD and the different stages of cognitive dysfunction was published in the DSM-5 by the *American Psychiatric Association* (APA).

In the DSM-5, the term dementia (used in DSM-IV-TR) was changed into *major neurocognitive disorder (NCD)*, while the concept of MCI was represented by the term *mild* NCD^{13} .

The DSM-5 manual does not define AD by biology (except if there is genetic proof), and thus it solely rests upon clinical symptoms. The manual uses a two-step method. First, there is an evaluation of whether cognitive impairment is present or not. Second, it is decided whether the cognitive impairment is due to AD or some other disorder¹³.

In short, to fulfill the DSM-5 criteria for major NCD, there should be a significant decline from a previous level of performance in one or more cognitive domains (Figure 1) entailing an interference with independence in everyday activities¹³. The cognitive deficits should neither occur exclusively in the context of a delirium nor be better explained by another mental disorder.

The concept of mild NCD is closely aligned with the MCI construct⁸³. In brief, the DSM-5 criteria include a measurable deficit in at least one cognitive domain, but importantly with relative preservation of functioning¹³.

Hereafter, an AD diagnosis can be established if there is 1) an insidious onset with a gradual clinical decline in one or more cognitive domains (at least two impaired domains if the criteria for major NCD is to be met), and 2) a confirmed causative AD genetic mutation or clear evidence of a decline in memory or learning, and 3) no presence of any other cerebral disease or condition that explains or significantly contributes to the cognitive decline¹³.

DSM-5 was preceded by DSM-IV-TR¹⁰⁷. However, in this earlier edition a presence of memory impairment in addition to deficits in another cognitive domain was required for the diagnosis of AD dementia. Moreover, the concept of MCI or mild NCD was not included in the DSM-IV-TR.

The National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association Research Framework

In 2018, *the National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA)* published a framework that proposes a strict neuropathological definition of AD. Notably, these criteria are intended for research and not general medical practice⁸³.

The framework centers around fluid or imaging biomarkers *in vivo* or histopathological examination *ex vivo*⁸³. The presence of AD pathology is grouped into those of A β , tau, and neurodegeneration in a corresponding [AT(N)] classification system.

The NIA-AA criteria acknowledge that biomarkers (and the clinical manifestations) develop on a continuum. Accordingly, an individual with the presence of $A\beta$ deposition alone would be assigned the term *Alzheimer's pathological change*, whereas an individual with both $A\beta$ and tau deposition would be regarded to have AD. The disease is further staged according to the level of clinical symptoms. Two types of categorical clinical staging schemes are outlined - one "cognitive-syndromal" categorical scheme and one "clinical" numerical scheme.

The syndromal categorical staging scheme divides the cognitive continuum into three stages: cognitively unimpaired (CU), MCI and dementia. CU is defined as a cognitive test performance or clinical presentation within the expected normal cognitive range based on all available information. MCI is defined as a cognitive performance below the expected range, but with the addition that activities of daily living still can be carried out independently. Dementia is described as a considerable progressive cognitive impairment that affects several cognitive domains or neurobehavioral symptoms with evident functional impact on daily living and abates independence.

The clinical numeric staging scheme is only applicable to individuals on the Alzheimer's continuum (positive biomarker designation of either AD or Alzheimer's pathologic change) and reflects the sequential development of AD from established A β positivity in CU subjects to individuals with demonstrated additional tau pathology, neurodegeneration, and dementia.

The International Working Group Criteria

As a response to the biologically oriented NIA-AA criteria, the *International Working Group* (IWG) in June 2021 published an article where they commented on the current limitations of *in vivo* biomarkers in the clinical AD diagnostic criteria and instead recommended continued use of a clinical-biological definition (based on both clinical symptoms and biomarkers) in clinical rutine⁸⁴.

The authors argue that a strict biological definition using *in vivo* biomarkers is limited by the too low accuracy of AD biomarkers to predict future cognitive decline in CU individuals, as well as the presence of other brain disorders that can share clinical phenotypes and certain underlying pathologies (e.g., DLB or FTLD).

The recent IWG report instead proposes that the AD diagnosis should be limited to individuals with positive AD biomarkers (amyloid or tau) together with clinical specific Alzheimer phenotypes⁸⁴. The criteria then list a set of common AD phenotypes that include the *amnestic syndrome of the hippocampal type* (argued to be typical), the *posterior cortical atrophy variant*, and the *logopenic variant primary progressive aphasia*. Some more rare AD phenotypes are also mentioned. However, individuals with these should not be a priori classified as having AD, even if the evidence in terms of a positive AD biomarker status is at hand. Instead, AD biomarker-positive asymptomatic individuals are recommended to be classified as being "at-risk for progression"⁸⁴.

The role of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease criteria

Non-cognitive symptoms, such as NPS, have been given modest consideration in modern AD criteria, yet they are not entirely omitted.

In the DSM-5, behavioral and psychological manifestations are acknowledged in the manual as "associated features supporting the diagnoses." They further state that these are common and distressing. A diagnosis of NCD can also be extended with a specifier of the presence or no presence of a clinically significant behavioral disturbance. Unfortunately, there is no explicit instruction on how these associated features or their specifier are to be operationalized¹³.

The NIA-AA criteria recognize that even if cognitive impairment constitutes core clinical AD criteria, neurobehavioral disturbances, such as changes in mood, anxiety, or motivation, might be prominent features of the clinical presentation. They further recognize the appearance of neurobehavioral symptoms as the first clinical presentation of AD in some individuals. This also justifies their use of the term "clinical staging" rather than "cognitive staging" in their numeric staging scheme. Though, to be classified with high figures in the numeric scheme (corresponding to MCI or dementia in the syndromal staging scheme), individuals must also present with cognitive dysfunction⁸³.

The IWG recommendations do not discuss NPS; instead, they list bvAD as one of the less common AD phenotypes that should not be *a priori* classified as an established AD even if AD biomarker positivity is at hand⁸⁴. Moreover, as the first provisional diagnostic criteria for bvAD were just recently published¹¹, this construct requires further exploration.

Treatment of Alzheimer's disease

At present, AD cannot be cured. All currently approved treatments of AD are drugs that temporarily relieve cognitive symptoms¹⁰⁸. Notably, these symptomatic treatments do not effectively alter the underlying AD disease processes^{108, 109}.

The first group of drugs to be shown efficient as symptomatic treatments of cognitive deficits was the acetylcholine-esterase inhibitors. Today the approved compounds include rivastigmine, donepezil, and galantamine. These drugs operate by strengthening the cholinergic neurotransmission in postsynaptic cortical neurons by inhibiting enzymatic cholinergic breakdown with an ultimately higher amount of acetylcholine in the synapses of the remaining cortical neurons¹¹⁰. The development was based on the cholinergic hypothesis, which suggests that the progressive loss of presynaptic cholinergic cells in the nucleus of basalis Meynert in AD is critical for the development of memory loss and other cognitive dysfunctions¹¹⁰. These treatments are approved to be initiated in mild to moderate dementia^{108, 109}.

The second alternative of symptomatic treatment is an NMDA-receptor antagonist named memantine which protects from the glutamate-mediated neurotoxicity in AD by inhibiting calcium ion-influx^{108, 109}. This drug is indicated for moderate to severe dementia¹¹¹.

For almost one and a half-decade, the research community has energetically searched for effective disease-modifying treatments that can delay or cure the clinical progression of AD. Attempts have been made to interfere with the underlying pathogenic processes. At the moment, there are more than a hundred ongoing trials with the intent of such disease modification¹¹².

Controversially, the FDA in June 2021 approved an A β -antibody (Aducanumab) under their Accelerated Approval pathway, despite the lack of firm evidence of a haltered clinical progression. FDA acknowledges that the clinical drug effect is not proven, yet only expected given the demonstrated reduction of A β -plaques¹¹³. In opposite to the decision by FDA, the European Medicines Agency has decided not to approve Aducanumab in clinical practice while awaiting more firm evidence¹¹⁴.

Other degenerative brain disorders

Additional to AD, there are a variety of diseases and conditions that primarily or secondarily affect the brain and result in dementia. In the aging brain, a co-existence of neuropathology is rather the norm than the exception. Hence comorbidity in AD poses a diagnostic challenge and forms a critical confounding factor.

Cerebrovascular diseases

There are multiple cerebrovascular disease states that may underlie vascular cognitive impairment, encompassing major NCD vascular type and vascular dementia (VaD)^{115, 116}. Cortical VaD is predominately caused by large-vessel disease, whereas subcortical VaD predominately is caused by small-vessel disease¹¹⁷. The latter is frequently encountered in middle-aged and older people and associated with demyelination of the neuronal fibres¹¹⁸⁻¹²⁰. Demyelination due to vascular pathology can be visualized on T2 weighted and fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) sequences on MRI as white matter hyperintensities (referred to as WML)^{116, 121}.

The presence of WML increases with age and the number of cardiovascular risk factors such as untreated blood pressure, dyslipidemia and diabetes^{120, 122}. Yet, WML also has non-vascular underlying causes such as inflammation, genetic causes, toxic agents, and some metabolic deficiencies^{116, 121, 123}.

The precise cognitive impairments associated with WML differ according to the extent and location, but commonly share a profile with slowing of mental and motor processes and executive dysfunction^{115, 117}.

Parkinsonian disorders

PD is the second most prevalent ND^{124} . PD is a movement disorder with bradykinesia, resting tremor, rigidity, and postural and gait instability as cardinal manifestations. However, there are also a wide array of non-motor symptoms, including cognitive impairment and neuropsychiatric manifestations^{125, 126}. More than 75% of the affected individuals will develop dementia after ten years of disease duration¹²⁷.

A key pathological hallmark is the presence of α -synuclein aggregates as intraneuronal Lewy bodies or neurites that are thought to first appear in the dorsal motor nuclei of the vagus nerve or the olfactory bulb and then spread to the brainstem, basal ganglia, and the neocortex¹²⁸. The characteristic motor symptoms (and some of the non-motor symptoms) are thought to arise due to the pathological loss of dopamine-producing neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta¹²⁵.

Another α -synuclein-related disease is DLB. However, in comparison to PD, DLB displays more cortical engagement, and another important distinguishing feature is the timing of the cognitive deficits. In DLB, the cognitive impairment typically

precedes the parkinsonian motor symptoms¹²⁹. In contrast to AD, PD and DLB display more cognitive fluctuations, executive dysfunction, more prominent visuospatial difficulties, as well as worse attention deficits^{129, 130}.

There are also other rarer ND with parkinsonian symptomatology, such as Corticobasal degeneration (CBD), Progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP), and Multiple system atrophy. While Multiple system atrophy also is another α -synucleinopathy, CBD and PSP are primarily regarded as *tauopathies* with other tau isoforms than encountered in AD¹³¹.

Frontotemporal lobe degeneration

FTLD is a leading cause of dementia before 65 years of age¹³². FTLD is classified into three clinical variants: bvFTD, *the non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia*, and the *semantic-variant primary progressive aphasia*. bvFTD accounts for approximately 60% of the FTLD cases, and its most pronounced early symptoms include personality changes, disinhibition, and apathy^{132, 133}. However, also psychotic symptoms and personality change may occur¹³⁴. Hence, these behavioral disturbances can easily be mistaken for primary psychiatric disorders, such as depression, personality disorders, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or vice versa¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶.

The FTLD neuropathology grossly encompasses neuronal loss and gliosis in the frontal and temporal lobes. However, the more detailed underlying pathological changes are complex and include, e.g., various forms of tau pathology, TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) inclusions and fused in sarcoma protein pathology. Some of these pathologies are thought to arise due to genetic mutations¹³⁷. A common mutation in FTLD is the expansion of the C9orf72 gene^{135, 137}.

Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy

Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (LATE) is a disorder in older adults that has recently been recognized as a unique clinical entity¹³⁸. The prevalence of LATE has been reported to be more than 20% in individuals above 80 years of age¹³⁸. Clinically LATE mimics the amnestic difficulties seen in Alzheimer's disease, although it shares the presence of TDP-43 pathology with FTLD^{138, 139}. Hippocampal sclerosis is often present in those displaying the disorder^{138, 139}.

LATE is distinguished from FTLD by its late onset as well as the anatomically restricted pathology. Yet, at present, LATE pathology can only be confirmed at autopsy, hampering the clinical utility¹³⁸. The proteinopathy is staged according to its anatomical distribution, and the pathology is believed to start in amygdala and then progress to hippocampus, followed by other temporal structures¹³⁸.

From a NPS point of view, the initial build-up of pathology in amygdala is interesting as this limbic structure is thought to play an essential role in emotions

and motivation¹⁴⁰. However, even if there is some evidence of a link between LATE and NPS¹⁴¹, others have displayed a lack of such an association¹⁴².

Primary Age-Related Tauopathy

For almost two decades, it has been known from autopsy studies that accumulation of P-tau can be detected in the brains of cognitively healthy young adults without the presence of A β pathology. This accumulation, of disputed significance¹⁴³, predominately develop in the noradrenergic brain stem nucleus locus coeruleus, and this is well before NFTs appear in the transentorhinal cortex and other temporal structures¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁶. Additionally, other post-mortem studies have reported individuals with a typical clinical AD profile to have only minimal or null cerebral A β plaques yet abundant NFTs¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁴⁹.

To put light on this controversy with the classical literature on AD pathology, the concept of Primary Age-Related Tauopathy (PART) was formulated. Correspondingly, the concept of PART reflects upon this presence of cerebral AD-like NFTs, but with only a little or no A β deposition^{149, 150}.

The impact on cognition is discussed, yet most studies indicate that the cognitive decline in PART is mild and rarely progresses to dementia¹⁵⁰.

Neuropsychiatric symptoms

Prevalence and recognition of neuropsychiatric symptoms

Individuals that eventually develop AD dementia almost inevitably develop one or more NPS at some point during their disease course^{4, 5, 151, 152}.

In the population-based longitudinal Cardiovascular Health Study, the prevalence of any NPS among demented individuals was 75%. The most common NPS was apathy (registered in 36%), closely followed by depression (registered in 32%).

However, NPS was also frequently encountered in the predementia stages. In the same population-based study, 43% of the individuals with MCI and 16% of the CU older adults reported NPS⁵. Apathy or depression was also in these earlier stages the most prevalent conditions among the various NPS¹⁵³. Anxiety symptoms were present in 10% of those with MCI and 6% among CU⁵. Similar prevalence rates in non-demented stages have been described in the population-based Mayo Clinic Study of Aging⁴. Moreover, most cognitively impaired individuals display several NPS at once, with cumulative functional impact¹⁵⁴.

Besides addressing NPS as early findings, these prevalence studies highlight that the frequency of NPS rise with worsening cognition. As such, NPS and cognitive impairment in AD could be assumed to develop in parallel. Yet, the time of the first onset of NPS, and the onset in relation to cognitive impairment, during the very earliest stages have rarely been investigated¹⁵⁵.

Clinically, NPS have been depicted as underrecognized or overlooked during the diagnostic phases in memory clinics^{8, 156-158}. It is also reported that approximately almost every fourth AD patient has received a prior psychiatric diagnosis before their ultimate clinical diagnosis of AD¹⁵⁹. This suggests a risk of misclassification and subsequent delayed management, underpinning the importance of acknowledging the link between NPS and AD.

Adverse outcomes of neuropsychiatric symptoms

NPS serves as an important factor in the development of difficulty or distress among patients and their caregivers.

As the inability to uphold one's independence in living is key in establishing a dementia diagnosis, appraisal of functional deficits is essential. Loss of function is often presumed to be predominantly driven by cognitive impairment in AD. However, also certain NPS, such as apathy or anxiety, have been demonstrated to be significantly associated with functional deficits^{151, 160-163}. Notably, this association has further been shown independent of cognitive impairment^{161, 164}.

As individuals affected by AD grow increasingly dependent, help is often provided by family members or friends, and eventually, many require institutionalization. However, caring is usually a demanding and stressful undertaking. A high caregiver burden has been shown present already during the early stages of disease¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁷, and associated with an elevated risk of psychiatric morbidity¹⁶⁸. Consistently, NPS, rather than the cognitive deficits, has been shown to be a major contributor of not only an increased caregiver burden^{32, 169, 170}, but also an earlier institutionalization^{154, 171-173}.

Further strengthening the importance of NPS, reduced quality of life in mild to moderate AD dementia has consistently been shown associated with increased levels of affective disturbances, but not cognitive test performance¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁷. Similar findings have been reported in the non-demented stages of AD¹⁷⁸. Finally, NPS have been found noteworthy drivers of health care costs^{179, 180}.

Definitions of apathy, depression, anxiety, and mild behavioral impairment

Definitions and criteria for apathy

The term *apathy* has its origin in the Greek word *apatheia*, derived from the adjective *apathēs*, meaning "without feeling" or "without passion"¹⁸¹. In ancient Greek society, the Stoic philosophers considered apathy to be a virtue necessary to achieve a righteous and happy life. In their opinion, emotions undesirably interfered

with rationality and other reasoning cognitive abilities, and hence emotions ought to be dismissed. Over time the concept of apathy has shifted from a desirable state of mind to its modern medical concept, where apathy is viewed as a behavioral impairment¹⁸².

In the early 1990s, a medical definition of apathy was introduced by Dr. Robert Marin^{183, 184}. The definition has become widely recognized and depicts apathy as a psychiatric syndrome with a diminished motivation not attributable to a reduced level of consciousness, cognitive impairment, or emotional distress. Dr. Marin further proposed diagnostic criteria, which in short encapsulate 1) lack of goal-directed behavior, 2) reduction in goal-directed cognition, and 3) lack of emotional responsiveness¹⁸⁴. Dr. Marin operationalized diminished goal-directed behavior as an absence of effort, initiative, or productivity, whereas lowered goal-directed cognition was anchored in a reduced interest, lack of plans or goals, or lack of concern about one's wellbeing. Reduced emotional concomitants of goal-directed behaviors were operationalized as blunted affects, emotional indifference, and limited responses to significant life events^{182, 183}. These criteria have since, by others, been revised in 2009 and 2018^{185, 186}.

According to the most contemporary definition, apathy is characterized by a set of criteria (A to D) proposed by an international working group 2018¹⁸⁶. Criterion A states that there must be a quantitative reduction of goal-directed activities compared to the affected individual's previous functioning. Criterion B states that the manifestations must exist for at least four weeks and further affect at least two out of the three apathy dimensions covering diminished goal-directed behavior or activities (including loss of interest), diminished emotions, or diminished engagement in social interaction. Support of an "affected" dimension rests upon several provided examples or situations for each domain. The symptoms should further trigger clinically significant impairment in personal, social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning to meet criterion C. Criterion D stresses that the apathy symptoms should not exclusively be explained by physical disabilities, motor incapacities, altered consciousness or substance use, or a major change in the environment of the patient¹⁸⁶.

Apathy is not considered a separate psychiatric entity or defined by the DSM-5. Instead, apathy is only mentioned as a "behavioral disorder" in mild or major NCD, as a "symptom" of FTLD, and further as a "personality change" due to "another medical condition"¹³.

Definitions and criteria for depression

In the general public, the essence of the term *depression* is described as a *state of feeling sad* or as *a medical condition in which a person feels sad, hopeless, and unimportant, and often is unable to live in a normal way*¹⁸⁷. The leading medical definition of depression is provided by the DSM-5¹³.

The criteria in DSM-5 for major depression outlines that the individual must present with either 1) depressed mood or 2) loss of interest or pleasure (anhedonia), and in addition fulfill three or four associated criteria such as a significant unintentional weight loss or gain, insomnia or hypersomnia, psychomotor agitation or retardation, fatigue or loss of energy, feelings of worthlessness or excessive guilt, diminished ability to think or concentrate, or recurrent thoughts of death. The symptoms must be present (most of the day, nearly every day) during the same two-week period, represent a change from previous functioning, and cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. The symptoms should also not clearly be attributable to another medical condition or physiological effects of substance¹³.

Another widely used set of criteria for depression is provided by the World Health Organization in the *tenth revision of the International Classification of Diseases* (ICD-10)¹⁸⁸. The DSM-5 and ICD-10 criteria share several features. However, the main difference between them is that ICD-10 uses three cardinal criteria (including depressed mood, loss of interest or pleasure, or reduced energy) instead of only the two used in DSM-5. In ICD-10, two out of these three typical symptoms ought to be present to determine the diagnosis¹⁸⁸.

These modern concepts of depression have evolved from early diagnostic theories of melancholia in a complex process spanning decades of scholarly work¹⁸⁹⁻¹⁹². In the 1970s, when the *Research Diagnostic Criteria* for major depression were outlined, the distinction between depression and melancholia was eliminated. Hence, the major depression criteria "loss of interest or pleasure" (anhedonia), which is considered essential for the construct of melancholia, was upgraded to constitute not only an associated criterion but also to become one of the current core criteria for major depression. These Research Diagnostic Criteria were later used as the foundation when developing the succeeding DSM-III diagnostic criteria during the 1980s, criteria that have remained essentially unchanged ever since^{191, 193}.

The clinical utility of the concept "depression" is indisputably supported by its historical staying¹⁹⁰. Nevertheless, the concept has been criticized for its polythetic syndromic definition resulting in a high diagnostic heterogeneity. For instance, it has been calculated that there are 227 possible theoretical ways to meet the criteria for major depression¹⁹⁴. Adding to the diagnostic uncertainty, there are also several other overlapping mood disorders according to the DSM-5 framework, e.g., persistent depressive disorder (dysthymia), bipolar disorder, and cyclothymic disorder¹³. Furthermore, there are also some proposed less established constructs of depression among older adults or in the context of neurodegenerative disease. Latelife depression (LLD) or geriatric depression refers to depressive syndromes as they are defined in DSM-5 or ICD-10; however, they arise in adults older than age 65 years¹⁹⁵. Other proposed constructs are minor depression and subsyndromal depression, which refer to the concept of major depression, yet only two (but fewer than five) diagnostic symptoms are required^{195, 196}.

Attempts have also been made by the *National Institute of Mental Health* to establish criteria for depression in AD^{197, 198}. These were based on the DSM-IV criteria for major depression and AD¹⁰⁷. The main distinctions from the original major depression criteria are that the numbers of criteria that need to be fulfilled were changed from five to three and that these symptoms need to be present together within the same two-week period. Additionally, the "diminished ability to think or concentrate" was removed due to its expected low specificity in this often cognitively impaired sample. Also, the criteria encompassing anhedonia (loss of interest or pleasure) were altered to "decreased positive affect or pleasure in response to social contacts and usual activities." Two additional criteria were further added, including "social isolation or withdrawal" and "irritability." The utility of these criteria has hardly been investigated, but some reports indicate that these criteria designate a greater proportion of AD patients as depressed^{199, 200}.

Definition of anxiety

The word *anxiety* is etymologically linked to the Latin *ango* (to constrict) and *angustus* (narrow) and primarily denotes a distressing emotional state of the mind²⁰¹. The modern, straightforward definition of the word is a *fear or nervousness about* what might happen²⁰². The DSM-5 framework nuances this by defining anxiety as an expectation of a future threat, while the term *fear* is defined as an emotional response to a real or perceived imminent threat. Moreover, DSM-5 describes the term "worry" as the cognitive aspects of anxious anticipation²⁰¹.

Medical practice mainly confines work to abnormal or pathological phenomena. However, defining boundaries between a normal psychological reaction of a stressor and pathological anxiousness is difficult. Nonetheless, besides the anxiousness being excessive or severe, the main divider between a "normal" anxious reaction and an anxiety disorder is that the latter usually causes clinically significant distress or impairment in several parts of life. Also, the reoccurrence is more frequent, and the duration is longer for anxiety disorders than what is considered normal¹³.

DSM-5 lists several types of anxiety disorders, including generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, specific phobias, agoraphobia, social anxiety disorder, and separation anxiety disorder¹³. However, most AD studies do not address the link to these separate constructs, but have instead investigated the impact by anxiety severity, regardless of type²⁰³. In science, anxiety is commonly also separated into *state anxiety* and *trait anxiety*. The former is activated in response to a certain stressful setting, while trait anxiety refers to an overtime relatively stable personality that increases the likelihood of entering an anxious state. The personality trait *neuroticism* is closely aligned with the concept of state anxiety. The role of state anxiety or neuroticism in AD has been explored in some studies^{204, 205}.

Definition and criteria for Mild Behavioral Impairment

Behavioral symptoms have for long been acknowledged as important early manifestations of bvFTD, and hence the concept of MBI was first introduced in such a scientific setting²⁰⁶. However, behavioral or psychiatric symptomatology has been reported to constitute early manifestations prior to cognitive complaints also in other ND such as AD^{159, 206, 207}. Therefore, it was articulated a need to expand the initial MBI concept to encompass all ND. Accordingly, a working group, originating from the NPS *Professional Interest Area* of the *International Society to Advance Alzheimer's Research and Treatment* (ISTAART), was founded in 2012 to develop new MBI criteria, published in 2016¹⁰.

The new MBI criteria were founded on the already described assumption that personality change, behavioral, or psychiatric symptoms are early manifestations of various ND, and further that these can appear in advance of cognitive impairment. Moreover, the criteria emphasize that the type of the initial manifestation depends on the pathology's sort or location.

The concept is restricted to late-life (>50) onset of psychiatric symptomatology, which should persist intermittently for at least six months and represent an evident change from the individual's normal behavior or personality. The manifestations should further not be attributable to another current primary psychiatric disorder. Importantly, the MBI criteria allow, but do not require, coexistent MCI. However, NPS emerging after dementia onset are not regarded as MBI. The concept includes five domains of various MBI types, including disturbances in motivation, affective regulation, impulse control, social cognition, and perception/thought content¹⁰.

The overlap between apathy, depression, and cognitive impairment

The concept of apathy indisputably overlaps with the concept of depression (Figure 6)^{208, 209}. The conditions also frequently co-occur⁵. Cognitive deficits in AD can further be misinterpreted as apathetic or depressive symptoms or vice versa²⁰⁷. Altogether, this poses a significant diagnostic challenge that corroborates well with the report that many patients have received a primary psychiatric diagnosis before the final diagnosis of AD¹⁵⁹.

Nevertheless, apathy is in general acknowledged as a distinct psychiatric entity, independent from depression^{184,208,210}. Phenomenologically, apathy is more strongly related to blunted emotions and motivational loss¹⁷⁶, whereas depression encompasses a distressful emotional state. However, as "loss of interest or pleasure" has attained an up-lifted position as main criteria for major depression¹³, it inevitably becomes a challenge to separate apathy from depression.

Also, attention deficits and other cognitive impairments frequently encountered in AD have proximity to the depression criteria "diminished ability to think or concentrate." The low persistence in performing tasks for apathetic individuals can be mistaken for depressive or cognitive difficulties to concentrate. AD patients also

often exhibit difficulties in cooking and forget to eat, which subsequently lead to "loss of weight," which is another associated criterion for major depression. Somewhat similar, AD patients frequently complain about fatigue, which can be explained by their efforts to deal with their cognitive difficulties, and corresponds to the depression criteria "insomnia or hypersomnia." Usually individuals with AD are regarded as having a behavior reflecting a lack of interest, without fulfilling the full criteria for apathy. Perhaps this can be explained by abstaining from struggling with tasks they know they cannot accomplish.





The relationship between neuropsychiatric symptoms, cognitive impairment, and Alzheimer's disease neuropathology

The interplay between NPS, cognitive impairment, and AD-related pathologies is complex, and up to this time, their exact casual and temporal relationships remain unclear, especially during the early stages of disease²¹¹. The following sections aim at outlining the main findings in the current literature. However, the heterogeneity between findings is great, probably reflecting diverse definitions, as well as other methodological challenges.

Modeling the relationships

There are several hypothetical models to explain the links between NPS, cognition, and AD-related pathology²¹².

First, an association between NPS and cognitive impairment could be explained by NPS giving rise to the cognitive deficits (Figure 7, arrow a). For instance, anxiety

or other strong emotional experiences could occupy prefrontal and temporal functions such as attention and episodic memory^{213, 214}.

Second, cognitive deficits might induce NPS (Figure 7, arrow b). For example, a psychological worry or anxiety could develop because of cognitive symptoms inferring the presence of a potentially serious neurological disease.

Third, both cognitive impairment and NPS could arise from underlying AD pathology (Figure 7, arrow c), if for instance, brain structures related to memory (e.g., hippocampus) or emotions (e.g., amygdala), respectively, are damaged (Figure 7, arrow d & e).

Fourth, the relationship between NPS and AD pathology could also be bidirectional, with NPS exerting a causal effect on AD pathology or resilience factors against cognitive decline (Figure 7 – arrow b & f). Recurrent depression early in life has been demonstrated related to longstanding hypercortisolism, suggested to cause neurotoxicity with subsequent hippocampal atrophy, increasing the risk of clinically significant memory impairment if AD pathology also develops²¹⁵.

These models are not mutually exclusive, on the contrary, likely all these models are in play. However, the degree of their contribution to the clinical presentation possibly varies over the disease course.



Figure 7. A hypothetical model on the relationship between AD-related pathologies, cognitive impairment, and neuropsychiatric symptoms. Arrows indicate a hypothetical causal effect. a) NPS causes CI, b) CI causes NPS, c) AD-related pathologies cause neuronal dysfunction, which depending on location, gives rise to CI (d) or NPS (e). f) Early-onset long-term NPS cause effects on the development of AD-related pathologies or neuronal dysfunction. Abbreviations: AD = Alzheimer's disease related pathology, CI = Cognitive impairment, ND = neuronal dysfunction, NPS = Neuropsychiatric symptoms.

Neuropsychiatric symptoms as risk markers for cognitive impairment

There is mounting evidence that NPS already in CU older adults or patients with MCI constitute harbingers for subsequent cognitive impairment or dementia.

Several large-scaled studies have consistently demonstrated that the overall burden of NPS, as well as some specific NPS, increase the risk of conversion from CU to MCI or from MCI to dementia²¹⁶⁻²²⁰. In one of them, agitation, apathy, and anxiety were found to be risk markers of incident MCI at a similar or greater magnitude as neurodegenerative findings on structural MRI²¹⁷. In line, the construct of MBI has been reported to be at least as strong risk marker for progression to MCI or dementia as subjective cognitive decline²²¹. However, the impact by NPS on more continuous measures of cognition is less studied. Nonetheless, two recent population-based studies on non-demented subjects reported NPS to affect the longitudinal cognitive trajectories with accelerated decline^{222, 223}.

Intriguingly, a recent longitudinal study on >1 500 A β -positive subjects on various stages of AD found neither evidence for a cross-sectional association between NPS and cognitive functioning in the early stages of the disease nor demonstrated NPS as a significant driver of cognitive decline⁶. These results contrast much of the previous literature and might be due to their sample selection. Previous studies have rarely used biomarker evidence of AD and have instead mainly based their recruitment on cognitive staging. In such samples, focusing on early stages of disease (CU or MCI), the presence of NPS might be indicative of an underlying AD pathology. As the authors themselves suggest, in this particular study, they had already increased the probability of future cognitive decline by restricting the inclusion to A β -positive cases. NPS may therefore have had a relatively low added predictive utility for future cognitive deterioration⁶.

Apathy as a risk marker for cognitive impairment

Apathy has consistently been linked to cognitive deficits and a higher risk of conversion to MCI or dementia in non-demented older adults²²³⁻²²⁵. A meta-analysis study comprising 7 365 participants from 16 studies report apathy in MCI to be associated with an approximately 2-fold risk of dementia²²⁴. In one of the included studies, a criteria-based diagnosis of apathy in MCI increased the risk of AD dementia almost sevenfold. In opposite, a diagnosis of major depression did not²²⁰. Apathy has further been linked to lower test performance in several specific cognitive domains²²³. Yet, its strongest association is probably with executive dysfunction²²⁶⁻²²⁸. Maybe this is explained by an overlap in the theoretical frameworks of these constructs, as both apathy and executive dysfunction encompasses the inability to stay on and complete tasks or take initiative^{186, 229, 230}.

Anxiety as a risk marker for cognitive impairment

Altogether, the literature seems to support the role of anxiety as a risk marker for cognitive impairment. First, a personality trait of neuroticism early in life has been demonstrated to constitute a risk marker for AD dementia^{204, 231, 232}. Second, anxiety also in older adults (with or without MCI) is reported as a risk marker for both cognitive decline and AD dementia^{216, 217, 233-237}. In a large longitudinal study comprising over 12 000 CU older adults, anxiety has been found to predict AD dementia with a hazard ratio >3²³⁶. In another study, >80% of the MCI participants with co-morbid anxiety developed a clinical AD diagnosis within three years. The corresponding figure for those with solely MCI was 40%²³⁷. Third, anxiety has also been found to interact with A β in non-demented individuals, resulting in a accelerated cognitive decline²³⁸. Combined, these findings align with previous cross-sectional studies demonstrating an association between anxiety and impairment in specific cognitive domains such as memory performance and complex attention.^{239, 240}.

Depression as a risk marker for cognitive impairment

The role of depression as a risk marker has been debated for decades²⁴¹. A large meta-analysis has reported participants with depression to have 1.3 times higher risk of conversion from MCI to dementia²⁴¹. Also, increased depressive symptoms among CU older adults have been reported to negatively impact the longitudinal trajectories of cognitive test performance^{223, 242}. Another study has demonstrated a graded relationship between depression severity and the future risk of dementia, where a higher level is associated with higher risk²⁴³. However, many studies have also failed to display associations between depressive symptoms and forthcoming cognitive deterioration^{220, 222, 244, 245}. The divergent findings can probably be accounted for by heterogeneous methods and definitions, some of which indeed also apply to other types of NPS studies.

Cognitive impairment as a risk marker for neuropsychiatric symptoms

Only a few studies have addressed the impact of cognition on longitudinal NPS in ND²⁴⁶⁻²⁴⁸. In a follow-up study on CU older adults, neither cognitive test performance nor retrospective informant ratings of cognitive change exerted effects over time on apathy²⁴⁶. In contrast, it has been reported from a more recent longitudinal study on CU older adults that attention deficits were related to chronic elevated subsyndromal depressive symptoms, whereas executive dysfunction was linked to moderately elevated trajectories of long-lasting anxiety²⁴⁸. Interestingly, the global cognitive function has been demonstrated to mediate the association between core AD pathologies and anxiety or apathy²⁴⁷. Of note, these latter findings rest upon cross-sectional data, making it difficult to draw firm conclusions on the direction of these findings.

The relationship between Alzheimer's disease pathology and neuropsychiatric symptoms

Efforts have also been made to unravel the link between AD-related pathologies and NPS. During the last decade, the field has shifted focus from late clinical (dementia) to preclinical (CU) or prodromal stages (MCI) of AD²¹¹. Overall, there are trends supporting associations between neuropathology and certain NPS already during these non-demented stages²¹¹. However, given inconsistencies between reports, a definite neurobiological signature has yet to be established²¹¹. The width of the methodological approaches is also here considerable and can potentially account for some of the conflicting reports.

Addressing the overall burden of NPS, the global level of cerebral A β deposition has been cross-sectionally linked to increased MBI levels among CU older adults²⁴⁹. In line, a recent longitudinal study, also addressing CU individuals, demonstrated biomarkers for both A β and tau pathology to predict longitudinal increases in the overall change in mood (including depression)²⁵⁰. However, the follow-up was restricted to only one year.

The relationship between Alzheimer's disease pathology and apathy

Several PET and CSF studies support an association between A β and apathy²⁵¹⁻²⁵⁵. In a recent large-scaled longitudinal study on non-demented stages of disease, individuals with apathy, compared to those without apathy, demonstrated an elevated cerebral A β deposition as well as an accelerated cognitive decline. Besides, the effect of apathy on cognitive function was mainly mediated by A β deposition in prefrontal areas of the brain²⁵³. In support, also another study has related apathy to A β deposition in the prefrontal cortex, and then especially so in the orbitofrontal gyrus and the left superior frontal gyrus²⁵¹. Further supporting an association, a CSF study on AD demented individuals report levels of CSF A β 42 to be negatively (i.e., more pathological) correlated with apathy rating scores (i.e., higher level)²⁵⁴. Additionally, a large-scale longitudinal study, spanning over five years, demonstrated individuals with low CSF A β 42 on a group level to have steeper increases in apathy scores over time²⁵⁵.

Yet, some CSF and PET studies do not support a role of A β in apathy²⁵⁶⁻²⁵⁹. Also, most neuropathological studies have reported apathy not to be related to the amount of A β plaques at autopsy²⁶⁰⁻²⁶². However, these latter studies are mainly small sample-sized and address predominately later stages of disease.

Contrary to A β , most neuropathological studies do display an association between tau and apathy²⁶⁰⁻²⁶². These findings are supported by a cross-sectional CSF study on mild AD dementia that reported apathy levels to be associated with increased levels of both CSF T-tau and P-tau²⁵⁶. In another CSF study, a low level of A β combined with a high level of tau (i.e., more AD pathology) was longitudinally

associated with an increased probability of increased future apathy scores. Yet, tau was not associated with increasing apathy scores over five years of follow-up independent from A β^{255} . Moreover, several other CSF studies (predominately cross-sectional), encompassing early to late stages of AD, do not relate apathy to P-tau²⁵⁴, ²⁵⁷, ²⁵⁸.

Opposing these negative CSF studies, a few cross-sectional and longitudinal tau-PET studies have displayed associations between apathy and tau pathology²⁶³⁻²⁶⁵. In a study on MCI and AD demented individuals, apathy was related to tau pathology in small frontal parts of the cortex, including the anterior cingulate and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Notably, the associations were more robust in individuals with greater A β pathology²⁶³.

Most reports on apathy favor an association with neurodegeneration^{155, 247, 266-268}. In the late stages of the disease, cortical atrophy is found predominately in frontal brain regions (including the medial frontal cortex, the orbitofrontal cortex, or the anterior cingulate cortex) and subcortical structures such as the caudate, putamen, and thalamus^{155, 266, 267}. These are structures suggested to be a part of the neurocognitive network of normal motivated behaviour²⁶⁹. In early stages, however, there are suggestive findings also arguing for a role of temporal atrophy²⁶⁸, brain structures known to accumulate tau tangles early on³.

The relationship between Alzheimer's disease pathology and depression

Several cross-sectional CSF studies, encompassing various stages of the disease, do not display an association between depressive symptoms and the level of amyloid pathology^{256, 257, 270-272}. Also, several PET studies align with these results²⁷³⁻²⁷⁵.

Notably, many studies even display depression related to reduced levels of $A\beta$ pathology^{270-272, 276}. Such a finding was reported by a recent PET imaging study on CU and MCI individuals with or without LLD²⁷⁶. Beyond demonstrating reduced A β pathology in LLD individuals, both A β and depression were independently associated with poorer memory performance. These findings strengthen the notion that depression late in life, by its impact on cognition, could play a role in demasking an incipient AD by lowering cognitive resilience factors, rather than being associated directly with increased A β levels.

However, challenging these negative results, there are also many PET studies supporting an association between A β and depression^{153, 250, 277-281}. Some have assessed depression severity by the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS). One study, on CU subjects, displays steeper rates of total scores on the GDS over time for participants with higher levels of cerebral A β deposition at study start²⁸⁰. According to their sub-analysis in which the three item-clusters of the GDS scale (dysphoria, anxiety-concentration, and apathy-anhedonia, respectively) were analyzed, the average dysphoria item-cluster score was demonstrated lower than the other item-clusters scores. Besides, change in dysphoria was not related to A β at study start.

Somewhat similar results using the GDS are reported by others²⁸¹. Combined, the results suggest that GDS total scores primarily reflect anxiety or apathy rather than dysphoria. As dysphoria could be reasoned central in the concept of major depression (Figure 6), this could question the validity of the GDS total score, at least in samples where apathy and anxiety are prevalent - as in older adults at risk of AD¹⁵³.

Much fewer studies have addressed the relationship between depression and tau. In general, the literature on CSF biomarkers is not in favor of such a relationship^{256, 257, 270-272}. However, a cross-sectional PET imaging study showed that a higher level of depressive symptoms (measured by the GDS) is related to more tau in the inferior temporal and entorhinal cortex among CU older adults²⁸². In line, CU individuals with an increased cerebral tau load have been reported more likely to have a clinical diagnosis of depression²⁷⁴. Additionally, increased tau deposition, especially in the entorhinal cortex and other temporal structures, has been reported related to several behavioral features, including higher levels of depression, among individuals at increased risk of future AD²⁶⁵.

Concerning neurodegeneration, depression in predominately advanced stages of AD is associated with atrophy in frontotemporal and subcortical brain regions²⁸³⁻²⁸⁷. It has been debated whether these associations arise by an actual effect by LLD, independent from AD-related changes, or if these associations are due to confounding by underlying AD pathology. According to a meta-analysis on the topic, AD is strongly related to cortical atrophy in the brain's parietal, frontal, and temporal areas. In contrast, LLD is mainly associated with atrophy in frontal brain regions. Intriguingly, both AD and LLD were found independently related to hippocampal volume loss²⁸⁴. This finding once more encourages the idea that depression can lower resilience factors against cognitive impairment, and hence lower the threshold for displaying clinically significant symptoms if AD pathology eventually develops.

The relationship between Alzheimer's disease pathology and anxiety

The relationship between anxiety and AD-related pathology is less studied than depression and apathy, but the findings are somewhat more consistent²⁸⁸.

There are both CSF and PET studies that denote anxiety as related to A β pathology in non-demented stages of disease^{247, 257, 259, 277, 278, 280, 289, 290}. Cross-sectional studies have demonstrated anxiety associated with A β deposition in both cortical and subcortical brain regions^{259, 277, 278, 289}. Increased anxiety levels have further been shown associated with increased odds of having elevated A β deposition^{259, 278}. Pointing to an effect by A β pathology, a longitudinal study on CU older adults displayed steeper rates of increased anxiety-concentration cluster-item scores, obtained by the GDS, in individuals with elevated levels of A β at study start²⁸⁰. This finding was recently supported by another study on older adults without dementia²⁹⁰. The literature on anxiety and its relation to tau pathology or neurodegeneration is still scarce. A large sampled cross-sectional CSF study, covering several stages of disease, indicates that both greater A β and tau pathology relate to greater levels of anxiety²⁴⁷. Opposing a relationship with tau, a longitudinal PET study on anxiety in non-demented individuals could instead not report an association between the presence of tau and the evolution of anxious symptomatology. There is further evidence of an association between anxiety and neurodegeneration in a neurocognitive context from the use of fluoro-deoxyglucose PET²⁹⁰, CSF analyses²⁵⁷, and structural MRI²⁹¹.

The relationship between white matter lesions and certain neuropsychiatric symptoms

WML have been demonstrated linked to NPS. Apathy has been consistently related to WML in frontal and subcortical brain regions^{255, 267}. However, it is important to point out that most of these findings rest upon cross-sectional data. A longitudinal study on CU elderly could not display an effect of WML on the development of apathy during five years of follow-up²⁴⁶. Considering large-vessel disease, apathy has been demonstrated to occur in every third patient after major stroke in what is termed "*poststroke apathy*"²⁹².

Reports are mainly in support of a relationship between cerebrovascular disease and depressive symptoms in older adults²⁸³. Some studies support that depression in AD is associated with WML predominately in the basal ganglia, the frontal lobe, and the parietal lobe^{283, 293}. However, most studies are conducted on later stages of disease, and compared to the cross-sectional findings on apathy, the relationship between depression and WML remains somewhat less consistent²⁸³. *Poststroke depression* is reported to be as frequent as poststroke apathy²⁹⁴.

Only few are the reports on the impact of WML on anxiety in neurodegenerative cohorts, and they display somewhat conflicting results^{295, 296}, wherefore firm conclusions cannot be made.

Pharmacological treatment of neuropsychiatric symptoms

Bearing in mind that NPS in AD and other ND are associated with several adverse outcomes, it has been postulated that early identification and treatment of NPS in AD may slow disease progression or mitigate distress. Unfortunately, at present, there is no approved pharmacological treatment for any NPS labeled explicitly for use in AD or other ND¹⁰⁹. However, there are several promising ongoing clinical trials^{8, 109}.

Methylphenidate has recently, in a phase-III placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial, including 200 participants with possible or probable AD, been demonstrated to be safely tolerated and to have a small to medium effect on apathy levels²⁹⁷. These findings further align with previous smaller studies²⁹⁸.

Numerous reports in the literature argue against an effect of antidepressants such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) on depression in AD^{299} . Yet there are exceptions. In a small sample-sized randomized placebo-controlled study, SSRIs were demonstrated to significantly improve depressive symptoms among participants with probable AD^{300} . Notably, this study recognized the potential overlap between symptoms of cognitive deterioration and depressive symptoms from cognitive deterioration or apathy as far as possible is further stressed by the descriptions of SSRI-induced apathy. Yet, these primarily rest upon case reports and a few retrospective findings³⁰¹⁻³⁰³.

In clinical practice, benzodiazepines are commonly used in short time durations to handle more profound anxiety. However, there is limited evidence for their clinical utility as they are demonstrated to negatively impact cognition, increase the risk of falls or confusion, and other adverse drug reactions³⁰⁴.

Psychometric evaluation of neuropsychiatric symptoms

Rating scales for neuropsychiatric symptoms

Syndromic diagnostic criteria are instruments to identify individuals with a supposed common underlying pathological process, manifesting by a conglomerate of clinical symptoms or signs. However, diagnostic criteria do not serve as strong methods to quantifying disease severity.

Rating scales, however, have the primary aim to quantify (latent) characteristics of individuals that cannot be measured directly, such as the severity of mental experiences or behaviour^{305, 306}. They are most frequently designed to map out the latent constructs as continuums on which the individual can be positioned^{301, 302}. Such tools are widely used and serve as screening instruments, aid in diagnostic considerations, measurements of severity, and means to monitor intervention outcomes³⁰⁷. Accordingly, they influence interpretation and decision-making in both research and clinical settings. Therefore, it is a requirement that rating scales are rigorous measures of the aspects they claim to quantify.

The scientific discipline concerned with the theory and technique of quantifying mental capacities and related processes by measurements, assessments, or tests is referred to as *psychometrics*³⁰⁸. The overall aim of psychometric studies is to establish the extent to which a quantitative conceptualization of the construct (in this case, various NPS) has been operationalized successfully³⁰⁶. There are several psychometric methodologies to be used, such as the traditional *Classical Test Theory* (CTT) and more recent approaches such as Rasch analysis and Item Response Theory^{305, 306, 309, 310}.

Basic concepts of Classical Test Theory

Data quality

Data quality refers to the extent to which a rating scale can be administered successfully among responders in the sample of interest. Percentage of missing item responses and percentage of the sample for whom total scores could be calculated, are indicators of data quality^{306, 311}.

Targeting

Targeting concerns the match between the distribution of distress or disability in the sample and the range of distress or disability measured by the scale. This can be addressed by evaluating *score distributions*, *skewness statistics*, as well as the level of *floor and ceiling effects*. Floor/ceiling effects up to 20% are generally accepted³⁰⁶.

Scaling assumptions

Scaling assumptions tests whether it is legitimate to sum individual item scores to generate a single scale total score. To ascertain the appropriateness to sum up items into a total score, a set of criteria are to be fulfilled³⁰⁶. First, the individual items should measure the same point on the total scale of distress or disability and have a similar variance. Second, the items should measure the same underlying construct (in this case, NPS). These two criteria can be explored by measures of internal consistency (outlined below) and corrected item-total correlations^{306, 311}. In the latter, each individual item ought to correlate with the summed total score above a recommended criterion between $0.4-0.8^{306}$. Another way to explore if the items represent a common underlying construct is by data reduction techniques (as *Principal Component Analysis* [PCA]) that display scale dimensionality^{305, 312}.

Dimensionality

To legitimately sum individual items into a total score, all items need to reflect a single common underlying dimension (by some called component, factor, construct, or variable)^{305, 312}. If a scale is made up of several dimensions (e.g., both depression and anxiety), the computation of separate total scores could be questioned. The number of dimensions and their sizes can be demonstrated using PCA, a data reduction technique that analyzes item correlations to find the "components" of the items that convey maximum variation and minimal error in the data set³¹³.

Reliability

The degree to which scale scores are precise and free from measurement error defines the term reliability. Internal consistency, reproducibility, and responsiveness are three important concepts surrounding reliability³⁰⁶.

Internal consistency is a combined measure of the correlations between the scale items. Too low internal consistency indicates that the items do not measure the same underlying construct. If the consistency is too high, some items might instead be redundant. The internal consistency can be statistically determined by Cronbach's coefficient alpha, which calculates the summed error associated with scores from intercorrelations among the items. Its value should be above 0.70 and preferably even above 0.80^{306} .

Reproducibility is determined by the extent to which results obtained from a rating scale can be achieved once more if the assessment is repeated. Suppose the assessment is re-administered to an individual with stable characteristics, and the assessment yields a similar result. In that case, the combined results would support the assessment to have a high *test-retest reliability*^{305, 306}.

Responsiveness

Responsiveness is the ability to detect change accurately when it has occurred. A basic and clinically meaningful psychometric method for responsiveness is the calculation of *Standard Error of Measurement* (SEm). It is defined as an estimate of the variation around a "true" score for an individual when repeated measures are taken. From samples, it can be generated by the standard deviation multiplied by the square root of 1 minus the internal consistency. SEm allows calculating confidence intervals likely to contain the "true" score of an individual with a certain degree of confidence³⁰⁶.

Validity

When a scale measures what it claims to measure, validity is reached^{305, 314}. There are several subtypes of validity.

Construct validity refers to whether the scale relates to other measures in a prehypothesized way. Two important subtypes of construct validity are *convergent* and *discriminant validity*. Convergent validity refers to the degree to which two measures of a construct, that theoretically should be related, are in fact related. In contrast, discriminative validity tests whether concepts or measurements that are supposed to be unrelated, in fact are unrelated. For example, apathy assessments should theoretically be closely correlated to ratings of depressive severity, but not the level of memory impairment measured by a cognitive test³¹⁴.

Criterion validity is the extent to which a rating scale relates to the theoretical representation of the construct as measured by a golden standard³¹⁴. This is often a

difficult task in the field of psychiatry since well-functioning golden standards are often missing³¹⁴. For instance, a self-rated rating scale of depression severity could be compared to individual interviews by more "objective" clinicians. However, also clinician interviews have been reported problematic³¹⁵.

Content validity in psychometrics is defined by the extent to which a measure represents the various facets of the construct of interest³¹⁴. For instance, the construct "depression" encompasses not only depressed mood it is also defined by pessimistic thoughts and suicidal ideation, which then ought to be represented by the scale items. This type of validity predominately rests upon subject matter expert opinions.

Face validity concerns if items in the rating scale appear suitable in the light of its aim and the nature of the construct it purports to measure³¹⁴. Decisions on this type of validity are also evaluated by subject matter experts.

Challenges in rater source selection

Besides the internal features of rating scales, it is also important to consider the utility of different rater sources when assessing NPS. Depending on the clinical stage of AD, rater sources can provide different challenges, ultimately affecting the reliability of the assessment.

Self-ratings have the potential to register both the internal psychological experiences as well as related external behavior, whereas informant-ratings predominantly reflect the latter.

As AD progresses, the reliability of self-ratings could be assumed to drop due to cognitive difficulties such as comprehension deficits or anosognosia (lack of insight)³¹⁶⁻³¹⁹. In support, a study on the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) demonstrated that CU individuals tend to report somewhat greater apathy levels over time than their informants or clinicians. MCI participants, on the other hand, seem to under-report the apathy severity compared to informants or clinicians³²⁰. This argues for the use of informant or clinician-rated assessments in clinical stages of disease.

Informant-ratings, however, are well-known to be biased by rising levels of caregiver burden, resulting in higher ratings of the patients' distress or disability^{321, 322}. Hence, in situations where the cognitive functions are compromised, and the caregivers are overburdened, clinician-ratings might serve as a more suitable method. Clinicians, however, often only see their patients during short times. Therefore, they might fail to properly register NPS that fluctuate, or fail to detect more subtle changes in mood or behavior that could unveil during observations with more extended time duration.

Altogether, the various rater-sources display distinct limitations that turn critical in different stages of disease.

Rationale and aims

General aim

The general aim of this thesis has been to examine the relationships between certain NPS (apathy, anxiety, and depression), cognitive impairment and core AD-related pathologies in non-demented individuals.

The thesis has further aimed to provide a psychometrically favorable rating scale for apathy in Swedish.

Specific rationale and aims

Paper I

A rating scale for the level of apathy in early AD was lacking in Swedish, potentially halting clinical and research efforts. Moreover, few previous studies had addressed basic psychometric properties of the AES according to CTT principles, or assessed dimensionality by methods taking into account the ordinal nature of the data generated by the individual items.

Hence, paper I aimed to translate and psychometrically evaluate a Swedish version of the AES. This by comparing its properties with findings from the original English version, as well as by utilizing CTT principles and more modern PCA methods.

Paper II

Several key AD hallmarks had rarely in unison been explored in relation to NPS in early stages of disease, using one common sample.

Paper II, therefore, aimed to study the cross-sectional relationships between certain neuropsychiatric symptoms (apathy, anxiety, and depression) and A β deposition, cerebral atrophy, WML, and future cognitive decline in a non-demented sample covering both CU and MCI subjects.

Paper III

It remained to be demonstrated whether MBI precedes or follows cognitive deficits in biomarker confirmed preclinical AD, and whether MBI is associated with tau pathology in this early phase.

Accordingly, the aim of paper III was to explore cross-sectional associations between MBI and biomarkers of tau pathology in preclinical stages of AD and further to compare associations with tau for MBI and episodic memory impairment.

Paper IV

Prior studies had rarely investigated the effects of both AD-related pathology and cognition on the development of NPS²¹¹. Therefore, the exact temporal and causal relationships between neuropathology, cognition, and NPS in AD have remained unclear.

In paper IV, an attempt was made to disentangle these relationships. The specific aim was to study how biomarkers of AD pathology, WML, or cognitive deficits potentially drive the development of apathy, anxiety, and depressive symptoms in CU older adults. A second aim was to explore if cognitive change mediates the effect of different brain pathologies on longitudinal NPS.

Methods

All data in the thesis originate from the prospective and longitudinal Swedish BIOFINDER (Biomarkers For Identifying Neurodegenerative Disorders Early and Reliably) Study (www.biofinder.se), launched in 2008. The study was initiated with the ambition to discover core pathological mechanisms in AD and other ND. The study includes large-sampled cohorts of CU individuals, as well as patients with MCI, dementia, or parkinsonian disorders (Figure 8). The participants have been thoroughly and repeatedly examined (each year or biennially, depending on cohort and type of examination) with clinical assessments, cognitive tests, assessment scales (e.g., covering NPS), analyses of AD-related biomarkers in CSF and plasma, as well as neuroimaging with MRI and amyloid-PET.

In 2017, the Swedish BIOFINDER study (BF-I) was complemented by the updated Swedish BIOFINDER 2 Study (BF-II), including tau-PET, as well as optimized MRI methods and clinical assessments.

Paper I, II, and IV are based on data from BF-I, whereas data in paper III is derived from BF-II.



Figure 8. Schematic illustration of the Swedish BIOFINDER I Study. Used and modified by courtesy of Oskar Hansson

Study populations

Cognitively unimpaired in the BIOFINDER-I study

In BF-I, the cohort comprising CU controls was recruited from the population-based Malmö Diet Cancer Study³²³. Subjects were eligible for inclusion if they i) were \geq 60 years old, ii) had Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) 28–30 at the screening visit, iii) did not need a Swedish interpreter, iv) had absence of cognitive symptoms, and v) did not fulfill criteria of MCI or dementia. Exclusion criteria were a) presence of significant neurological or psychiatric disease, e.g., PD or ongoing severe major depression, b) significant unstable systemic illness or organ failure, c) refusing lumbar puncture or MRI, and d) significant alcohol or substance misuse. The participants were re-examined biennially.

Mild Cognitive Impairment in the BIOFINDER-I study

Participants in the cohort of patients with MCI, or subjective cognitive deficits (SCD), were recruited consecutively at three memory clinics (in Malmö, Lund and Ängelholm) in the southern part of Sweden. They were included if they i) were referred to the memory clinic due to cognitive symptoms experienced by the patient and/or an informant, ii) did not fulfill criteria for dementia, iii) had MMSE score between 24–30, iv) had an age between 60–80 years old, and v) did not need a Swedish interpreter. Exclusion criteria were a) cognitive impairment that with certainty could be explained by another condition than prodromal dementia, b) significant unstable systemic illness or organ failure, c) refusing lumbar puncture or neuropsychological examination, and d) ongoing alcohol or substance misuse.

For exclusion (both in the CU and MCI BF-I cohort), dementia was defined by the DSM-IV-TR criteria¹⁰⁷. The differentiation between SCD and MCI was based on consensus MCI criteria suggested by Petersen¹⁰⁴ and operationalized by a neuropsychological test battery evaluated by a senior neuropsychologist. Subjects with no measurable cognitive deficits were categorized as having SCD and those with objective cognitive impairment as having MCI⁹³. Using the syndromal staging system in the NIA-AA research framework⁸³, SCD participants were regarded as being CU.

The MCI participants were examined by cognitive tests and assessment scales (not the AES) once a year, while CSF and blood sampling and imaging were performed every second year.

Parkinsonian disorders in the BIOFINDER-I study

The participants in the parkinsonian cohort in BF-I were recruited at the Neurology clinic at Skåne University Hospital in Lund, Sweden. Participants were included and followed repeatedly if they fulfilled diagnostic criteria of PD, PDD, or DLB³²⁴⁻

³²⁶, including those with only early parkinsonian symptoms. Exclusion criteria were significant unstable systemic illness or current significant alcohol or substance abuse.

Clinical and cognitive assessments were retaken every year, and clinical, cognitive, neurological, and psychiatric assessments, as well as biofluid sampling and MRI, were repeated biennially.

Cognitively unimpaired in the BIOFINDER-II study

The CU sample used in paper III was derived from three of the cohorts in BF-II and comprised participants representing neurologically and cognitively healthy controls at different age spans (cohort A & B) or participants categorized as having SCD (derived from cohort C).

The inclusion criteria for cohorts A and B were i) age between 40-65 years (cohort A) or age between 66-100 years (cohort B); ii) absence of cognitive symptoms as evaluated by a physician specialized in cognitive disorders; iii) MMSE score between 27-30 (cohort A) or between 26-30 (cohort B); iv) the subject did not fulfill the criteria for mild or major NCD (MCI or dementia) according to DSM- 5^{327} ; and v) fluency in the Swedish language.

Cohort C, from which the SCD participants derived, included subjects with either SCD or MCI. Inclusion criteria were: i) age 40-100 years; ii) referred to one of the memory clinics due to cognitive symptoms; iii) a MMSE score between 24-30; iv) no fulfillment of criteria for major NCD according to DSM-5³²⁷, v) fluency in Swedish.

A slightly different methodology for separation between SCD and MCI was used in BF-II compared to BF-I. In BF-II, the subjects in cohort C that performed worse than -1.5 SD in any cognitive domain, using a neuropsychological cognitive test battery, and according to age and education stratified test norms, were classified as having MCI⁹². Subjects not classified as MCI were considered to have SCD. As in BF-I, subjects with SCD were regarded as being CU⁸³.

Assessments

Rating scales for neuropsychiatric symptoms

Apathy Evaluation Scale

Initially developed by Marin et al. ³²⁸, AES is today one of the most widespread and well-studied rating scales for assessing apathy severity³²⁹. The assessment is constructed to cover the affective, behavioral, and cognitive aspects of apathy during the prior 4-week period. It is intended for use among older adults aged above

55 and has been evaluated in a variety of diseases such as AD, PD, cerebrovascular disorders, major depression, schizophrenia, as well as in older healthy subjects^{329, 330}. There are three different rater source versions, including a clinician-administered semi-structured interview version (AES-C), a self-rated version (AES-S), and an informant-rated version (AES-I) for completion by proxies. In this thesis, only AES-S and AES-I were used (AES-S is demonstrated in the appendix). The different versions cover the same 18 items rated at a four-point Likert scale ("Not at all," "Slightly," "Somewhat," and "A lot"; scored 1-4, respectively). Following reversed scoring for three items, item scores are summed into a total score ranging between 18-72 (higher scores indicating more apathy).

The AES has in several studies been shown to have a factor structure with three dimensions, where most items have loaded on the "apathy" component, which also has accounted for most of the variance^{328, 331}. Hence, the rating scale has most often been handled as unidimensional in clinical practice and research studies. Arguing for good internal reliability, the internal consistency is reported to range between 0.86-0.94³²⁹. Favorable test-retest reliability is also demonstrated³²⁸. Moreover, the AES has been reported to have a fair to moderate convergent and discriminate validity, indicating a good construct validity³²⁹.

Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) is a well-established rating scale consisting of 14 items. Seven items relate to depression severity (HADS-D) and seven to anxiety severity (HADS-A). Each item is scored 0-3 points. Total scores range between 0 to 21. The higher the score, the worse symptomatology^{332, 333}. The rating tool has demonstrated acceptable and unidimensional psychometric properties in samples of older adults³³⁴.

Mild Behavioral Impairment – Checklist

The MBI Checklist (MBI-C) was developed to capture MBI in accordance with the ISTAART-AA criteria for MBI^{10, 335}. The MBI-C covers 34 items, representing five domains: i) decreased drive and motivation (apathy, comprising 6 items, range 0-18 points), ii) affective dysregulation (mood and anxiety symptoms, comprising 6 items, range 0-18 points), iii) impulse dyscontrol (agitation, impulsivity, and abnormal reward salience, comprising 12 items, range 0-36 points), iv) social inappropriateness (impaired social cognition, comprising 5 items, range 0-15 points), and v) abnormal perception and thought content (psychotic symptoms, comprising 5 items, range 0-15 points). Each item question is answered with "No" (0 points) or "Yes" depending on if the actual symptoms have persisted for at least 6 months (continuously or intermittently) and represent a clear alteration from the rated person's normal behavior. Items answered "Yes" are followed by a severity rating of either 1 point = mild, 2 points = moderate, or 3 points = severe. A MBI-C total score (range 0-102 points) is calculated by summing the scores of each item.

Total scores for each domain can also be generated. Importantly, the MBI-C instructs that the symptoms to be measured shall have emerged late in life and persisted for at least 6 months. Score distributions, factor structure, sensitivity, specificity, and the diagnostic utility of MBI-C have been validated in cohorts of SCD³³⁶, MCI³³⁷, and population-based samples of CU³³⁸. A Swedish version of MBI-C has been developed in the context of this thesis and is available in the appendix and at www.MBItest.org³³⁵.

Cognitive tests

Mini-Mental State Examination

MMSE is undisputedly one of the most popular and widely used tests to quantify cognitive functioning³³⁹. The test was introduced in 1975 by Folstein³⁴⁰, and it consists of ten items assessing function in different cognitive domains. The scores obtained from each item are summed into a total score ranging between 0-30, representing the global cognitive functioning. Lower scores indicate worse global cognition³⁴⁰. The test has demonstrated good sensitivity and specificity for the detection of dementia³³⁹. However, the detection of cognitive change over time and its predictive capacity of future dementia in early stages of disease is shown outperformed by other more specific cognitive tests³⁴¹.

The Modified Preclinical Alzheimer Cognitive Composite

The Preclinical Alzheimer Cognitive Composite (PACC5) was developed as a sensitive tool to detect cognitive change in preclinical stages of AD³⁴². It is a composite of several cognitive tests. The PACC5 was later slightly modified into mPACC5 by replacing a logical memory test and the Free and Cued Selective Reminding test by The Delayed Word Recall Test (ADAS-DR) from The Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale – Cognitive Subscale (ADAS-Cog)³⁴³. Furthermore, in the mPACC5 used in paper IV, the original executive test was replaced by the color-form task in A Quick Test of cognitive speed (AQT-CF)^{92, 344}.

The mPACC5 was computed as the average of five z-scores (calculated by [the observed test score minus the sample mean] divided by the standard deviation), given by tests of global cognition (MMSE), episodic memory (ADAS-DR, counted twice to preserve the weight on memory from the original PACC), verbal fluency (Animal Fluency Test), and executive functioning (AQT-CF)³⁴².

A Quick Test of cognitive speed - the color-form task

In the AQT-CF task, the participant quickly names the color and form of 40 objects (square, circle, triangle, and line) with different colors (red, yellow, blue, or black). The score constitutes the number of seconds it takes to complete the task. The test was originally developed as an alternative to the executive Stroop test that could be administered to illiterate participants or participants with a lower level of

education^{344, 345}. The test has shown favorable properties in detecting early treatment responses in AD³⁴⁶.

Alzheimer Disease Assessment Scale-Delayed Word Recall

ADAS-DR is a cognitive test to assess the level of episodic memory deficit. The subject being assessed is given three trials to learn a list of ten high-frequency, high-imagery nouns printed in block letters on white cards. After a few minutes of distraction (often by other cognitive tasks), the subject is asked, in one trial, to recall the ten words previously presented. The number of words not recalled is counted (maximum 10 points), and the higher the score, the greater the subject's memory deficit³⁴⁷. Tests of delayed recall have been shown sensitive and specific indicators of AD³⁴⁸.

Measures of in vivo neuropathology

Fluid-based biomarkers

CSF and blood samples were collected and handled according to structured protocols^{349, 350}. The immunoassays used to quantify the level of the biomarkers vary between the papers.

In paper III, CSF A β 42 and A β 40 were determined using Meso Scale Discovery immunoassays (MSD; Rockville, MD, USA)³⁵¹, whereas P-tau181 was obtained using Innotest[®] immunoassay (Fujirebio; Gent, Belgium). In paper III, CSF A β 42 and A β 40 were combined into a CSF A β 42/40 ratio, with high specificity for AD-related amyloidopathy⁸⁵. A β -positivity was defined by the A β 42/A β 40 cut-off < 0.752 (obtained using gaussian mixture modeling)³⁵² and used for sample selection. CSF P-tau181 was used as a continuous measure reflecting cerebral tau load.

In paper IV, levels of CSF A β 42, A β 40 and NfL were measured on an Elecsys platform (Roche Diagnostics International Ltd.)^{350, 353}. Also in this study, CSF A β 42 and A β 40 were combined into a CSF A β 42/40 ratio. In this paper, the CSF A β 42/A β 40 ratio was used as a proxy for the level of cerebral A β deposition. CSF NfL was used as a marker for cortical and subcortical axonal degeneration³⁵⁴. Plasma P-tau217, representing the level of tau tangle pathology, was analyzed using an immunoassay on a Mesoscale Discovery platform developed by Lilly Research Laboratories³⁵⁰.

Positron emission tomography

To quantify the cerebral load of A β plaques in paper II, ¹⁸F-flutemetamol-PET/Computed tomography was conducted. PET sum images from 90 to 110 min post-injection of the tracer were generated for the average uptake. The NeuroMarQ software (GE Healthcare) was used to analyze the images. A volume template was applied for nine bilateral cortical regions of interest (ROI) (prefrontal, parietal, lateral temporal, medial temporal, sensorimotor, occipital, anterior cingulate, and posterior cingulate/precuneus), later combined in a global cortical composite signal. Most analyses encompassed continuous PET A β measures; however, a few analyses used a dichotomization of the measure into A β -negatives or A β -positives, based on a formerly defined cut-off (>1.42 SUVR)³⁵¹.

In paper III, cerebral tau pathology was quantified using [¹⁸F]RO948-PET. Sum images were generated 70-90-minutes post-injection of the tracer. Standardized uptake value ratio images were created using the inferior cerebellar cortex as reference region³⁵⁵. ROIs were based on the parcellation of the T1-weighted MRI using FreeSurfer v6.0. In order to capture brain areas affected by tau deposition over the temporal course of AD, three composite ROIs were created according to the Braak tau pathology staging scheme⁷¹. These include region I-II (the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus), region III-IV (parahippocampal cortices, fusiform cortices, amygdala, as well as the inferior and the middle temporal cortices), and region V-VI (widespread neocortical areas)⁷⁰. To explore regional associations, also voxel-wise based multiple regression modeling was performed (outlined in the statistical section).

Magnetic resonance imaging

In paper II, measures of the level of cerebral atrophy were attained by highresolution MRI T1-weighted MP-RAGE sequences. Cortical thickness (the distance from the gray/white matter boundary to the corresponding pial surface) was used as a proxy for the level of cortical atrophy. Cortical reconstruction using the software FreeSurfer v5.3 permitted parcellation into cortical ROIs according to the Desikan-Killiany atlas^{356, 357}. As a proxy for temporal atrophy, a composite thickness measure that previously has been shown sensitive to atrophy in AD ("AD-signature cortex") was used³⁵⁸, and included the entorhinal, inferior temporal, middle temporal, and fusiform cortices. Supplementary to the ROI-based cortical atrophy analyses, "whole-brain" cortical vertex-based regression analyses were also performed (outlined in the statistic section).

Subcortical volumes were used as a proxy for the level of subcortical atrophy in paper II. Contrary to the cortical regions, registration, and segmentation of subcortical regional volumes (the bilateral amygdala, hippocampus, nucleus accumbens, caudate nucleus, putamen, pallidum, and thalamus) were performed using the software FIRST^{359, 360}. This software was selected instead of FreeSurfer when the subcortical structures were analyzed; this given its superior segmentation of these structures upon visual inspection.

Measures of global WML volumes in paper II-IV were acquired by an automated data segmentation method on T2-weighted MRI FLAIR sequences, using the lesion

prediction algorithm in the LST toolbox for SPM³⁶¹, providing a volume variable of ratio scale. Additionally in paper II, a visual rating of FLAIR images was performed by a radiologist according to the Age-Related White Matter Change (ARWMC) scale³⁶², generating an ordinal measurement variable. Besides assessing the global burden of WML, the ARWMC scale also assesses five bilateral regional WML volumes (frontal, parieto-occipital, temporal, basal ganglia, and infratentorial).

Statistical analyses

Principal component analyses

To examine the scale dimensionality (paper I) PCAs were used. In short, a PCA is a data reduction technique that calculates the "best" linear combinations of the original items in order to explain the maximum variance among the scale item data points. This is achieved by rotating the "line of best fit" among data points in a multidimensional covariance matrix (as many dimensions as items)³⁶³. Different rotation methods include orthogonal (encompassing the varimax rotation as used in paper I) or oblique rotation. These are chosen depending on if the components are allowed to correlate or not³⁶⁴. PCAs also provide us with eigenvalues. These are estimations of the "weight" or "importance" of the extracted components (dimensions). Eigenvalue >1 is a coarse criterion for a component to explain enough variance in the item data set to be statistically meaningful to extract. The criterion is often criticized for being too liberal in identifying components³¹². Moreover, traditional PCAs are most often based on a matrix of inter-item Pearson correlations, which assumes at least interval-level variables. Hence, ordinal item-level data as provided by the AES might not be suitable for these traditional methods. Hence, a more modern approach using PCA based on a matrix of polychoric correlations was also applied and combined with a less arbitrary method to determine the number of relevant components by the use of parallel analysis^{365, 366}.

Multiple linear regression analyses

The goal of multiple linear regression is to statistically model, estimate or predict the linear relationship between a set of independent (explanatory) variables and a dependent (response) variable³⁶⁷⁻³⁶⁹.

In paper II, cross-sectional associations between NPS and biomarkers of neuropathology were explored by such regression models. These models can schematically be depicted as:

NPS ~ biomarker + covariates +
$$\varepsilon$$

Accordingly, each of the studied NPS was entered as a continuous dependent variable to be explained. The various biomarkers of neuropathology, respectively, were entered as continuous independent explanatory variables. To control the associations for age, sex, years in education, and global cognition (MMSE), these variables were entered as covariates. The symbol ε denotes random error. Underpinning assumptions for these regression analyses were assessed by evaluating normality and homoscedasticity of residuals with probability plots and plots of residuals versus fitted values³⁶⁹.

These primary analyses in paper II were further extended to encompass vertex-based regression analyses for NPS and cortical atrophy. These analyses had the aim to investigate associations using a less hypothesis-driven analysis (not restricted to prespecified ROIs) and allowed visualization of focal structural changes throughout the entire cerebral cortex. Accordingly, FreeSurfer software was used to create a general linear model analysis of the cortical thickness at each vertex of the cortical surface³⁷⁷. The dependent variable was cortical grey matter thickness difference, and here also, the nuisance variables (being controlled for) were age, sex, education, and MMSE.

In the main linear regression analyses in paper III, MBI-C or ADAS-DR, respectively, was used as the independent variable, while tau-PET values in the various ROIs (representing the different Braak stages) or CSF P-tau181 were entered in separate models as the dependent variable to be predicted. These models were also adjusted for age, sex, education, and WML volume.

In paper III, a secondary analysis using voxel-wise multiple regression modeling was also performed³⁷⁰. This whole-brain analysis aimed at demonstrating and visualizing the associations between the global burden of NPS (measured by MBI-C) and the intensity of tracer uptake using tau-PET at each voxel in the acquired images. The models also included age, sex, education, and WML volume as covariates.

Linear mixed effect models

In papers II and IV, longitudinal data were used to investigate how either cognition (paper II) or NPS (paper IV) develop over time under the influence of NPS (paper II), cognition (paper IV), or neuropathology (paper II and IV), respectively. As this involves multiple responses (data points) from each research participant, ordinary multiple linear regression models could not be used. Instead, Linear Mixed Effect (LME) models were performed based on multiple linear regression modeling, including random slopes and intercepts (schematically depicted below)³⁶⁹.
Longitudinal cognition ~ baseline NPS*time + covariates +(1+time / ID) + ϵ

or

Longitudinal NPS ~ baseline cognition*time + covariates +(1+time / ID) + ϵ

In paper II, continuous measures of baseline NPS or $A\beta$ status (dichotomous variable) were entered as independent variables to explore their effect over time on the future development of global cognition (dependent variable, measured by MMSE). The models were controlled for age, sex, and level of education. As individuals tend to start out with different levels of cognitive function or have different slopes in their cognitive decline (change over time), these variables were entered as random intercepts or slopes ([1+time / ID]). To address the effect by NPS or A β status over time, interaction variables between the independent variable and time were entered in the models (indicated by the asterisk in the formula). In a set of models, we further investigated the interacting effect of NPS and A β status using three-way interaction variables with time (NPS*A β *time).

In paper IV, somewhat similar LME models were applied. Baseline levels of neuropathology or cognitive test performance, as well as cognitive change, were entered as independent variables interacting with time. Longitudinal measures of NPS were entered as independent dependent variables, respectively. As in paper II, these models included age, sex, education as covariates and random intercepts and slopes.

Also here, underpinning assumptions were assessed by evaluating normality and homoscedasticity of residuals with probability plots and plots of residuals versus fitted values³⁶⁹.

Mediation analyses

In paper IV, causal mediation analyses were also performed³⁷¹. These were based on linear regression models with the aim to explore if cognitive impairment mediates the statistical effect of AD-related pathologies on the development of NPS. A bootstrap procedure (n=1000 iterations) calculated 95% CI for the mediated effects.

Imputation of missing data

Missing data occur in almost all research and can impact statistical power and generate biased results. Missing data can, in some instances, be replaced by imputation of new values. There are several methodological approaches for imputation³⁷². In paper III, additionally to analyzing raw data with available MBI-C item responses, imputation of missing item responses was conducted. This was done using a single imputation procedure using the "aregImpute" function in the Hmisc package in the statistical software R.

Corrections for multiple comparisons

When multiple statistical tests are performed, the likelihood of having some falsepositive results (type-I error) increases with the number of tests³⁷³. To account for this problem, there are several statistical approaches, such as Bonferroni correction or False Discovery Rate (FDR) correction, which adjusts the p-values according to the probability that one or more of the rejected hypotheses is true or the expected number of false rejections among the rejected hypotheses, respectively. However, too strict corrections of the p-values increase the risk of dismissing a significant result as false when it is significant (type-II error). FDR correction is considered less conservative than the Bonferroni method when greater numbers of tests are performed³⁷³. The Bonferroni method was used in paper IV, whereas FDR correction for multiple comparisons was carried out in paper II.

Ethical considerations

The studies were approved by the local ethical review board and was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave their written consent. Approvals for PET imaging were obtained from the Swedish Medicines and Products Agency, and the local Radiation Safety Committee at Skåne University Hospital, Sweden.

Main results and conclusions

Paper I

Sample

226 CU controls, 201 patients with SCD or MCI, and 88 patients with parkinsonian symptoms were recruited from the BF-I cohorts. 461 complete AES-S (self) ratings and 403 complete AES-I (informant) ratings could be extracted from these participants. Some individuals had missing AES data due to incomplete neuropsychological data (n=4), lack of a close relative to complete the AES-I forms (n=87), or no consent to fill out specifically the AES (n=4).

Main results

Concerning data quality, total scores could be calculated in 89.5-95.5% of the total sample, with the lower percentage representing individuals with parkinsonian symptoms and the higher percentage CU individuals. Item-level completeness ranged between 96.8 and 100%, with lower values representing items 6 or 11.

In support of achieved scaling assumptions (to legitimate sum items scores into a total score), AES-S and AES-I item mean scores in the total sample ranged from 1.6-2.3 and 1.8-2.2, respectively. Item SD ranged from 0.8-1.1 for both forms. Corrected item-total correlation in the total sample was >0.5, except for item 6, which once more represented the item with the worst performance (corrected item-total correlation 0.37). Further supporting summation of items into a total score, the polychoric-based PCA with parallel analysis yielded good evidence for both AES versions to be unidimensional. However, the traditional PCA analyses suggested both AES versions to have a two-dimensional structure, but with the primary component explaining 61.2-62.8% of the variance in the data set and the secondary component (mainly consisting of item 15 and the double negatively worded item 6, 10 and 11) explaining only 6.0-6.5%. Studies of the English original AES versions using traditional PCA^{328, 331}, have reported 2- or 3-dimensions, of which the smaller components mainly have represented items 6, 10, 11, or 15.

Targeting analyses (concerning whether the sample's level of apathy matches the range of apathy represented by the scale) showed mean total scores (34.2 and 36.6 for AES-S and AES-I, respectively) somewhat below the scale mid-point (54

points). However, the mid-point was located within 1 SD of the observed mean scores. Floor and ceiling effects were found low (floor effect of \sim 3%, ceiling effect close to 0%).

The internal reliability was shown favorable, with Cronbach's alpha values of 0.95, corroborating with those originally reported by Marin et al.³²⁸. SEm was calculated to 2.7-2.9, and the mean inter-item correlations for AES-S and AES-I were 0.52 and 0.53, respectively. This provides evidence that AES-S and AES-I meet basic premises for detecting group differences and changes over time.

Exploring convergent and discriminative validity, the correlation coefficient between AES-S and AES-I for the total sample was 0.74. AES-S and HADS-D had a correlation coefficient of 0.48 and AES-S and HADS-A 0.35. Corresponding coefficients for the AES-I were 0.35 and 0.21. These findings also are chiefly in line with those reported by Marin et al.³²⁸.

Conclusion

The study provides initial support that the Swedish AES performs similarly to the English original and exhibits acceptable psychometric properties according to CTT, including supported one-dimensionality, and may be adopted for use in clinical and research settings.

Comments

The study in paper I is the first on AES to consider the ordinal nature of item-level data by conducting polychoric-based PCA analyses for scale dimensionality. These analyses provided novel and uniform evidence for AES reflecting a single psychological variable (apathy), and accordingly that item scores can legitimately be summed to a total score. However, in alignment with previous findings³³¹, the traditional PCA based on Pearson correlations suggested a second component for both versions, consisting mainly of item 15 and the double negatively worded items. These were also the items in the third component reported in the original study by Marin et al.³²⁸. In paper I, the percentage of data completeness for these items was low, as well as the corrected item-total correlations for item 6. Collectively these findings probably reflect the drawback of using two grammatical negations in the same sentence (item 6, 10, and 11) and the theoretical difficulty to value one's own level of understanding of one's problems (item 15).

The study design in paper I did not allow for assessment of test-retest reliability, thorough analyses of responsiveness, or to assess and evaluate the AES-C. This constitutes limitations, together with the inability to have a clinician diagnose the presence or absence of apathy to gain a diagnostic golden standard for analyses of criterion validity, sensitivity, or specificity. Moreover, only a fraction of the participants had a diagnosis of dementia (and these were restricted to individuals with parkinsonian symptoms), and none had yet an established diagnosis of AD.

Paper II

Sample

The study sample in paper II comprised 104 CU individuals (61 CU controls and 43 patients with SCD) and 53 patients with MCI from BF-I.

Main results

Greater global levels of $A\beta$ deposition in the brain were cross-sectionally associated with higher levels of informant-rated apathy (AES-I) and self-rated anxiety (HADS-A). $A\beta$ deposition was associated neither with self-rated apathy (AES-I) nor self-rated depressive symptoms (HADS-D).

According to vertex-based morphometry analyses, greater AES-I scores were also cross-sectionally associated with reduced cortical grey matter thickness (atrophy) (Figure 9, panel A). These findings were mainly located to the bilateral temporal lobe and insula, as well as a left-sided more frontal cluster. AES-S scores were only associated with small areas of the temporal cortex in these analyses (Figure 9, panel B). In the ROI-based analysis, a thinner AD-signature cortex (including temporal structures) was also associated with AES-I, but not AES-S. There were no associations between cortical atrophy measures and HADS-A or HADS-D. Increased AES-S and AES-I scores were further associated with smaller volumes of hippocampus, the nucleus accumbens, and some other subcortical structures. Additionally, apathy measures were associated with measures of WML, and so most strongly in the frontal brain regions.



Figure 9. Vertex-based associations between apathy and grey matter thickness.

Vertex-based associations, corrected for age, sex, education, and MMSE, between apathy and cortical grey matter thickness according to grey matter intensity at the significance level P<0.05 (n=157). Panel A shows associations with informant-rated apathy (AES-I). Panel B shows associations with self-rated apathy (AES-S).

In the longitudinal LME models, higher baseline AES-I or HADS-A scores, interacting with time, significantly predicted scores on MMSE (global cognition) over time (Figure 10, panel B & C). However, the effect was mild and found significant only at the 4-year follow-up. Intriguingly, HADS-A scores were found to interact with levels of A β over time on cognitive functioning (Figure 10, panel D). However, this effect was also only mild.

Conclusion

Apathy and anxiety, but not depressive symptoms, are associated with several key hallmarks of AD, such as $A\beta$ deposition, frontotemporal cortical or subcortical atrophy, or cognitive decline. The associations with $A\beta$ deposition and future cognitive decline among these non-demented individuals further position these symptoms as early manifestations of the disease.

Comments

The demonstrated significant associations between A β and apathy, or anxiety, corroborate the main previous literature on early stages of disease^{247, 251-255, 257, 259, 277, 278, 280, 289, 290}. However, contrary to these two specific NPS, depressive symptoms were not found related to any key hallmarks of AD. This adds to the ongoing yet inconclusive debate surrounding the role of depression in AD.

Apathy has predominantly been reported related to atrophies in frontal and subcortical brain structures^{155, 266, 267}. However, some reports on early stages of disease have instead demonstrated associations with atrophy in temporal regions²⁶⁸. In this paper, we reported apathy related to frontal, temporal, and subcortical atrophy in a sample encompassing both CU and MCI. One possibility is that the temporal lobes are involved early, whereas atrophy in the frontal and subcortical structures contributes later, explaining the variability between the findings.

Our finding that apathy and anxiety are associated with future cognitive decline aligns with the previous literature and strengthens the indicated clinical usefulness of early recognition of these symptoms when assessing risk of cognitive decline^{216, 217, 223-225, 233-238}.

As in all studies, there are of course limitations. First, most results (not those on cognitive decline) rest upon cross-sectional data; hence the direction of these associations cannot be displayed. Second, most subjects had low anxiety or depression severity, halting the generalizability towards those with only mild psychiatric illness. Third, there were some missing longitudinal MMSE data. However, LME models are known robust towards missing follow-up data. Fourth, a missing data analysis pointed to a slight survival bias, favoring younger cases. Women also had slightly more missing data, especially so for AES-I. This might be

due to their higher likelihood of being a widow, with a subsequent "lack of a close relative" to fill out the forms.

A strength of the study was that confounding between the investigated NPS were analyzed. However, no significant such effect was found. Interestingly, AES-S and AES-I displayed somewhat divergent results. Maybe this is explained by MCI cases underreporting compared to informants. An argument strengthened by the larger median for AES-I compared to AES-S in the MCI group, but not in the CU group.





LME models corrected for age, sex, and education. Individuals were grouped according to A β status (a pre-established cut-off of >1.42 SUVR on A β -PET) and/or NPS status (using a median split). Panel A) Effects of A β status on MMSE. Panels B-C) Effect of apathy and anxiety status on MMSE. Panels D) Interactions between anxiety and A β status. P-values of the overall effect were obtained by restricted maximum likelihood ratio tests.

Paper III

Sample

The sample in paper III encompassed 55 A β -positive CU individuals from the BF-II cohorts A-C, representing preclinical Alzheimer's pathological change or preclinical AD according to the NIA-AA research framework. 25 of the participants were recruited as SCD but regarded as CU by the reasons described in the method section. 10 MBI-C item data points out of 1 700 were missing. These were dropped in the primary analyses by simply calculating MBI-C total scores by summing up the available item responses. However, for robustness, we also handled missing data by a single imputation procedure. Findings from secondary analyses on the imputed data set were found similar to the not imputed data set.

Main results

MBI-C total scores (a proxy for the overall burden of NPS) were cross-sectionally associated with the level of tau deposition in the composite ROI representing Braak stage I-II (including the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus), as well as the level of CSF P-tau181. MBI-C total scores were not related to tau in the composite ROIs representing the more advanced Braak stages III-IV or Braak V-VI. These findings aligned with the whole-brain voxel-based analysis (Figure 11).

Intriguingly, the episodic memory test ADAS-DR was associated with tau load in the Braak I-II regions only at a trend level (p=0.065). Also, in the regression models where both MBI-C and ADAS-DR were entered simultaneously to control each other, only MBI-C remained associated with tau deposition. Similar results were obtained when analyzing CSF P-tau181.

Conclusion

In preclinical AD, the overall level of MBI is associated with tau independently from memory deficits. This denotes MBI as an important early clinical manifestation related to tau pathology in AD.

Comments

The results in paper III contrast findings from an earlier tau-PET study on CU subjects. However, their sample was unspecified regarding $A\beta$ status²⁴⁹. As abnormal tau deposition is essentially only found in the context of $A\beta$ -positivity⁵⁸, this previous study might have suffered from low statistical power. Better aligning with the results in paper III, another previous study found an association between tau, especially in the entorhinal cortex, and multiple behavioral features (including neuroticism and openness, apathy, and depression) among CU at increased risk of

AD due to a positive family history of sporadic disease²⁶⁵. Combined, these studies indicate the importance of careful sample selection.

Tau deposition in the entorhinal cortex and the hippocampus is known to occur early on in AD^{3, 58}, hence confinement of associations in these regions align with the use of a CU sample. Nonetheless, disturbances in drive and emotions are rarely related to temporal structures. Instead, they are often reported as manifestations of frontal lobe pathology. However, most pathological studies displaying such frontal associations have been conducted on MCI or AD demented stages^{263, 266}. Bridging, the results in paper II, resting upon CU and MCI participants, argue for apathy to be related to temporal atrophy, but also, to a lesser extent, frontal atrophy. Moreover, the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus are highly interconnected with amygdala³⁷⁴, ³⁷⁵, a region important for emotional processing. Hence, it could be hypothesized that early temporal tau deposition in Braak I-II regions has an indirect but close effect on emotions via disruption of the emotional brain network.

The finding that MBI is associated with tau pathology, but only at a trend level with memory deficits, in a cohort of CU individuals further lends support to the ISTAART-AA MBI criteria that proposes that MBI can precede MCI¹⁰.

This study also has its limitations. First, the cross-sectional approach makes it difficult to fully explore the temporal order of appearance of NPS and cognitive deficits. Second, the sample size is modest, which needs to be considered when the results are interpreted. Third, ADAS-DR might not be sensitive enough to detect the most subtle change in memory performance among otherwise CU subjects.



Figure 11. Whole-brain voxel-based analysis between MBI-C scores and tau-PET in CU A β + subjects. Voxel-based associations between Mild Behavioral Impairment-Checklist total scores and [¹⁸F]RO948-PET SUVR in 50 A β -positive cognitively unimpaired subjects. Statistical significance was determined using an extent threshold of 50 voxels. Models were adjusted for age, sex, years of education, and volume of white matter lesions. Correction for multiple testing was applied to parametric images using false discovery rate (FDR) P<0.05. Associations were confined to the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus and, to a smaller extent, the anterior fusiform gyrus.

Paper IV

Sample

In this longitudinal study on the development of NPS, CU controls from BF-I were recruited. Only individuals with at least one NPS rating during the biennial follow-up of up to 8 years were included (n=356).

Main results

The main findings were that i) lower baseline CSF A β 42/40 (i.e., more pathology) had an increasing effect over time on the development of AES-I or HADS-A scores (i.e., more apathy or anxiety) (Figure 12), ii) over time steeper cognitive slopes (obtained by mPACC5 or MMSE) exerted rising effects on longitudinal AES-S or AES-I scores (Figure 13) and iii) the association between CSF A β 42/40, interacting with time, and longitudinal AES-I was partly (23%) mediated by the cognitive slopes (Figure 14). Importantly, the effect of baseline CSF A β 42/40 over time on longitudinal AES-I scores also remained after controlling for the cognitive slopes, indicating a remaining statistically direct effect by A β , independent of cognitive functioning. Effects over time by tau, neurodegeneration, WML, or baseline cognition on longitudinal NPS were not significant after correction for multiple comparisons. Neither neuropathology nor cognitive measures were related to longitudinal depression scores.



Figure 12. Effects of baseline A β pathology over time on the development of apathy and anxiety Plots of estimated marginal means and 95% Cl of the means obtained from LME models displaying significant effects by neuropathology over time on the longitudinal measures of NPS. Longitudinal measures of AES-I (panel A) (274 participants) and HADS-A (panel B) (321 participants) were separately entered as the dependent variable. Interaction terms between time and A β 42/40 were entered as a fixed effect corrected for age, sex, and education and included random slopes and intercepts. Participants were grouped according to a CSF A β 42/40 cut-point of 0.066 obtained by mixture modeling.



Figure 13. Effects on longitudinal neuropsychiatric measures by longitudinal cognition over time

Plots of estimated marginal means and 95% CI of the means demonstrating significant effects (also after adjustment for multiple comparisons) on longitudinal measures of neuropsychiatric symptoms by longitudinal cognition. In LME models longitudinal NPS measures of apathy (longitudinal AES-S by longitudinal mPACC5 [N=333], longitudinal AES-S by longitudinal MMSE [N=333], longitudinal AES-I by longitudinal mPACC5 [N=300], longitudinal AES-I by longitudinal mPACC5 [N=300]) were respectively entered as the dependent variable. Interaction terms between time and mPACC5 slopes (change per year) (panel A & B) or MMSE slopes (panel C & D) were entered as fixed effects in separate models. Participants are grouped according to tertials of the fixed effect variable using tertials (T1, T2, T3 [the higher figure, the more cognitive deficits]). All models were corrected for age, sex, and education and included random slopes and intercepts.



Figure 14. Cognition as a mediator between neuropathology and longitudinal neuropsychiatric symptoms

Mediation analyses of the relationship between neuropathology, cognition, and longitudinal NPS in initially CU participants. Only regression models in the primary analyses displaying significant associations between measures of longitudinal NPS (AES-I), baseline neuropathology (CSF A β 42/A β 40), and cognitive slopes (mPACC5 and MMSE) were used. The direct effect of baseline CSF A β 42/A β 40 on the development of AES-I was obtained using LME models. The mediated effect of cognitive slopes (measured with mPACC5 [panel A] or MMSE [panel B]) is designated c-c'. The remaining effect of baseline CSF A β 42/A β 40 on longitudinal AES-I is designated c'. The direct effect of baseline CSF A β 42/A β 40 on the mediated using linear regression modeling. The direct effect of the mediator mPACC5 or MMSE is a, and was obtained using linear regression modeling. The direct effect of the mediator mPACC5/MMSE on the development of AES-I is Models were corrected for age, sex, and education. All variables were zero-centered. LME models included random slopes and intercepts. Confidence intervals for mediation effects were obtained using bootstrapping with 1000 iterations.

Conclusion

Early A β -pathology may be a significant driver behind the development of both apathy and anxiety in early stages of AD. The effect of A β pathology over time on longitudinal apathy is only partly conveyed by worse cognition, hence A β pathology may influence apathy directly and somewhat independent of cognitive change.

Comments

Beyond merely determining links between NPS and AD pathology or cognitive impairment, the longitudinal nature of this study allowed some of the directions of these associations to be revealed.

As the prevalence of NPS is known to rise with worsening cognition, the findings in paper IV strengthen the proposed idea that cognitive deficits and NPS can develop primarily independently but nevertheless parallel to each other, given a common underlying neuropathology. However, the results in this paper, together with the results in paper II, further indicate that cognitive deficits and NPS to some extent also can reinforce one another²¹². The neuronal mechanisms behind the adjacent development of NPS and cognitive impairment, as well as their impact on each other, need further exploration. Perhaps they share a common anatomical location of AD pathology but arise from dysfunction in separate yet interconnected functional brain networks.

Baseline cognitive test performance could not predict NPS development in this study. However, NPS status could predict cognitive decline in paper II. Taken together, this highlights the potential clinical utility of early monitoring of NPS as prognostic markers for disease progression. However, the findings in paper II rest upon a mixed sample of CU and MCI, which limits the interpretation somewhat.

The strength of this study is its well-characterized sample and its longitudinal measures of both NPS and cognition. Nevertheless, there are also limitations. First, there were also here missing NPS data. However, besides from LME models being tolerant with missing data, supplementary sensitivity and survival bias analyses argued against a strong effect of bias due to missingness. Second, the NPS data rests upon assessments, not clinical diagnoses, and major psychiatric illness at baseline constituted an exclusion criterion. As in paper II, this limits the generalizability towards CU with only subsyndromal NPS or good mental health. Third, findings are not controlled for a history of psychiatric illness, although we did control for antidepressants during study follow-up. Fourth, tau and neurodegeneration are believed to develop somewhat later than A β in AD. As expected, biomarker levels of tau pathology and neurodegeneration in this study on CU are therefore low, which may have reduced the power to detect early associations with tau or neurodegeneration. Finally, pathology other than those studied in paper IV could have contributed to the evolution of NPS.

Concluding remarks

Taken together, the covered papers in the thesis display apathy, anxiety, and the overall burden of MBI to be associated with important hallmarks of AD, such as $A\beta$, tau, neurodegeneration, or cognitive deficits. The results further provide evidence for the direction of some of these associations. In paper II, we demonstrated that an increased apathy or anxiety status is related to future cognitive decline. In paper IV, we reported $A\beta$ to be a significant driver of increasing apathy or anxiety levels, and this partly independent from cognitive decline. However, current levels of depression were associated neither with AD pathology nor cognitive impairment.

Clarifying the complex interplay between these variables can be argued crucial for efficient trial study design in AD⁸. Yet more, the findings also indicate the clinical usefulness of detecting NPS. The results in paper II, point to the value of recognizing early development of apathy or anxiety, as they appear to be risk markers of a worsening cognition. In paper III the analyses demonstrate that MBI, already in individuals without objective cognitive deficits, can predict early AD-related tau deposition, and hence may even precede memory difficulties.

Aiding both research and clinical management, the findings in paper I indicate that the developed Swedish version of AES provides a psychometrically favorable assessment of apathy levels in older adults, with or without a potential underlying ND.

The central findings in the thesis have, in general, support by the previous literature. However, as there is considerable heterogeneity between reports in some areas of this scientific field, more work will be needed until a definite neurobiological signature of NPS in AD can be ultimately decided.

Future directions

To further disentangle the temporal and causal relationships between AD pathology, NPS, and cognition, the research field would benefit from more longitudinal studies as well as harmonization of study protocols. In parallel, future studies should also put more effort into demonstrating and operationalize the potential clinical utility of NPS. Three important areas of such work can be envisioned; i) recognition of early NPS due to AD in medical units not primarily oriented towards NCD, ii)

improvement and organization of the overall clinical management of NPS, and iii) use of NPS in clinical AD criteria.

Harmonization of neuropsychiatric symptom study protocols

The many conflicting observational reports, as well as the limited treatment options for NPS in AD, may well reflect the methodological heterogeneity and challenges in designing studies in this field of research. The span of methodological approaches is vast.

First, sample selection varies according to the cognitive stage of interest^{251, 252, 255, 270, 376}, their definitions²¹¹, and supposed etiology. Only a few studies have investigated samples with biomarker evidence of having $AD^{6, 281}$. Such samples, at least when investigating clinical stages, might reduce confounding by coexisting pathologies also associated with NPS. Additionally, when addressing preclinical stages of the disease, biomarker confirmation of AD pathology could probably increase the statistical power to detect more subtle associations between early NPS and AD-related pathologies that follows upon A β , as, tau or neurodegeneration.

Moreover, NPS (e.g., major depression) are suggested to impact cognition negatively³⁷⁷, which subsequently increases the risk of misclassification regarding cognitive stage and potentially introduces sampling bias²⁷⁶. For instance, individuals with MCI due to AD might be misclassified as demented given the additional load of major depression, rendering exclusion from the study. Depressed participants without an incipient ND can also mistakenly be included as MCI participants. When exploring rates of cognitive decline, a subsiding depressive episode with recovered cognition could then statistically parade as a health marker rather than a risk marker²⁴⁵.

Second, NPS is defined and assessed differently. Some report on NPS status by dichotomizing rating scale total scores^{216-219, 237, 241}, while others use diagnostic criteria^{220, 244, 245, 276, 378}. The proposed criteria specific for certain NPS in AD have rarely been used^{185, 198}. In some studies, associations between AD and a history of a past psychiatric disorder are explored^{275, 379, 380}, whereas most studies address the current level of NPS manifestations^{155, 211, 241, 266, 267}. Additionally, the rating scales used, as well as their rater sources, differ^{155, 211, 241, 266, 267, 381}. Furthermore, some studies explore the global level of NPS^{216, 219, 221, 222, 382}, while others explore individual NPS^{155, 211, 241, 267, 381}.

Third, the use of AD biomarkers has changed as technical advances have been made. Previously most studies rested upon CSF data, but today many investigators of NPS have turned to PET imaging. Even if the data generated from these techniques in many ways are related, both have their unique set of methodological challenges³⁸³⁻³⁸⁸, and seem to reflect on slightly different aspects of neuropathology and its development⁷⁶.

Fourth, consideration of the evolution and fluctuating nature of NPS varies. Most studies have adopted cross-sectional approaches^{155, 211, 266, 267}. Yet, longitudinal datasets are evolving, and give opportunity to address the directions of certain associations, as well as to control for the fluctuations of NPS over time. However, depending on the length of follow-up or the interval between assessments, longitudinal studies might have different likelihoods of detecting changes over time. possibly leading to different outcomes^{265, 280}. Importantly, some commonly used rating scales in the field are yet not proven to detect changes over time, e.g., for apathy³⁸⁹. Moreover, the length of follow-up might be of particular importance for intervention studies. The underlying pathologies of AD continuously progress in their detrimental effects on the brain. Intervention studies must therefore balance the need for a duration long enough to register a potential clinical effect on NPS, but still not so long that the ability to demonstrate an actual effect is compromised by the general disease progression³⁸¹. Additionally, trials need to decide where along the clinical AD continuum the drug is most likely to be efficient. Most intervention studies have addressed AD demented stages of disease when the brain injury is more profound^{241, 298}, and intervention in CU or MCI stages is less studied²⁹⁷.

Fifth, confounding factors are handled differently. Some have controlled for the significant overlap between certain NPS, such as apathy and depression, whereas many have not^{224, 266}. Other potentially critical confounders are ongoing pharmacological treatments, past or present psychiatric comorbidity, or the presence of other coexisting degenerative or vascular diseases of the brain³⁸¹.

To conclude, although the use of different methodologies has its advantages, too widely spread approaches can also add confusion and hinder comparisons between studies. It could be argued that future observational and intervention studies in the research field surrounding NPS in AD would benefit from harmonization of methods. Previous attempts have been made to formalize recommendations for study protocols encompassing clinical studies of apathy in AD¹⁰⁹. The field could now benefit from an update of these recommendations, extended to NPS in general and preferably authorized by an international working group.

Recognition of AD-related neuropsychiatric symptoms

The reported high prevalence of primary psychiatric diagnoses among not yet clinically diagnosed patients with AD¹⁵⁹, infers that these individuals seek initial healthcare in primary care settings or are early on referred to specialized medical centers not primarily oriented towards NCD, as psychiatry or geriatric medicine.

Future studies should aim to confirm these limited reports and further describe the various routes of seeking health care among AD patients. If it holds true that MBI/NPS can precede the cognitive deficits in AD and further that some AD patients consequently are initially handled in non-cognition oriented health care centers, the

medical routines in these settings might need to be revised in order to provide the patients with an as early and accurate diagnosis and management as possible.

The over-all clinical management of neuropsychiatric symptoms

While awaiting an AD disease-modifying treatment, the ultimate goal of the clinical care of AD patients and their caregivers is to sustain or regain a good quality of life.

Despite being demonstrated common and related to several negative outcomes¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁸, NPS is clinically often underecognized^{8, 157, 158}, with a missed opportunity of possible pharmacological and psychosocial interventions^{109, 297, 300, 390, 391}, as well as an overall structural management of NPS³⁹²⁻³⁹⁴.

An excellent example of recognizing NPS also in the early stages of the disease is the *Behavioral symptoms in Alzheimer's disease Towards early Identification and Treatment* (BEAT-IT) study. This study aims to structure and standardize early detection of NPS, implement current guidelines for NPS treatments, and investigate the effect of these interventions on quality of life¹⁵⁶.

Neuropsychiatric symptoms in future Alzheimer's disease criteria

In diagnostic criteria for AD (e.g., DSM-5 or the latest IWG criteria^{13, 84}), cognitive deficits in comparisons to NPS will inevitably contribute with a higher specificity towards underlying neuropathology and better predict clinical progression. NPS falls short as they occur not only in ND but also in several primary psychiatric disorders or even in normal psychological reactions. Furthermore, NPS is more difficult to objectively and reliably quantify^{395, 396}. Accordingly, it can be argued reasonable that clinical or clinical-biologically oriented diagnostic criteria historically have emphasized the role of cognitive deficits rather than NPS.

However, as criteria over time tend to be viewed not only as diagnostic tools but also mere descriptions of the disease in general, an absence of NPS in AD criteria may lead to them being clinically overlooked. This despite their known relation to clinically adverse outcomes. Moreover, as modern AD biomarkers have grown increasingly specific, future clinical-biological criteria could perhaps allow integration of NPS in their clinical parts. This at the expense of a somewhat lower specificity but in favor of an assumed increased sensitivity at least in the very earliest stages of the disease. Such criteria would also allow individuals with established AD pathology and NPS, but not cognitive deficits, to acquire a diagnosis of AD and subsequently enable them appropriate treatment and management.

To facilitate and further legitimize the incorporation of NPS in clinical-biological criteria, future work should establish better definitions for certain NPS in an AD context (e.g., depression in AD), provide even more robust NPS ratings with optimized cut-offs, and systematically study the added value of NPS in such criteria.

At last, development of a biologically oriented yet clinically applicable AD definition, not anchored in clinical manifestations, would paradoxically open the possibility to recognize the early and complete AD clinical syndrome once more.

Acknowledgements

While working on this thesis, one great insight is that good science rests upon collaborations. I am most humble and grateful for all help and support that has been given me.

Thank you, Professor **Oskar Hansson**, my main supervisor. I wish to convey my profound gratitude for taking me on, for accepting my stubbornness in studying NPS, and your most sensible feedback. You truly define a great scientist!

I want to express my very great appreciation to my co-supervisor, colleague, and friend, Doctor **Per Johansson**, for believing in me, for paving the way for me, and for always being there. You have taught me not only about scholarly work, but also about life.

I offer my sincere thanks to Associate Professor **Niklas Mattsson-Carlgren**, my co-supervisor, for getting me up in the saddle regarding statistics, and most importantly, for giving me direction when the way ahead was uncertain. I am lucky to have had such an intelligent and truly gifted teacher.

Thank you, Associate Professor **Sebastian Palmqvist**, my co-supervisor, for encouraging discussions, thoughtful advice regarding aspects of cognitive testing, and foremost your positive and prestigeless attitude.

I want to thank my co-supervisor Associate Professor Shorena Janelidze, for providing kind help with CSF analyses and methodology. Your knowledge is admirable.

Thank you, Doctor **Erik Stomrud**, for your joyful and positive attitude, invaluable help to administrate the AES rating scales, and detailed review of manuscripts. No one proof reads like you!

Thanks to my coauthors in the four papers, Associate Professor Danielle van Westen, Associate Professor Ruben Smith, Doctor Philip Insel, Doctor Antoine Leuzy, Anna Svenningsson, MD, Associate Professor Olof Lindberg, and Professor Erik Westman. You have all provided valuable help and knowledge.

Professor **Peter Hagell**, thank you for sharing your extensive psychometric knowledge and professional guidance while we were working on paper I.

Thank you, Associate Professor **Zahinoor Ismail**, for sharing the MBI-Checklist and our collaboration on paper III. I have much appreciated our stimulating and informal transatlantic NPS discussions.

I want to thank all researchers in **the BIOFINDER study group.** It has been a privilege to take part of your educative discussions, journal clubs, and power talks.

I further appreciate all to those that have helped me administrating or entering NPS data into the BIOFINDER database, including Malin Otthén, Rosita Nordkvist, Karin Nilsson, Emma Lindgren, Tone Sundberg-Brorsson, Ulrika Hallin, Hugo Dahl, Sara Lykke, Danial Ashouri, Eshan Peyvandi, Ida Friberg, Elin Sjödin, Johanna Fredlund and Leif Agnros.

Thanks to **Anne-Marie Rohrstock**, at the Clinical Memory Research Unit, Malmö, for efficient administrative help with planning the dissertation.

I am grateful to Director **Moa Wibom**, MD, and **ALL the staff** at the Clinic of Cognitive Medicine, Ängelholm Hospital. The positive and welcoming atmosphere you all have created, together with your sincerely caring for both patients and colleagues is amazing and have made my working days both enjoyable and interesting.

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my mentor and colleague **Ylva Ahremark**, MD, for your wisdom, kindhearted support, and thoughtful advice about life. You have the gift of being the best of listeners and are a real role model.

Thank you, **Gisela Larmark**, MD, Program Director of Residency in Clinical Psychiatry, Helsingborg Hospital. I have very much appreciated your fine-tuned balance between being considerate and caring, as well as being pragmatic and solution-oriented. As a master of puzzle, you have made my life easier. I further thank, chief administrator **Helen Samuelsson**, for your patience when battling the administrative challenges in the intersect between scientific and clinical work. I also want to thank Director **Maria Holst**, Psychiatric Clinic, Helsingborg Hospital, for recognizing the importance of clinical research.

Thank you, **Hans Fex Nielsen** and **Sandra Peric Malmros** at the economic administration at the Psychiatric Clinic, as well as **Ulla-Britt Carlsson** at the R&D unit at Helsingborg Hospital, for keeping the finances in check.

Thank you, Professor **Elisabet Englund**, for your enthusiastic approach and for recommending my PhD project to research funders. It meant a lot to me!

Thank you, Professor Lars-Olof Wahlund and Associate Professor Daniel Lindqvist, for your valuable half-time review.

Thanks to Professor **Anders Wallin**, for inviting me to speak at one of the annual scientific meetings arranged by the Swedish Association of Cognitive Medicine, and for continued informal and stimulating discussions about NPS research.

Farshid Sheikhvand, MD, thank you for including me as a recurrent speaker at your medical courses. Besides giving me the opportunity to share my thoughts, these occasions have also advanced my understanding of NPS.

My dear friend **Mårten Carlsson**, MD, thank you for opening my eyes to neuroscience, for our shared dreams and ambitions, and for giving me the courage. I miss you.

Thank you, Doctor **Jonas Tverring**. We have both set out on an academic journey. Your company, relaxed view on life, and statistical understanding, made you one of the best of travel mates.

Thanks to my good friend from university, **Erik Levin**, MD, for painting the front cover, and for all the imaginative adventures we have shared together.

Thank you, my old friends, **Pontus Hedén** and **Daniel Ringdahl**, for initial help with translation and for good friendship in all situations.

I further want to thank **the many funders** that have contributed to both BF-I and BF-II. In particular, I would like to thank those that have directly supported this thesis, including **Elly Berggren's Foundation**, Stig and Ragna Gorthon's **Foundation**, Thelma Zoéga's Foundation, and the Swedish Federal Government under the ALF agreement.

I also want to thank the **study participants** and their **informants** for sharing time and efforts. Your willingness to contribute is invaluable.

My family has my deepest appreciation. I thank my parents Lena Åberg and Sven Erik Johansson, as well as my twin-brother Martin Johansson and his family, for unconditional love and support. I further thank my valued mother-in-law Eva Svensson for help with occasional (and often acute) figure edits, and Petter and Lisa Möstl for providing me with laughter, energy and kalops.

But most of all I want to thank my beloved wife **Hanna Johansson**, MD, for all support. I will always treasure your love, your brilliant mind, and our never-ending conversation. Me, and our dear children **Dagmar**, **Hedda**, and **our newborn son**, are most fortunate to have you!

References

- 1. Warren HC. In defense of some discarded concepts. *Psychol Rev* 1931; **38**(5): 392-405.
- 2. Pandya SK. Understanding brain, mind and soul: contributions from neurology and neurosurgery. *Mens Sana Monogr* 2011; **9**(1): 129-149.
- Braak H, Braak E. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol 1991; 82(4): 239-259.
- Geda YE, Roberts RO, Knopman DS, Petersen RC, Christianson TJ, Pankratz VS *et al.* Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment and normal cognitive aging: population-based study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2008; 65(10): 1193-1198.
- Lyketsos CG, Lopez O, Jones B, Fitzpatrick AL, Breitner J, DeKosky S. Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia and mild cognitive impairment: results from the cardiovascular health study. *JAMA* 2002; 288(12): 1475-1483.
- Eikelboom WS, van den Berg E, Singleton EH, Baart SJ, Coesmans M, Leeuwis AE *et al.* Neuropsychiatric and Cognitive Symptoms Across the Alzheimer Disease Clinical Spectrum. *Neurology* 2021; 97(13): e1276.
- Lyketsos CG, Carrillo MC, Ryan JM, Khachaturian AS, Trzepacz P, Amatniek J *et al.* Neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 2011; 7(5): 532-539.
- 8. Lanctôt KL, Amatniek J, Ancoli-Israel S, Arnold SE, Ballard C, Cohen-Mansfield J *et al.* Neuropsychiatric signs and symptoms of Alzheimer's disease: New treatment paradigms. *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)* 2017; **3**(3): 440-449.
- 9. McKeith I, Cummings J. Behavioural changes and psychological symptoms in dementia disorders. *The Lancet Neurology* 2005; **4**(11): 735-742.
- Ismail Z, Smith EE, Geda Y, Sultzer D, Brodaty H, Smith G *et al.* Neuropsychiatric symptoms as early manifestations of emergent dementia: Provisional diagnostic criteria for mild behavioral impairment. *Alzheimers Dement* 2016; 12(2): 195-202.
- 11. Ossenkoppele R, Singleton EH, Groot C, Dijkstra AA, Eikelboom WS, Seeley WW *et al.* Provisional research criteria for the behavioral variant of Alzheimer's disease A systematic review and meta-analysis. *medRxiv* 2021: 2021.2009.2008.21263253.
- 12. Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Cognitive. <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/cognitive</u>. Accessed November 17, 2021.
- 13. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders :* DSM-5. Fifth edition. Arlington, VA : American Psychiatric Association, [2013]2013.
- Hartshorne JK, Germine LT. When does cognitive functioning peak? The asynchronous rise and fall of different cognitive abilities across the life span. *Psychol Sci* 2015; 26(4): 433-443.
- 15. Baxendale S. IQ and ability across the adult life span. *Appl Neuropsychol* 2011; **18**(3): 164-167.
- 16. Harada CN, Natelson Love MC, Triebel KL. Normal cognitive aging. *Clin Geriatr Med* 2013; **29**(4): 737-752.
- 17. Donohue MC, Sperling RA, Petersen R, Sun CK, Weiner MW, Aisen PS. Association Between Elevated Brain Amyloid and Subsequent Cognitive Decline Among Cognitively Normal Persons. *JAMA* 2017; **317**(22): 2305-2316.

- Wolk DA, Sadowsky C, Safirstein B, Rinne JO, Duara R, Perry R et al. Use of Flutemetamol F 18-Labeled Positron Emission Tomography and Other Biomarkers to Assess Risk of Clinical Progression in Patients With Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment. JAMA Neurol 2018; 75(9): 1114-1123.
- Page S, Fletcher T. Auguste D: One hundred years on: 'The person'not 'the case'. Dementia 2006; 5(4): 571-583.
- Maurer K, Volk S, Gerbaldo H. Auguste D and Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet* 1997; 349(9064): 1546-1549.
- 21. Konrad Maurer UM. *Alzheimer das leben eines Arztes und die Karriere einer Krankheit.* Columbia University Press2003.
- 22. Müller U, Winter P, Graeber MB. A presenilin 1 mutation in the first case of Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol* 2013; **12**(2): 129-130.
- 23. Mandell AM, Green RC. Alzheimer's Disease. *The Handbook of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, pp 1-91.
- 24. National Institute on Aging. What Are the Signs of Alzheimer's Disease? <u>https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/what-are-signs-alzheimers-disease</u>. Accessed December 28, 2021.
- 25. Svenskt Demenscentrum. Sjukdomens faser. <u>https://www.demenscentrum.se/fakta-om-</u> <u>demens/demenssjukdomar/alzheimers-sjukdom/sjukdomens-faser</u>. Accessed December 28, 2021.
- 26. Knopman DS, Amieva H, Petersen RC, Chételat G, Holtzman DM, Hyman BT *et al.* Alzheimer disease. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2021; **7**(1): 33-33.
- 27. Galton CJ, Patterson K, Xuereb JH, Hodges JR. Atypical and typical presentations of Alzheimer's disease: a clinical, neuropsychological, neuroimaging and pathological study of 13 cases. *Brain* 2000; **123**(3): 484-498.
- 28. Haaksma ML, Eriksdotter M, Rizzuto D, Leoutsakos J-MS, Olde Rikkert MGM, Melis RJF *et al.* Survival time tool to guide care planning in people with dementia. *Neurology* 2020; **94**(5): e538-e548.
- 29. Kalaria RN, Maestre GE, Arizaga R, Friedland RP, Galasko D, Hall K *et al.* Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia in developing countries: prevalence, management, and risk factors. *The Lancet Neurology* 2008; 7(9): 812-826.
- Blennow K, de Leon MJ, Zetterberg H. Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet* 2006; 368(9533): 387-403.
- 31. Economic UNDo, Affairs S. *World Population Ageing 2019*. United Nations2020.
- 32. Burns A, Rabins P. Carer burden dementia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2000; **15 Suppl 1:** S9-13.
- Prince M, Wimo A, Guerchet M, Ali MG-C, Wu Y-T, Prina M. World Alzheimer Report 2015. The global impact of dementia: an analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends.: Alzheimer's Disease International; 2015.
- 34. Luengo-Fernandez R, Leal J, Gray A. UK research spend in 2008 and 2012: comparing stroke, cancer, coronary heart disease and dementia. *BMJ Open* 2015; **5**(4): e006648.
- 35. Hansson O. Biomarkers for neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat Med* 2021.
- 36. Wang Y, Mandelkow E. Tau in physiology and pathology. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 2016; **17**(1): 22-35.
- 37. Zhang H, Cao Y, Ma L, Wei Y, Li H. Possible Mechanisms of Tau Spread and Toxicity in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol* 2021; **9**: 707268.
- Dawson HN, Cantillana V, Jansen M, Wang H, Vitek MP, Wilcock DM *et al.* Loss of tau elicits axonal degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience* 2010; 169(1): 516-531.
- Dawson HN, Ferreira A, Eyster MV, Ghoshal N, Binder LI, Vitek MP. Inhibition of neuronal maturation in primary hippocampal neurons from tau deficient mice. *J Cell Sci* 2001; 114(Pt 6): 1179-1187.

- 40. Cowan CM, Mudher A. Are tau aggregates toxic or protective in tauopathies? *Front Neurol* 2013; **4:** 114-114.
- 41. Hardy JA, Higgins GA. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Science* 1992; **256**(5054): 184-185.
- Selkoe DJ, Hardy J. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. *EMBO Mol Med* 2016; 8(6): 595-608.
- 43. Hardy J, Selkoe DJ. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 2002; **297**(5580): 353-356.
- 44. He Z, Guo JL, McBride JD, Narasimhan S, Kim H, Changolkar L *et al*. Amyloid-β plaques enhance Alzheimer's brain tau-seeded pathologies by facilitating neuritic plaque tau aggregation. *Nat Med* 2018; 24(1): 29-38.
- 45. Götz J, Chen F, van Dorpe J, Nitsch RM. Formation of neurofibrillary tangles in P3011 tau transgenic mice induced by Abeta 42 fibrils. *Science* 2001; **293**(5534): 1491-1495.
- 46. Rapoport M, Dawson HN, Binder LI, Vitek MP, Ferreira A. Tau is essential to beta amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002; **99**(9): 6364-6369.
- 47. Roberson ED, Scearce-Levie K, Palop JJ, Yan F, Cheng IH, Wu T *et al.* Reducing endogenous tau ameliorates amyloid beta-induced deficits in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Science* 2007; **316**(5825): 750-754.
- Bloom GS. Amyloid-β and tau: the trigger and bullet in Alzheimer disease pathogenesis. JAMA Neurol 2014; 71(4): 505-508.
- 49. Bateman RJ, Aisen PS, De Strooper B, Fox NC, Lemere CA, Ringman JM *et al.* Autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease: a review and proposal for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 2011; **3**(1): 1-1.
- 50. Snyder HM, Bain LJ, Brickman AM, Carrillo MC, Esbensen AJ, Espinosa JM *et al.* Further understanding the connection between Alzheimer's disease and Down syndrome. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2020; **16**(7): 1065-1077.
- 51. Buchhave P, Minthon L, Zetterberg H, Wallin AK, Blennow K, Hansson O. Cerebrospinal fluid levels of β-amyloid 1-42, but not of tau, are fully changed already 5 to 10 years before the onset of Alzheimer dementia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2012; **69**(1): 98-106.
- 52. Villemagne VL, Burnham S, Bourgeat P, Brown B, Ellis KA, Salvado O *et al.* Amyloid β deposition, neurodegeneration, and cognitive decline in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* 2013; **12**(4): 357-367.
- 53. Villemagne VL, Dore V, Bourgeat P, Burnham SC, Laws S, Salvado O *et al.* Abetaamyloid and Tau Imaging in Dementia. *Semin Nucl Med* 2017; **47**(1): 75-88.
- Ossenkoppele R, Smith R, Ohlsson T, Strandberg O, Mattsson N, Insel PS *et al.* Associations between tau, Aβ, and cortical thickness with cognition in Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 2019; 92(6): e601-e612.
- 55. Maass A, Lockhart SN, Harrison TM, Bell RK, Mellinger T, Swinnerton K et al. Entorhinal Tau Pathology, Episodic Memory Decline, and Neurodegeneration in Aging. J Neurosci 2018; 38(3): 530-543.
- 56. Bejanin A, Schonhaut DR, La Joie R, Kramer JH, Baker SL, Sosa N *et al.* Tau pathology and neurodegeneration contribute to cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 2017; **140**(12): 3286-3300.
- 57. Ossenkoppele R, Schonhaut DR, Schöll M, Lockhart SN, Ayakta N, Baker SL *et al.* Tau PET patterns mirror clinical and neuroanatomical variability in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 2016; **139**(Pt 5): 1551-1567.
- 58. Jack CR, Wiste HJ, Botha H, Weigand SD, Therneau TM, Knopman DS *et al.* The bivariate distribution of amyloid-beta and tau: relationship with established neurocognitive clinical syndromes. *Brain* 2019; **142**(10): 3230-3242.
- 59. Jack CR, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, Therneau TM, Lowe VJ, Knopman DS *et al.* Predicting future rates of tau accumulation on PET. *Brain* 2020; **143**(10): 3136-3150.

- Janelidze S, Berron D, Smith R, Strandberg O, Proctor NK, Dage JL *et al.* Associations of Plasma Phospho-Tau217 Levels With Tau Positron Emission Tomography in Early Alzheimer Disease. *JAMA Neurol* 2021; 78(2): 149-156.
- 61. Mattsson-Carlgren N, Andersson E, Janelidze S, Ossenkoppele R, Insel P, Strandberg O *et al.* Aβ deposition is associated with increases in soluble and phosphorylated tau that precede a positive Tau PET in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Adv* 2020; **6**(16): eaaz2387.
- Sato C, Barthélemy NR, Mawuenyega KG, Patterson BW, Gordon BA, Jockel-Balsarotti J et al. Tau Kinetics in Neurons and the Human Central Nervous System. *Neuron* 2018; 97(6): 1284-1298.e1287.
- 63. Mattsson-Carlgren N, Janelidze S, Bateman RJ, Smith R, Stomrud E, Serrano GE *et al.* Soluble P-tau217 reflects amyloid and tau pathology and mediates the association of amyloid with tau. *EMBO Mol Med* 2021; **13**(6): e14022.
- 64. Hanseeuw BJ, Betensky RA, Jacobs HIL, Schultz AP, Sepulcre J, Becker JA *et al.* Association of Amyloid and Tau With Cognition in Preclinical Alzheimer Disease: A Longitudinal Study. *JAMA Neurol* 2019; **76**(8): 915-924.
- 65. d'Errico P, Meyer-Luehmann M. Mechanisms of Pathogenic Tau and Aβ Protein Spreading in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Aging Neurosci* 2020; **12**: 265.
- 66. Goedert M, Eisenberg DS, Crowther RA. Propagation of Tau Aggregates and Neurodegeneration. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 2017; **40:** 189-210.
- 67. Brettschneider J, Del Tredici K, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ. Spreading of pathology in neurodegenerative diseases: a focus on human studies. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2015; **16**(2): 109-120.
- Mattsson N, Palmqvist S, Stomrud E, Vogel J, Hansson O. Staging β-Amyloid Pathology With Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography. *JAMA Neurol* 2019; **76**(11): 1319-1329.
- Collij LE, Heeman F, Salvadó G, Ingala S, Altomare D, de Wilde A *et al.* Multitracer model for staging cortical amyloid deposition using PET imaging. *Neurology* 2020; 95(11): e1538-e1553.
- 70. Cho H, Choi JY, Hwang MS, Kim YJ, Lee HM, Lee HS *et al.* In vivo cortical spreading pattern of tau and amyloid in the Alzheimer disease spectrum. *Ann Neurol* 2016; **80**(2): 247-258.
- Braak H, Alafuzoff I, Arzberger T, Kretzschmar H, Del Tredici K. Staging of Alzheimer disease-associated neurofibrillary pathology using paraffin sections and immunocytochemistry. *Acta Neuropathol* 2006; **112**(4): 389-404.
- 72. Pereira JB, Ossenkoppele R, Palmqvist S, Strandberg TO, Smith R, Westman E *et al.* Amyloid and tau accumulate across distinct spatial networks and are differentially associated with brain connectivity. *Elife* 2019; **8**: e50830.
- 73. Hansson O, Grothe MJ, Strandberg TO, Ohlsson T, Hägerström D, Jögi J *et al.* Tau Pathology Distribution in Alzheimer's disease Corresponds Differentially to Cognition-Relevant Functional Brain Networks. *Front Neurosci* 2017; **11**: 167-167.
- 74. Dosenbach NU, Fair DA, Miezin FM, Cohen AL, Wenger KK, Dosenbach RA et al. Distinct brain networks for adaptive and stable task control in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104(26): 11073-11078.
- 75. Spreng RN, Stevens WD, Chamberlain JP, Gilmore AW, Schacter DL. Default network activity, coupled with the frontoparietal control network, supports goal-directed cognition. *Neuroimage* 2010; **53**(1): 303-317.
- 76. Hansson O. Biomarkers for neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat Med* 2021; 27(6): 954-963.
- Crutch SJ, Schott JM, Rabinovici GD, Murray M, Snowden JS, van der Flier WM *et al.* Consensus classification of posterior cortical atrophy. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2017; 13(8): 870-884.
- 78. Gorno-Tempini ML, Hillis AE, Weintraub S, Kertesz A, Mendez M, Cappa SF *et al.* Classification of primary progressive aphasia and its variants. *Neurology* 2011; **76**(11): 1006-1014.

- Vogel JW, Young AL, Oxtoby NP, Smith R, Ossenkoppele R, Strandberg OT *et al.* Four distinct trajectories of tau deposition identified in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med* 2021; 27(5): 871-881.
- 80. Strimbu K, Tavel JA. What are biomarkers? *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2010; 5(6): 463-466.
- 81. Blennow K, Zetterberg H. Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: current status and prospects for the future. *J Intern Med* 2018; **284**(6): 643-663.
- 82. Wright BLC, Lai JTF, Sinclair AJ. Cerebrospinal fluid and lumbar puncture: a practical review. *J Neurol* 2012; **259**(8): 1530-1545.
- Jack CR, Jr., Bennett DA, Blennow K, Carrillo MC, Dunn B, Haeberlein SB *et al.* NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 2018; 14(4): 535-562.
- Dubois B, Villain N, Frisoni GB, Rabinovici GD, Sabbagh M, Cappa S et al. Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations of the International Working Group. *The Lancet Neurology* 2021; 20(6): 484-496.
- 85. Hansson O, Lehmann S, Otto M, Zetterberg H, Lewczuk P. Advantages and disadvantages of the use of the CSF Amyloid β (A β) 42/40 ratio in the diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 2019; **11**(1): 34.
- Janelidze S, Mattsson N, Palmqvist S, Smith R, Beach TG, Serrano GE *et al.* Plasma P-tau181 in Alzheimer's disease: relationship to other biomarkers, differential diagnosis, neuropathology and longitudinal progression to Alzheimer's dementia. *Nat Med* 2020; 26(3): 379-386.
- 87. Palmqvist S, Insel PS, Stomrud E, Janelidze S, Zetterberg H, Brix B *et al.* Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma biomarker trajectories with increasing amyloid deposition in Alzheimer's disease. *EMBO Mol Med* 2019; **11**(12): e11170.
- Barthélemy NR, Li Y, Joseph-Mathurin N, Gordon BA, Hassenstab J, Benzinger TLS *et al.* A soluble phosphorylated tau signature links tau, amyloid and the evolution of stages of dominantly inherited Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med* 2020; 26(3): 398-407.
- Janelidze S, Stomrud E, Smith R, Palmqvist S, Mattsson N, Airey DC *et al.* Cerebrospinal fluid p-tau217 performs better than p-tau181 as a biomarker of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Commun* 2020; **11**(1): 1683.
- 90. Yuan A, Rao MV, Veeranna, Nixon RA. Neurofilaments at a glance. *J Cell Sci* 2012; **125**(Pt 14): 3257-3263.
- 91. Leuzy A, Mattsson-Carlgren N, Palmqvist S, Janelidze S, Dage JL, Hansson O. Bloodbased biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease. *EMBO Mol Med*; n/a(n/a): e14408.
- 92. Palmqvist S, Janelidze S, Quiroz YT, Zetterberg H, Lopera F, Stomrud E et al. Discriminative Accuracy of Plasma Phospho-tau217 for Alzheimer Disease vs Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. JAMA 2020; 324(8): 772-781.
- 93. Palmqvist S, Tideman P, Cullen N, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Dage JL *et al.* Prediction of future Alzheimer's disease dementia using plasma phospho-tau combined with other accessible measures. *Nat Med* 2021; **27**(6): 1034-1042.
- Lameka K, Farwell MD, Ichise M. Chapter 11 Positron Emission Tomography. In: Masdeu JC, González RG (eds). *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, vol. 135. Elsevier2016, pp 209-227.
- 95. Lowe VJ, Curran G, Fang P, Liesinger AM, Josephs KA, Parisi JE *et al.* An autoradiographic evaluation of AV-1451 Tau PET in dementia. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* 2016; **4**(1): 58.
- 96. Ossenkoppele R, Rabinovici GD, Smith R, Cho H, Schöll M, Strandberg O et al. Discriminative Accuracy of [18F]flortaucipir Positron Emission Tomography for Alzheimer Disease vs Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. JAMA 2018; 320(11): 1151-1162.
- 97. Leuzy A, Smith R, Ossenkoppele R, Santillo A, Borroni E, Klein G *et al.* Diagnostic Performance of RO948 F 18 Tau Positron Emission Tomography in the Differentiation of

Alzheimer Disease From Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. *JAMA Neurol* 2020; 77(8): 955-965.

- 98. Berger A. Magnetic resonance imaging. *BMJ* 2002; **324**(7328): 35.
- 99. Johnson KA, Fox NC, Sperling RA, Klunk WE. Brain imaging in Alzheimer disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 2012; **2**(4): a006213.
- 100. Pini L, Pievani M, Bocchetta M, Altomare D, Bosco P, Cavedo E *et al.* Brain atrophy in Alzheimer's Disease and aging. *Ageing Research Reviews* 2016; **30**: 25-48.
- 101. Vatanabe IP, Manzine PR, Cominetti MR. Historic concepts of dementia and Alzheimer's disease: From ancient times to the present. *Rev Neurol (Paris)* 2020; **176**(3): 140-147.
- 102. McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM. Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurology* 1984; 34(7): 939-944.
- Jagust WJ. The changing definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol* 2021; 20(6): 414-415.
- Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *J Intern Med* 2004; 256(3): 183-194.
- 105. Petersen RC, Smith GE, Waring SC, Ivnik RJ, Kokmen E, Tangelos EG. Aging, memory, and mild cognitive impairment. *Int Psychogeriatr* 1997; **9 Suppl 1:** 65-69.
- 106. Petersen RC, Doody R, Kurz A, Mohs RC, Morris JC, Rabins PV *et al.* Current Concepts in Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Arch Neurol* 2001; **58**(12): 1985-1992.
- 107. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders : DSM-IV-TR. . Fourth edition. Washington, DC : American Psychiatric Association, [2000].2000.
- Cummings JL, Tong G, Ballard C. Treatment Combinations for Alzheimer's Disease: Current and Future Pharmacotherapy Options. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2019; 67: 779-794.
- 109. Cummings J. New approaches to symptomatic treatments for Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurodegener* 2021; **16**(1): 2.
- 110. Hampel H, Mesulam MM, Cuello AC, Farlow MR, Giacobini E, Grossberg GT *et al.* The cholinergic system in the pathophysiology and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 2018; **141**(7): 1917-1933.
- 111. Schneider LS, Dagerman KS, Higgins JPT, McShane R. Lack of Evidence for the Efficacy of Memantine in Mild Alzheimer Disease. *Arch Neurol* 2011; **68**(8): 991-998.
- 112. Cummings J, Lee G, Zhong K, Fonseca J, Taghva K. Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2021. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions* 2021; 7(1): e12179.
- 113. Patrizia Cavazzoni. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA's Decision to Approve New Treatment for Alzheimer's Disease. <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/news-events-humandrugs/fdas-decision-approve-new-treatment-alzheimers-disease</u>. Accessed December 29, 2021.
- 114. European Medicines Agency. Aduhelm. <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/summaries-opinion/aduhelm</u>. Accessed December 29, 2021.
- 115. Prins ND, van Dijk EJ, den Heijer T, Vermeer SE, Jolles J, Koudstaal PJ *et al.* Cerebral small-vessel disease and decline in information processing speed, executive function and memory. *Brain* 2005; **128**(Pt 9): 2034-2041.
- 116. Cannistraro RJ, Badi M, Eidelman BH, Dickson DW, Middlebrooks EH, Meschia JF. CNS small vessel disease: A clinical review. *Neurology* 2019; **92**(24): 1146-1156.
- Kalaria RN, Erkinjuntti T. Small vessel disease and subcortical vascular dementia. J Clin Neurol 2006; 2(1): 1-11.
- 118. Wen W, Sachdev P. The topography of white matter hyperintensities on brain MRI in healthy 60- to 64-year-old individuals. *Neuroimage* 2004; **22**(1): 144-154.

- 119. Xiong YY, Mok V. Age-related white matter changes. *Journal of aging research* 2011; **2011:** 617927-617927.
- 120. Inzitari D, Carlucci G, Pantoni L. White matter changes: the clinical consequences in the aging population. *J Neural Transm Suppl* 2000; **59:** 1-8.
- 121. Filley CM, Fields RD. White matter and cognition: making the connection. *J Neurophysiol* 2016; **116**(5): 2093-2104.
- 122. Abraham HMA, Wolfson L, Moscufo N, Guttmann CRG, Kaplan RF, White WB. Cardiovascular risk factors and small vessel disease of the brain: Blood pressure, white matter lesions, and functional decline in older persons. *Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism* 2016; **36**(1): 132-142.
- 123. Lin J, Wang D, Lan L, Fan Y. Multiple Factors Involved in the Pathogenesis of White Matter Lesions. *Biomed Res Int* 2017; **2017**: 9372050.
- 124. Global, regional, and national burden of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol* 2019; **18**(1): 88-106.
- 125. Kalia LV, Lang AE. Parkinson's disease. *The Lancet* 2015; **386**(9996): 896-912.
- 126. Taylor J-P, McKeith IG, Burn DJ, Boeve BF, Weintraub D, Bamford C *et al*. New evidence on the management of Lewy body dementia. *The Lancet Neurology* 2020; **19**(2): 157-169.
- 127. Aarsland D, Kurz MW. The epidemiology of dementia associated with Parkinson disease. *J Neurol Sci* 2010; **289**(1-2): 18-22.
- 128. Braak H, Del Tredici K, Rüb U, de Vos RA, Jansen Steur EN, Braak E. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 2003; **24**(2): 197-211.
- 129. McKeith IG, Boeve BF, Dickson DW, Halliday G, Taylor JP, Weintraub D *et al.* Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. *Neurology* 2017; **89**(1): 88-100.
- 130. Walker Z, Possin KL, Boeve BF, Aarsland D. Lewy Body Dementias. *Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ)* 2017; **15**(1): 85-100.
- 131. Erkkinen MG, Kim MO, Geschwind MD. Clinical Neurology and Epidemiology of the Major Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 2018; **10**(4).
- Bang J, Spina S, Miller BL. Frontotemporal dementia. *The Lancet* 2015; **386**(10004): 1672-1682.
- 133. Onyike CU, Diehl-Schmid J. The epidemiology of frontotemporal dementia. *Int Rev Psychiatry* 2013; **25**(2): 130-137.
- Landqvist Waldö M, Gustafson L, Passant U, Englund E. Psychotic symptoms in frontotemporal dementia: a diagnostic dilemma? *Int Psychogeriatr* 2015; 27(4): 531-539.
- Olney NT, Spina S, Miller BL. Frontotemporal Dementia. *Neurol Clin* 2017; 35(2): 339-374.
- 136. Ducharme S, Dols A, Laforce R, Devenney E, Kumfor F, van den Stock J *et al.* Recommendations to distinguish behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia from psychiatric disorders. *Brain* 2020; **143**(6): 1632-1650.
- Hodges JR, Piguet O. Progress and Challenges in Frontotemporal Dementia Research: A 20-Year Review. J Alzheimers Dis 2018; 62(3): 1467-1480.
- 138. Nelson PT, Dickson DW, Trojanowski JQ, Jack CR, Boyle PA, Arfanakis K *et al.* Limbicpredominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (LATE): consensus working group report. *Brain* 2019; **142**(6): 1503-1527.
- 139. Zhang L, Chen Y, Liu M, Wang Y, Peng G. TDP-43 and Limbic-Predominant Age-Related TDP-43 Encephalopathy. *Front Aging Neurosci* 2019; **11**: 376.
- 140. Morgane PJ, Galler JR, Mokler DJ. A review of systems and networks of the limbic forebrain/limbic midbrain. *Prog Neurobiol* 2005; **75**(2): 143-160.

- 141. Sennik S, Schweizer TA, Fischer CE, Munoz DG. Risk Factors and Pathological Substrates Associated with Agitation/Aggression in Alzheimer's Disease: A Preliminary Study using NACC Data. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2017; **55**(4): 1519-1528.
- 142. Liu KY, Reeves S, McAleese KE, Attems J, Francis P, Thomas A *et al.* Neuropsychiatric symptoms in limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy and Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 2020; **143**(12): 3842-3849.
- 143. Kaufman SK, Del Tredici K, Thomas TL, Braak H, Diamond MI. Tau seeding activity begins in the transentorhinal/entorhinal regions and anticipates phospho-tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease and PART. *Acta Neuropathol* 2018; **136**(1): 57-67.
- Braak H, Thal DR, Ghebremedhin E, Del Tredici K. Stages of the pathologic process in Alzheimer disease: age categories from 1 to 100 years. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 2011; 70(11): 960-969.
- 145. Braak H, Del Tredici K. The pathological process underlying Alzheimer's disease in individuals under thirty. *Acta Neuropathol* 2011; **121**(2): 171-181.
- 146. Braak H, Braak E. Frequency of Stages of Alzheimer-Related Lesions in Different Age Categories. *Neurobiol Aging* 1997; **18**(4): 351-357.
- 147. Itoh, Yamada M, Yoshida R, Suematsu N, Oka T, Matsushita M *et al.* Dementia characterized by abundant neurofibrillary tangles and scarce senile plaques: a quantitative pathological study. *Eur Neurol* 1996; **36**(2): 94-97.
- 148. Jellinger KA, Bancher C. Senile dementia with tangles (tangle predominant form of senile dementia). *Brain Pathol* 1998; **8**(2): 367-376.
- 149. Crary JF, Trojanowski JQ, Schneider JA, Abisambra JF, Abner EL, Alafuzoff I et al. Primary age-related tauopathy (PART): a common pathology associated with human aging. Acta Neuropathol 2014; 128(6): 755-766.
- Hickman RA, Flowers XE, Wisniewski T. Primary Age-Related Tauopathy (PART): Addressing the Spectrum of Neuronal Tauopathic Changes in the Aging Brain. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2020; 20(9): 39.
- 151. Okura T, Plassman BL, Steffens DC, Llewellyn DJ, Potter GG, Langa KM. Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms and their association with functional limitations in older adults in the United States: the aging, demographics, and memory study. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2010; 58(2): 330-337.
- 152. Steinberg M, Shao H, Zandi P, Lyketsos CG, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Norton MC *et al.* Point and 5-year period prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia: the Cache County Study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2008; **23**(2): 170-177.
- 153. Zhao QF, Tan L, Wang HF, Jiang T, Tan MS, Tan L *et al.* The prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord* 2016; **190:** 264-271.
- 154. Okura T, Plassman BL, Steffens DC, Llewellyn DJ, Potter GG, Langa KM. Neuropsychiatric symptoms and the risk of institutionalization and death: the aging, demographics, and memory study. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2011; **59**(3): 473-481.
- 155. Chen Y, Dang M, Zhang Z. Brain mechanisms underlying neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review of symptom-general and -specific lesion patterns. *Mol Neurodegener* 2021; **16**(1): 38.
- 156. Eikelboom WS, Singleton E, van den Berg E, Coesmans M, Mattace Raso F, van Bruchem RL *et al.* Early recognition and treatment of neuropsychiatric symptoms to improve quality of life in early Alzheimer's disease: protocol of the BEAT-IT study. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 2019; **11**(1): 48-48.
- 157. Braun A, Trivedi DP, Dickinson A, Hamilton L, Goodman C, Gage H et al. Managing behavioural and psychological symptoms in community dwelling older people with dementia: 2. A systematic review of qualitative studies. *Dementia (London)* 2019; 18(7-8): 2950-2970.
- 158. Kales HC, Gitlin LN, Lyketsos CG, Detroit Expert Panel on A, Management of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms of D. Management of neuropsychiatric symptoms of dementia

in clinical settings: recommendations from a multidisciplinary expert panel. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014; **62**(4): 762-769.

- 159. Woolley JD, Khan BK, Murthy NK, Miller BL, Rankin KP. The diagnostic challenge of psychiatric symptoms in neurodegenerative disease: rates of and risk factors for prior psychiatric diagnosis in patients with early neurodegenerative disease. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2011; **72**(2): 126-133.
- 160. Wadsworth LP, Lorius N, Donovan NJ, Locascio JJ, Rentz DM, Johnson KA *et al.* Neuropsychiatric symptoms and global functional impairment along the Alzheimer's continuum. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 2012; **34**(2): 96-111.
- 161. Borda MG, Aarsland D, Tovar-Rios DA, Giil LM, Ballard C, Gonzalez MC et al. Neuropsychiatric Symptoms and Functional Decline in Alzheimer's Disease and Lewy Body Dementia. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020; 68(10): 2257-2263.
- 162. Boyle PA, Malloy PF, Salloway S, Cahn-Weiner DA, Cohen R, Cummings JL. Executive dysfunction and apathy predict functional impairment in Alzheimer disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2003; **11**(2): 214-221.
- 163. Palmer K, Lupo F, Perri R, Salamone G, Fadda L, Caltagirone C *et al.* Predicting disease progression in Alzheimer's disease: the role of neuropsychiatric syndromes on functional and cognitive decline. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2011; **24**(1): 35-45.
- 164. You SC, Walsh CM, Chiodo LA, Ketelle R, Miller BL, Kramer JH. Neuropsychiatric Symptoms Predict Functional Status in Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis 2015; 48(3): 863-869.
- 165. Paradise M, McCade D, Hickie IB, Diamond K, Lewis SJ, Naismith SL. Caregiver burden in mild cognitive impairment. *Aging Ment Health* 2015; **19**(1): 72-78.
- 166. Hayashi S, Terada S, Nagao S, Ikeda C, Shindo A, Oshima E et al. Burden of caregivers for patients with mild cognitive impairment in Japan. Int Psychogeriatr 2013; 25(8): 1357-1363.
- 167. Roberto KA, McCann BR, Blieszner R. Trajectories of care: spouses coping with changes related to mild cognitive impairment. *Dementia (London)* 2013; **12**(1): 45-62.
- 168. Ulstein I, Wyller TB, Engedal K. High score on the Relative Stress Scale, a marker of possible psychiatric disorder in family carers of patients with dementia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2007; **22**(3): 195-202.
- 169. Chen CT, Chang CC, Chang WN, Tsai NW, Huang CC, Chang YT *et al.* Neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: associations with caregiver burden and treatment outcomes. *QJM* 2017; **110**(9): 565-570.
- 170. Terum TM, Andersen JR, Rongve A, Aarsland D, Svendsboe EJ, Testad I. The relationship of specific items on the Neuropsychiatric Inventory to caregiver burden in dementia: a systematic review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2017; **32**(7): 703-717.
- 171. Steele C, Rovner B, Chase GA, Folstein M. Psychiatric symptoms and nursing home placement of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Psychiatry* 1990; **147**(8): 1049-1051.
- 172. Isik AT, Soysal P, Solmi M, Veronese N. Bidirectional relationship between caregiver burden and neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with Alzheimer's disease: A narrative review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2019; **34**(9): 1326-1334.
- 173. Stern Y, Tang MX, Albert MS, Brandt J, Jacobs DM, Bell K *et al.* Predicting time to nursing home care and death in individuals with Alzheimer disease. *JAMA* 1997; **277**(10): 806-812.
- Naglie G, Hogan DB, Krahn M, Beattie BL, Black SE, Macknight C *et al.* Predictors of patient self-ratings of quality of life in Alzheimer disease: cross-sectional results from the Canadian Alzheimer's Disease Quality of Life Study. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2011; 19(10): 881-890.
- 175. James BD, Xie SX, Karlawish JH. How do patients with Alzheimer disease rate their overall quality of life? *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2005; **13**(6): **484-490**.

- 176. Karlawish JH, Zbrozek A, Kinosian B, Gregory A, Ferguson A, Glick HA. Preferencebased quality of life in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 2008; 4(3): 193-202.
- 177. Sousa MF, Santos RL, Arcoverde C, Simões P, Belfort T, Adler I *et al.* Quality of life in dementia: the role of non-cognitive factors in the ratings of people with dementia and family caregivers. *Int Psychogeriatr* 2013; **25**(7): 1097-1105.
- Teng E, Tassniyom K, Lu PH. Reduced quality-of-life ratings in mild cognitive impairment: analyses of subject and informant responses. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2012; 20(12): 1016-1025.
- 179. Herrmann N, Lanctôt KL, Sambrook R, Lesnikova N, Hébert R, McCracken P *et al.* The contribution of neuropsychiatric symptoms to the cost of dementia care. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2006; **21**(10): 972-976.
- Murman DL, Colenda CC. The economic impact of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: can drugs ease the burden? *Pharmacoeconomics* 2005; 23(3): 227-242.
- 181. Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Apathy. <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/apathy</u>. Accessed December 9, 2021.
- 182. Starkstein SE, Leentjens AF. The nosological position of apathy in clinical practice. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2008; **79**(10): 1088-1092.
- Marin RS. Apathy: a neuropsychiatric syndrome. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 1991; 3(3): 243-254.
- Marin RS. Differential diagnosis and classification of apathy. *Am J Psychiatry* 1990; 147(1): 22-30.
- 185. Robert P, Onyike CU, Leentjens AF, Dujardin K, Aalten P, Starkstein S *et al.* Proposed diagnostic criteria for apathy in Alzheimer's disease and other neuropsychiatric disorders. *Eur Psychiatry* 2009; 24(2): 98-104.
- 186. Robert P, Lanctot KL, Aguera-Ortiz L, Aalten P, Bremond F, Defrancesco M et al. Is it time to revise the diagnostic criteria for apathy in brain disorders? The 2018 international consensus group. Eur Psychiatry 2018; 54: 71-76.
- Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Depression. <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/depression</u>. Accessed December 14, 2021.
- 188. World Health O. ICD-10 : international statistical classification of diseases and related health problems : tenth revision. 2nd ed edn. World Health Organization: Geneva, 2004.
- Kendler KS. The Origin of Our Modern Concept of Depression-The History of Melancholia From 1780-1880: A Review. JAMA Psychiatry 2020; 77(8): 863-868.
- 190. Kendler KS. The genealogy of major depression: symptoms and signs of melancholia from 1880 to 1900. *Mol Psychiatry* 2017; **22**(11): 1539-1553.
- Kenneth S. Kendler, M.D., Rodrigo A. Muñoz, M.D., and, George Murphy, M.D. The Development of the Feighner Criteria: A Historical Perspective. *Am J Psychiatry* 2010; 167(2): 134-142.
- 192. Kendler KS. The Phenomenology of Major Depression and the Representativeness and Nature of DSM Criteria. *Am J Psychiatry* 2016; **173**(8): 771-780.
- 193. Ohmae S. [The difference between depression and melancholia: two distinct conditions that were combined into a single category in DSM-III]. *Seishin Shinkeigaku Zasshi* 2012; 114(8): 886-905.
- 194. Zimmerman M, Ellison W, Young D, Chelminski I, Dalrymple K. How many different ways do patients meet the diagnostic criteria for major depressive disorder? *Compr Psychiatry* 2015; **56:** 29-34.
- 195. Alexopoulos GS. Depression in the elderly. *The Lancet* 2005; **365**(9475): 1961-1970.
- 196. Fils JM, Penick EC, Nickel EJ, Othmer E, Desouza C, Gabrielli WF *et al.* Minor versus major depression: a comparative clinical study. *Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry* 2010; **12**(1): PCC.08m00752.

- 197. Olin JT, Katz IR, Meyers BS, Schneider LS, Lebowitz BD. Provisional diagnostic criteria for depression of Alzheimer disease: rationale and background. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2002; **10**(2): 129-141.
- 198. Olin JT, Schneider LS, Katz IR, Meyers BS, Alexopoulos GS, Breitner JC et al. Provisional diagnostic criteria for depression of Alzheimer disease. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2002; 10(2): 125-128.
- 199. Teng E, Ringman JM, Ross LK, Mulnard RA, Dick MB, Bartzokis G *et al.* Diagnosing depression in Alzheimer disease with the national institute of mental health provisional criteria. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2008; **16**(6): 469-477.
- 200. Vilalta-Franch J, Garre-Olmo J, López-Pousa S, Turon-Estrada A, Lozano-Gallego M, Hernàndez-Ferràndiz M *et al.* Comparison of different clinical diagnostic criteria for depression in Alzheimer disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2006; **14**(7): 589-597.
- 201. Crocq MA. A history of anxiety: from Hippocrates to DSM. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* 2015; **17**(3): 319-325.
- 202. Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Anxiety. <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/anxiety</u>. Accessed December 15, 2021.
- 203. Santabárbara J, Lipnicki DM, Bueno-Notivol J, Olaya-Guzmán B, Villagrasa B, López-Antón R. Updating the evidence for an association between anxiety and risk of Alzheimer's disease: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. J Affect Disord 2020; 262: 397-404.
- 204. Terracciano A, Sutin AR. Personality and Alzheimer's disease: An integrative review. *Personal Disord* 2019; **10**(1): 4-12.
- 205. Devier DJ, Pelton GH, Tabert MH, Liu X, Cuasay K, Eisenstadt R *et al.* The impact of anxiety on conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2009; **24**(12): 1335-1342.
- 206. Mild behavioral impairment: the early diagnosis. *Proceedings of the International Psychogeriatrics*2003. SPRINGER PUBLISHING CO 536 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NY 10012 USA.
- 207. Brodaty H, Connors MH. Pseudodementia, pseudo-pseudodementia, and pseudodepression. *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)* 2020; **12**(1): e12027.
- 208. Landes AM, Sperry SD, Strauss ME, Geldmacher DS. Apathy in Alzheimer's disease. J Am Geriatr Soc 2001; **49**(12): 1700-1707.
- 209. Ishii S, Weintraub N, Mervis JR. Apathy: a common psychiatric syndrome in the elderly. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2009; **10**(6): 381-393.
- Morgan L. Levy, M.D. ,, Jeffrey L. Cummings, M.D. ,, Lynn A. Fairbanks, Ph.D. ,, Donna Masterman, M.D. ,, Bruce L. Miller, M.D. ,, Anne H. Craig, M.D. , *et al.* Apathy Is Not Depression. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* 1998; 10(3): 314-319.
- 211. Ng KP, Chiew H, Rosa-Neto P, Kandiah N, Ismail Z, Gauthier S. Associations of AT(N) biomarkers with neuropsychiatric symptoms in preclinical Alzheimer's disease and cognitively unimpaired individuals. *Transl Neurodegener* 2021; **10**(1): 11.
- 212. Geda YE, Krell-Roesch J, Sambuchi N, Michel BF. Neuropsychiatric Symptoms and Neuroimaging Biomarkers in Alzheimer Disease: "Which is the Cart and Which is the Horse?". *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2017; **25**(7): 694-696.
- 213. Eysenck MW, Derakshan N, Santos R, Calvo MG. Anxiety and cognitive performance: attentional control theory. *Emotion* 2007; **7**(2): 336-353.
- 214. Moran TP. Anxiety and working memory capacity: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychol Bull* 2016; **142**(8): 831-864.
- Erickson K, Drevets W, Schulkin J. Glucocorticoid regulation of diverse cognitive functions in normal and pathological emotional states. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 2003; 27(3): 233-246.
- 216. Banks SJ, Raman R, He F, Salmon DP, Ferris S, Aisen P *et al.* The Alzheimer's disease cooperative study prevention instrument project: longitudinal outcome of behavioral

measures as predictors of cognitive decline. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra* 2014; **4**(3): 509-516.

- 217. Geda YE, Roberts RO, Mielke MM, Knopman DS, Christianson TJ, Pankratz VS *et al.* Baseline neuropsychiatric symptoms and the risk of incident mild cognitive impairment: a population-based study. *Am J Psychiatry* 2014; **171**(5): 572-581.
- 218. Leoutsakos JM, Forrester SN, Lyketsos CG, Smith GS. Latent Classes of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in NACC Controls and Conversion to Mild Cognitive Impairment or Dementia. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2015; **48**(2): 483-493.
- 219. Rosenberg PB, Mielke MM, Appleby BS, Oh ES, Geda YE, Lyketsos CG. The association of neuropsychiatric symptoms in MCI with incident dementia and Alzheimer disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2013; **21**(7): 685-695.
- 220. Palmer K, Di Iulio F, Varsi AE, Gianni W, Sancesario G, Caltagirone C *et al.* Neuropsychiatric predictors of progression from amnestic-mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease: the role of depression and apathy. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2010; **20**(1): 175-183.
- 221. Ismail Z, McGirr A, Gill S, Hu S, Forkert ND, Smith EE. Mild Behavioral Impairment and Subjective Cognitive Decline Predict Cognitive and Functional Decline. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2021; **80**(1): 459-469.
- 222. Burhanullah MH, Tschanz JT, Peters ME, Leoutsakos JM, Matyi J, Lyketsos CG *et al.* Neuropsychiatric Symptoms as Risk Factors for Cognitive Decline in Clinically Normal Older Adults: The Cache County Study. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2020; **28**(1): 64-71.
- 223. Krell-Roesch J, Syrjanen JA, Machulda MM, Christianson TJ, Kremers WK, Mielke MM *et al.* Neuropsychiatric symptoms and the outcome of cognitive trajectories in older adults free of dementia: The Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2021; **36**(9): 1362-1369.
- 224. van Dalen JW, van Wanrooij LL, Moll van Charante EP, Brayne C, van Gool WA, Richard E. Association of Apathy With Risk of Incident Dementia: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2018; **75**(10): 1012-1021.
- 225. Montoya-Murillo G, Ibarretxe-Bilbao N, Peña J, Ojeda N. The impact of apathy on cognitive performance in the elderly. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2019; **34**(5): 657-665.
- 226. Esposito F, Rochat L, Van der Linden AC, Lekeu F, Quittre A, Charnallet A *et al.* Apathy and executive dysfunction in Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* 2010; **24**(2): 131-137.
- 227. Kawagoe T, Onoda K, Yamaguchi S. Apathy and Executive Function in Healthy Elderly-Resting State fMRI Study. *Front Aging Neurosci* 2017; **9:** 124.
- 228. McPherson S, Fairbanks L, Tiken S, Cummings JL, Back-Madruga C. Apathy and executive function in Alzheimer's disease. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* 2002; **8**(3): 373-381.
- 229. Diamond A. Executive functions. *Handb Clin Neurol* 2020; **173**: 225-240.
- 230. Dandachi-FitzGerald B, Duits AA, Leentjens AFG, Verhey FRJ, Ponds RWHM. Performance and Symptom Validity Assessment in Patients with Apathy and Cognitive Impairment. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2020; 26(3): 314-321.
- 231. Terracciano A, Stephan Y, Luchetti M, Albanese E, Sutin AR. Personality traits and risk of cognitive impairment and dementia. *J Psychiatr Res* 2017; **89:** 22-27.
- Terracciano A, Sutin AR, An Y, O'Brien RJ, Ferrucci L, Zonderman AB *et al.* Personality and risk of Alzheimer's disease: new data and meta-analysis. *Alzheimers Dement* 2014; 10(2): 179-186.
- 233. Santabárbara J, Villagrasa B, López-Antón R, Olaya B, Bueno-Notivol J, de la Cámara C *et al.* Clinically relevant anxiety and risk of Alzheimer's disease in an elderly community sample: 4.5 years of follow-up. *J Affect Disord* 2019; **250**: 16-20.
- 234. Santabárbara J, Lopez-Anton R, de la Cámara C, Lobo E, Gracia-García P, Villagrasa B *et al.* Clinically significant anxiety as a risk factor for dementia in the elderly community. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 2019; **139**(1): 6-14.

- 235. Becker E, Orellana Rios CL, Lahmann C, Rücker G, Bauer J, Boeker M. Anxiety as a risk factor of Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Br J Psychiatry* 2018; 213(5): 654-660.
- 236. Burke SL, Cadet T, Alcide A, O'Driscoll J, Maramaldi P. Psychosocial risk factors and Alzheimer's disease: the associative effect of depression, sleep disturbance, and anxiety. *Aging Ment Health* 2018; **22**(12): 1577-1584.
- Palmer K, Berger AK, Monastero R, Winblad B, Backman L, Fratiglioni L. Predictors of progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 2007; 68(19): 1596-1602.
- 238. Pietrzak RH, Lim YY, Neumeister A, Ames D, Ellis KA, Harrington K *et al.* Amyloidbeta, anxiety, and cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer disease: a multicenter, prospective cohort study. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2015; **72**(3): 284-291.
- 239. Beaudreau SA, O'Hara R. The association of anxiety and depressive symptoms with cognitive performance in community-dwelling older adults. *Psychol Aging* 2009; **24**(2): 507-512.
- 240. Mantella RC, Butters MA, Dew MA, Mulsant BH, Begley AE, Tracey B *et al.* Cognitive impairment in late-life generalized anxiety disorder. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2007; **15**(8): 673-679.
- 241. Mourao RJ, Mansur G, Malloy-Diniz LF, Castro Costa E, Diniz BS. Depressive symptoms increase the risk of progression to dementia in subjects with mild cognitive impairment: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2016; **31**(8): 905-911.
- Sachs-Ericsson N, Joiner T, Plant EA, Blazer DG. The influence of depression on cognitive decline in community-dwelling elderly persons. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2005; 13(5): 402-408.
- 243. Almeida OP, Hankey GJ, Yeap BB, Golledge J, Flicker L. Depression as a modifiable factor to decrease the risk of dementia. *Translational Psychiatry* 2017; **7**(5): e1117-e1117.
- 244. Steenland K, Karnes C, Seals R, Carnevale C, Hermida A, Levey A. Late-life depression as a risk factor for mild cognitive impairment or Alzheimer's disease in 30 US Alzheimer's disease centers. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2012; **31**(2): 265-275.
- 245. Vicini Chilovi B, Conti M, Zanetti M, Mazzù I, Rozzini L, Padovani A. Differential impact of apathy and depression in the development of dementia in mild cognitive impairment patients. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 2009; **27**(4): 390-398.
- 246. Brodaty H, Altendorf A, Withall A, Sachdev P. Do people become more apathetic as they grow older? A longitudinal study in healthy individuals. *Int Psychogeriatr* 2010; **22**(3): 426-436.
- 247. Banning LCP, Ramakers IHGB, Köhler S, Bron EE, Verhey FRJ, de Deyn PP *et al.* The Association Between Biomarkers and Neuropsychiatric Symptoms Across the Alzheimer's Disease Spectrum. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 2020; **28**(7): 735-744.
- 248. Holmes SE, Esterlis I, Mazure CM, Lim YY, Ames D, Rainey-Smith S *et al.* Trajectories of depressive and anxiety symptoms in older adults: a 6-year prospective cohort study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2018; **33**(2): 405-413.
- 249. Lussier FZ, Pascoal TA, Chamoun M, Therriault J, Tissot C, Savard M *et al.* Mild behavioral impairment is associated with beta-amyloid but not tau or neurodegeneration in cognitively intact elderly individuals. *Alzheimers Dement* 2020; **16**(1): 192-199.
- 250. Babulal GM, Ghoshal N, Head D, Vernon EK, Holtzman DM, Benzinger TLS et al. Mood Changes in Cognitively Normal Older Adults are Linked to Alzheimer Disease Biomarker Levels. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2016; 24(11): 1095-1104.
- 251. Mori T, Shimada H, Shinotoh H, Hirano S, Eguchi Y, Yamada M *et al.* Apathy correlates with prefrontal amyloid beta deposition in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 2014; **85**(4): 449-455.
- 252. Marshall GA, Donovan NJ, Lorius N, Gidicsin CM, Maye J, Pepin LC *et al.* Apathy is associated with increased amyloid burden in mild cognitive impairment. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2013; **25**(4): 302-307.
- 253. Sun L, Li W, Li G, Xiao S. Prefrontal Aβ pathology influencing the pathway from apathy to cognitive decline in non-dementia elderly. *Transl Psychiatry* 2021; **11**(1): 534.
- 254. Vergallo A, Giampietri L, Pagni C, Giorgi FS, Nicoletti V, Miccoli M *et al.* Association Between CSF Beta-Amyloid and Apathy in Early-Stage Alzheimer Disease. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol* 2019; **32**(3): 164-169.
- 255. Banning LCP, Ramakers I, Rosenberg PB, Lyketsos CG, Leoutsakos JS. Alzheimer's disease biomarkers as predictors of trajectories of depression and apathy in cognitively normal individuals, mild cognitive impairment, and Alzheimer's disease dementia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2021; **36**(1): 224-234.
- 256. Skogseth R, Mulugeta E, Jones E, Ballard C, Rongve A, Nore S *et al.* Neuropsychiatric correlates of cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 2008; **25**(6): 559-563.
- 257. Ramakers IH, Verhey FR, Scheltens P, Hampel H, Soininen H, Aalten P *et al.* Anxiety is related to Alzheimer cerebrospinal fluid markers in subjects with mild cognitive impairment. *Psychol Med* 2013; **43**(5): 911-920.
- 258. Donovan NJ, Wadsworth LP, Lorius N, Locascio JJ, Rentz DM, Johnson KA *et al.* Regional cortical thinning predicts worsening apathy and hallucinations across the Alzheimer disease spectrum. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2014; **22**(11): 1168-1179.
- 259. Bensamoun D, Guignard R, Furst AJ, Derreumaux A, Manera V, Darcourt J *et al.* Associations between Neuropsychiatric Symptoms and Cerebral Amyloid Deposition in Cognitively Impaired Elderly People. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2016; **49**(2): 387-398.
- 260. Marshall GA, Fairbanks LA, Tekin S, Vinters HV, Cummings JL. Neuropathologic correlates of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 2006; **21**(3): 144-147.
- 261. Tekin S, Mega MS, Masterman DM, Chow T, Garakian J, Vinters HV *et al.* Orbitofrontal and anterior cingulate cortex neurofibrillary tangle burden is associated with agitation in Alzheimer disease. *Ann Neurol* 2001; **49**(3): 355-361.
- Forstl H, Burns A, Levy R, Cairns N, Luthert P, Lantos P. Neuropathological correlates of behavioural disturbance in confirmed Alzheimer's disease. *Br J Psychiatry* 1993; 163: 364-368.
- 263. Marshall GA, Gatchel JR, Donovan NJ, Muniz MC, Schultz AP, Becker JA *et al.* Regional Tau Correlates of Instrumental Activities of Daily Living and Apathy in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease Dementia. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2019; **67**(2): 757-768.
- 264. Kitamura S, Shimada H, Niwa F, Endo H, Shinotoh H, Takahata K et al. Tau-induced focal neurotoxicity and network disruption related to apathy in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2018; 89(11): 1208-1214.
- 265. Pichet Binette A, Vachon-Presseau É, Morris J, Bateman R, Benzinger T, Collins DL et al. Amyloid and Tau Pathology Associations With Personality Traits, Neuropsychiatric Symptoms, and Cognitive Lifestyle in the Preclinical Phases of Sporadic and Autosomal Dominant Alzheimer's Disease. *Biol Psychiatry* 2020.
- 266. Rosenberg PB, Nowrangi MA, Lyketsos CG. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: What might be associated brain circuits? *Mol Aspects Med* 2015; **43-44:** 25-37.
- 267. Theleritis C, Politis A, Siarkos K, Lyketsos CG. A review of neuroimaging findings of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Int Psychogeriatr* 2014; **26**(2): 195-207.
- 268. Guercio BJ, Donovan NJ, Ward A, Schultz A, Lorius N, Amariglio RE *et al.* Apathy is associated with lower inferior temporal cortical thickness in mild cognitive impairment and normal elderly individuals. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2015; **27**(1): e22-27.
- 269. Le Heron C, Apps MAJ, Husain M. The anatomy of apathy: A neurocognitive framework for amotivated behaviour. *Neuropsychologia* 2017.
- 270. Auning E, Selnes P, Grambaite R, Saltyte Benth J, Haram A, Lovli Stav A *et al.* Neurobiological correlates of depressive symptoms in people with subjective and mild cognitive impairment. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 2015; **131**(2): 139-147.

- 271. Gudmundsson P, Skoog I, Waern M, Blennow K, Pálsson S, Rosengren L *et al.* The relationship between cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers and depression in elderly women. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2007; **15**(10): 832-838.
- 272. Reis T, Brandão CO, Freire Coutinho ES, Engelhardt E, Laks J. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease and geriatric depression: preliminary findings from Brazil. CNS Neurosci Ther 2012; 18(7): 524-529.
- 273. Chung JK, Plitman E, Nakajima S, Chakravarty MM, Caravaggio F, Gerretsen P et al. Cortical Amyloid beta Deposition and Current Depressive Symptoms in Alzheimer Disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2016; 29(3): 149-159.
- 274. Babulal GM, Roe CM, Stout SH, Rajasekar G, Wisch JK, Benzinger TLS *et al.* Depression is Associated with Tau and Not Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography in Cognitively Normal Adults. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2020; **74**(4): 1045-1055.
- 275. Madsen K, Hasselbalch BJ, Frederiksen KS, Haahr ME, Gade A, Law I *et al.* Lack of association between prior depressive episodes and cerebral [11C]PiB binding. *Neurobiol Aging* 2012; **33**(10): 2334-2342.
- Mackin RS, Insel PS, Landau S, Bickford D, Morin R, Rhodes E *et al.* Late-Life Depression Is Associated With Reduced Cortical Amyloid Burden: Findings From the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative Depression Project. *Biol Psychiatry* 2021; 89(8): 757-765.
- 277. Krell-Roesch J, Syrjanen JA, Rakusa M, Vemuri P, Machulda MM, Kremers WK *et al.* Association of Cortical and Subcortical β-Amyloid With Standardized Measures of Depressive and Anxiety Symptoms in Adults Without Dementia. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2021; **33**(1): 64-71.
- 278. Krell-Roesch J, Lowe VJ, Neureiter J, Pink A, Roberts RO, Mielke MM *et al.* Depressive and anxiety symptoms and cortical amyloid deposition among cognitively normal elderly persons: the Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. *Int Psychogeriatr* 2018; **30**(2): 245-251.
- 279. Harrington KD, Gould E, Lim YY, Ames D, Pietrzak RH, Rembach A *et al.* Amyloid burden and incident depressive symptoms in cognitively normal older adults. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2017; **32**(4): 455-463.
- 280. Donovan NJ, Locascio JJ, Marshall GA, Gatchel J, Hanseeuw BJ, Rentz DM et al. Longitudinal Association of Amyloid Beta and Anxious-Depressive Symptoms in Cognitively Normal Older Adults. Am J Psychiatry 2018: appiajp201717040442.
- Perin S, Harrington KD, Lim YY, Ellis K, Ames D, Pietrzak RH et al. Amyloid burden and incident depressive symptoms in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. J Affect Disord 2018; 229: 269-274.
- 282. Gatchel JR, Donovan NJ, Locascio JJ, Schultz AP, Becker JA, Chhatwal J et al. Depressive Symptoms and Tau Accumulation in the Inferior Temporal Lobe and Entorhinal Cortex in Cognitively Normal Older Adults: A Pilot Study. J Alzheimers Dis 2017; 59(3): 975-985.
- Brommelhoff JA, Sultzer DL. Brain structure and function related to depression in Alzheimer's disease: contributions from neuroimaging research. J Alzheimers Dis 2015; 45(3): 689-703.
- Boccia M, Acierno M, Piccardi L. Neuroanatomy of Alzheimer's Disease and Late-Life Depression: A Coordinate-Based Meta-Analysis of MRI Studies. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2015; 46: 963-970.
- 285. Jeff Victoroff, M.D., FVL, , Ph.D., KLC, , Ph.D. ,, Samuel D. Shillcutt, Pharm.D., Ph.D. ,, Valerie Voon, M.D., Ph.D. ,, Simon Ducharme, M.D., M.Sc. Noncognitive Behavioral Changes Associated With Alzheimer's Disease: Implications of Neuroimaging Findings. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* 2018; **30**(1): 14-21.
- 286. Bruen PD, McGeown WJ, Shanks MF, Venneri A. Neuroanatomical correlates of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 2008; **131**(Pt 9): 2455-2463.

- 287. Zahodne LB, Gongvatana A, Cohen RA, Ott BR, Tremont G. Are apathy and depression independently associated with longitudinal trajectories of cortical atrophy in mild cognitive impairment? *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2013; **21**(11): 1098-1106.
- 288. Mendez MF. The Relationship Between Anxiety and Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis Rep* 2021; **5**(1): 171-177.
- 289. Hanseeuw BJ, Jonas V, Jackson J, Betensky RA, Rentz DM, Johnson KA et al. Association of anxiety with subcortical amyloidosis in cognitively normal older adults. *Mol Psychiatry* 2018.
- 290. Cai WJ, Tian Y, Ma YH, Dong Q, Tan L, Yu JT. Associations of Anxiety with Amyloid, Tau, and Neurodegeneration in Older Adults without Dementia: A Longitudinal Study. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2021; **82**(1): 273-283.
- 291. Mah L, Binns MA, Steffens DC. Anxiety symptoms in amnestic mild cognitive impairment are associated with medial temporal atrophy and predict conversion to Alzheimer disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2015; **23**(5): 466-476.
- 292. van Dalen JW, Moll van Charante EP, Nederkoorn PJ, van Gool WA, Richard E. Poststroke apathy. *Stroke* 2013; **44**(3): 851-860.
- 293. Staekenborg SS, Gillissen F, Romkes R, Pijnenburg YA, Barkhof F, Scheltens P *et al.* Behavioural and psychological symptoms are not related to white matter hyperintensities and medial temporal lobe atrophy in Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2008; 23(4): 387-392.
- 294. Alexopoulos GS, Meyers BS, Young RC, Campbell S, Silbersweig D, Charlson M. 'Vascular Depression' Hypothesis. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1997; **54**(10): 915-922.
- 295. Tighe SK, Oishi K, Mori S, Smith GS, Albert M, Lyketsos CG *et al.* Diffusion tensor imaging of neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's dementia. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2012; **24**(4): 484-488.
- 296. Berlow YA, Wells WM, Ellison JM, Sung YH, Renshaw PF, Harper DG. Neuropsychiatric correlates of white matter hyperintensities in Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2010; **25**(8): 780-788.
- 297. Mintzer J, Lanctôt KL, Scherer RW, Rosenberg PB, Herrmann N, van Dyck CH *et al.* Effect of Methylphenidate on Apathy in Patients With Alzheimer Disease: The ADMET 2 Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Neurol* 2021; **78**(11): 1324-1332.
- 298. Ruthirakuhan MT, Herrmann N, Abraham EH, Chan S, Lanctôt KL. Pharmacological interventions for apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018; (5).
- Orgeta V, Tabet N, Nilforooshan R, Howard R. Efficacy of Antidepressants for Depression in Alzheimer's Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2017; 58(3): 725-733.
- 300. Lyketsos CG, DelCampo L, Steinberg M, Miles Q, Steele CD, Munro C *et al.* Treating depression in Alzheimer disease: efficacy and safety of sertraline therapy, and the benefits of depression reduction: the DIADS. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2003; **60**(7): 737-746.
- 301. Padala PR, Padala KP, Majagi AS, Garner KK, Dennis RA, Sullivan DH. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors-associated apathy syndrome: A cross sectional study. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2020; **99**(33): e21497.
- 302. Hoehn-Saric R, Lipsey JR, McLeod DR. Apathy and indifference in patients on fluvoxamine and fluoxetine. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 1990; **10**(5): 343-345.
- 303. Barnhart WJ, Makela EH, Latocha MJ. SSRI-induced apathy syndrome: a clinical review. *J Psychiatr Pract* 2004; **10**(3): 196-199.
- 304. Defrancesco M, Marksteiner J, Fleischhacker WW, Blasko I. Use of Benzodiazepines in Alzheimer's Disease: A Systematic Review of Literature. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 2015; 18(10): pyv055.
- 305. DeVellis RF. Classical test theory. *Med Care* 2006; 44(11 Suppl 3): S50-59.

- 306. Hobart J, Cano S. Improving the evaluation of therapeutic interventions in multiple sclerosis: the role of new psychometric methods. *Health Technol Assess* 2009; **13**(12): iii, ix-x, 1-177.
- 307. Sheehan B. Assessment scales in dementia. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord* 2012; 5(6): 349-358.
- 308. Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Psychometrics. <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/psychometrics</u>. Accessed December 29, 2021.
- 309. Thomas ML. The value of item response theory in clinical assessment: a review. *Assessment* 2011; **18**(3): 291-307.
- da Rocha NS, Chachamovich E, de Almeida Fleck MP, Tennant A. An introduction to Rasch analysis for Psychiatric practice and research. *J Psychiatr Res* 2013; 47(2): 141-148.
- 311. Ware JE, Gandek B. Methods for Testing Data Quality, Scaling Assumptions, and Reliability: The IQOLA Project Approach. J Clin Epidemiol 1998; 51(11): 945-952.
- 312. Nunnally JCBIH. Psychometric theory. McGraw-Hill: New York, 1994.
- 313. Coste J, Bouée S, Ecosse E, Leplège A, Pouchot J. Methodological issues in determining the dimensionality of composite health measures using principal component analysis: case illustration and suggestions for practice. *Qual Life Res* 2005; **14**(3): 641-654.
- 314. Coulacoglou C, Saklofske DH. *Psychometrics and psychological assessment. principles and applications*. Elsevier/AP, Academic Press, an imprint of Elsevier2017.
- 315. Davison TE, McCabe MP, Mellor D. An examination of the "gold standard" diagnosis of major depression in aged-care settings. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2009; **17**(5): 359-367.
- 316. Vannini P, Hanseeuw BJ, Gatchel JR, Sikkes SAM, Alzate D, Zuluaga Y *et al.* Trajectory of Unawareness of Memory Decline in Individuals With Autosomal Dominant Alzheimer Disease. *JAMA Netw Open* 2020; **3**(12): e2027472.
- 317. Albert SM, Michaels K, Padilla M, Pelton G, Bell K, Marder K *et al.* Functional significance of mild cognitive impairment in elderly patients without a dementia diagnosis. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 1999; **7**(3): 213-220.
- 318. Cacciamani F, Houot M, Gagliardi G, Dubois B, Sikkes S, Sánchez-Benavides G *et al.* Awareness of Cognitive Decline in Patients With Alzheimer's Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front Aging Neurosci* 2021; **13**: 697234.
- Tierney MC, Szalai JP, Snow WG, Fisher RH. The prediction of Alzheimer disease. The role of patient and informant perceptions of cognitive deficits. *Arch Neurol* 1996; 53(5): 423-427.
- 320. Guercio BJ, Donovan NJ, Munro CE, Aghjayan SL, Wigman SE, Locascio JJ et al. The Apathy Evaluation Scale: A Comparison of Subject, Informant, and Clinician Report in Cognitively Normal Elderly and Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Alzheimers Dis 2015; 47(2): 421-432.
- 321. Schulz R, Cook TB, Beach SR, Lingler JH, Martire LM, Monin JK *et al.* Magnitude and causes of bias among family caregivers rating Alzheimer disease patients. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2013; **21**(1): 14-25.
- 322. Neumann PJ, Araki SS, Gutterman EM. The use of proxy respondents in studies of older adults: lessons, challenges, and opportunities. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2000; **48**(12): 1646-1654.
- 323. Manjer J, Carlsson S, Elmstahl S, Gullberg B, Janzon L, Lindstrom M *et al.* The Malmo Diet and Cancer Study: representativity, cancer incidence and mortality in participants and non-participants. *Eur J Cancer Prev* 2001; **10**(6): 489-499.
- Gelb DJ, Oliver E, Gilman S. Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson disease. *Arch Neurol* 1999; 56(1): 33-39.
- 325. Emre M, Aarsland D, Brown R, Burn DJ, Duyckaerts C, Mizuno Y et al. Clinical diagnostic criteria for dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 2007; 22(12): 1689-1707; quiz 1837.
- 326. McKeith IG, Dickson DW, Lowe J, Emre M, O'Brien JT, Feldman H *et al.* Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: third report of the DLB Consortium. *Neurology* 2005; **65**(12): 1863-1872.

- 327. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, *5ed*, vol. fifth edition: Arlington, VA, 2013.
- 328. Marin RS, Biedrzycki RC, Firinciogullari S. Reliability and validity of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. *Psychiatry Res* 1991; **38**(2): 143-162.
- 329. Clarke DE, Ko JY, Kuhl EA, van Reekum R, Salvador R, Marin RS. Are the available apathy measures reliable and valid? A review of the psychometric evidence. *J Psychosom Res* 2011; **70**(1): 73-97.
- Radakovic R, Harley C, Abrahams S, Starr JM. A systematic review of the validity and reliability of apathy scales in neurodegenerative conditions. *Int Psychogeriatr* 2015; 27(6): 903-923.
- 331. Clarke DE, Reekum R, Simard M, Streiner DL, Freedman M, Conn D. Apathy in dementia: an examination of the psychometric properties of the apathy evaluation scale. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 2007; 19(1): 57-64.
- 332. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 1983; **67**(6): 361-370.
- 333. Lisspers J, Nygren A, Soderman E. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HAD): some psychometric data for a Swedish sample. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 1997; **96**(4): 281-286.
- 334. Djukanovic I, Carlsson J, Arestedt K. Is the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) a valid measure in a general population 65-80 years old? A psychometric evaluation study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2017; **15**(1): 193.
- 335. Ismail Z, Aguera-Ortiz L, Brodaty H, Cieslak A, Cummings J, Fischer CE *et al.* The Mild Behavioral Impairment Checklist (MBI-C): A Rating Scale for Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Pre-Dementia Populations. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2017; 56(3): 929-938.
- 336. Mallo SC, Ismail Z, Pereiro AX, Facal D, Lojo-Seoane C, Campos-Magdaleno M et al. Assessing mild behavioral impairment with the mild behavioral impairment checklist in people with subjective cognitive decline. *International psychogeriatrics* 2019; **31**(2): 231-239.
- 337. Mallo SC, Ismail Z, Pereiro AX, Facal D, Lojo-Seoane C, Campos-Magdaleno M et al. Assessing mild behavioral impairment with the Mild behavioral impairment-checklist in people with mild cognitive impairment. Journal of Alzheimer's disease 2018; 66(1): 83-95.
- 338. Creese B, Griffiths A, Brooker H, Corbett A, Aarsland D, Ballard C *et al.* Profile of Mild Behavioral Impairment and Factor Structure of the Mild Behavioral Impairment Checklist in Cognitively Normal Older Adults. *Int Psychogeriatr* 2019; epub ahead of print: 1-13.
- 339. Tombaugh TN, McIntyre NJ. The Mini-Mental State Examination: A Comprehensive Review. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 1992; **40**(9): 922-935.
- 340. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res* 1975; **12**(3): 189-198.
- 341. Chen P, Ratcliff G, Belle SH, Cauley JA, DeKosky ST, Ganguli M. Cognitive tests that best discriminate between presymptomatic AD and those who remain nondemented. *Neurology* 2000; 55(12): 1847-1853.
- 342. Papp KV, Rentz DM, Orlovsky I, Sperling RA, Mormino EC. Optimizing the preclinical Alzheimer's cognitive composite with semantic processing: The PACC5. *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)* 2017; **3**(4): 668-677.
- 343. Insel PS, Weiner M, Mackin RS, Mormino E, Lim YY, Stomrud E et al. Determining clinically meaningful decline in preclinical Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 2019; 93(4): e322-e333.
- 344. Wiig EH, Nielsen NP, Jacobson JM. A Quick Test of Cognitive Speed: patterns of age groups 15 to 95 years. *Percept Mot Skills* 2007; **104**(3 Pt 2): 1067-1075.
- 345. Wiig EH, Nielsen, N. P., Minthon, L. & Warkentin, S. (2002). Alzheimer Quick Test: Assessment of Parietal Function. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt Assessment / PsychCorp.

- 346. Palmqvist S, Minthon L, Wattmo C, Londos E, Hansson O. A Quick Test of cognitive speed is sensitive in detecting early treatment response in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 2010; **2**(5): 29.
- 347. Sano M, Raman R, Emond J, Thomas RG, Petersen R, Schneider LS *et al.* Adding delayed recall to the Alzheimer Disease Assessment Scale is useful in studies of mild cognitive impairment but not Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* 2011; **25**(2): 122-127.
- 348. Coen RF, Swanwick GRJ, Maguire CP, Kirby M, Lawlor BA, Walsh JB *et al.* Memory impairment in Alzheimer's disease: replication and extension of the delayed word recall (DWR) test. *Ir J Psychol Med* 1996; **13:** 55-58.
- 349. Palmqvist S, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Vestberg S, Andreasson U, Brooks DJ *et al.* Accuracy of brain amyloid detection in clinical practice using cerebrospinal fluid βamyloid 42: a cross-validation study against amyloid positron emission tomography. *JAMA Neurol* 2014; **71**(10): 1282-1289.
- 350. Palmqvist S, Janelidze S, Stomrud E, Zetterberg H, Karl J, Zink K *et al.* Performance of Fully Automated Plasma Assays as Screening Tests for Alzheimer Disease-Related β-Amyloid Status. *JAMA Neurol* 2019; **76**(9): 1060-1069.
- 351. Palmqvist S, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Vestberg S, Andreasson U, Brooks DJ et al. Accuracy of brain amyloid detection in clinical practice using cerebrospinal fluid betaamyloid 42: a cross-validation study against amyloid positron emission tomography. JAMA Neurol 2014; 71(10): 1282-1289.
- 352. Bertens D, Tijms BM, Scheltens P, Teunissen CE, Visser PJ. Unbiased estimates of cerebrospinal fluid β-amyloid 1-42 cutoffs in a large memory clinic population. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 2017; 9(1): 8.
- 353. Sánchez-Benavides G, Suárez-Calvet M, Milà-Alomà M, Arenaza-Urquijo EM, Grau-Rivera O, Operto G *et al*. Amyloid-β positive individuals with subjective cognitive decline present increased CSF neurofilament light levels that relate to lower hippocampal volume. *Neurobiol Aging* 2021; **104**: 24-31.
- 354. Mattsson N, Insel PS, Palmqvist S, Portelius E, Zetterberg H, Weiner M et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau, neurogranin, and neurofilament light in Alzheimer's disease. EMBO Mol Med 2016; 8(10): 1184-1196.
- 355. Baker SL, Maass A, Jagust WJ. Considerations and code for partial volume correcting [(18)F]-AV-1451 tau PET data. *Data Brief* 2017; **15:** 648-657.
- 356. Fischl B, van der Kouwe A, Destrieux C, Halgren E, Segonne F, Salat DH *et al.* Automatically parcellating the human cerebral cortex. *Cereb Cortex* 2004; **14**(1): 11-22.
- 357. Desikan RS, Segonne F, Fischl B, Quinn BT, Dickerson BC, Blacker D *et al.* An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage* 2006; **31**(3): 968-980.
- 358. Jack CR, Jr., Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, Knopman DS, Mielke MM, Vemuri P *et al.* Different definitions of neurodegeneration produce similar amyloid/neurodegeneration biomarker group findings. *Brain* 2015; **138**(Pt 12): 3747-3759.
- 359. Patenaude B, Smith SM, Kennedy DN, Jenkinson M. A Bayesian model of shape and appearance for subcortical brain segmentation. *Neuroimage* 2011; **56**(3): 907-922.
- 360. Muchlboeck JS, Westman E, Simmons A. TheHiveDB image data management and analysis framework. *Front Neuroinform* 2014; **7**: 49.
- 361. Schmidt P, Gaser C, Arsic M, Buck D, Forschler A, Berthele A *et al.* An automated tool for detection of FLAIR-hyperintense white-matter lesions in Multiple Sclerosis. *Neuroimage* 2012; **59**(4): 3774-3783.
- 362. Wahlund LO, Barkhof F, Fazekas F, Bronge L, Augustin M, Sjogren M *et al.* A new rating scale for age-related white matter changes applicable to MRI and CT. *Stroke* 2001; **32**(6): 1318-1322.
- 363. Ringnér M. What is principal component analysis? *Nat Biotechnol* 2008; **26**(3): 303-304.
- 364. Osborne JW. What is Rotating in Exploratory Factor Analysis? Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation: Vol. 20, Article 2. 2015.

Available at: <u>https://scholarworks.umass.edu/pare/vol20/iss1/2</u> [Accessed online December 29, 2021].

- 365. Baglin J. Improving Your Exploratory Factor Analysis for Ordinal Data: A Demonstration Using FACTOR. Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation: Vol.19, Article 5. 2014. Available at: <u>https://scholarworks.umass.edu/pare/vol19/iss1/5</u> [Accessed online December 29, 2021].
- 366. Timmerman ME, Lorenzo-Seva U. Dimensionality assessment of ordered polytomous items with parallel analysis. *Psychol Methods* 2011; **16**(2): 209-220.
- 367. Altman N, Krzywinski M. Simple linear regression. *Nat Methods* 2015; **12**(11): 999-1000.
- 368. Krzywinski M, Altman N. Multiple linear regression. *Nat Methods* 2015; **12**(12): 1103-1104.
- 369. Winter B. Linear models and linear mixed effects models in R with linguistic applications. arXiv:1308.5499. [http://arxiv.org/pdf/1308.5499.pdf]. 2013. [Accessed online January 10, 2022].
- Sun X, Liang S, Fu L, Zhang X, Feng T, Li P *et al.* A human brain tau PET template in MNI space for the voxel-wise analysis of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci Methods* 2019; 328: 108438.
- 371. Saunders CT, Blume JD. A Regression Framework for Causal Mediation Analysis with Applications to Behavioral Science. *Multivariate Behav Res* 2019; **54**(4): 555-577.
- 372. Donders ART, van der Heijden GJMG, Stijnen T, Moons KGM. Review: A gentle introduction to imputation of missing values. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2006; **59**(10): 1087-1091.
- 373. Rice TK, Schork NJ, Rao DC. Methods for Handling Multiple Testing. *Advances in Genetics*, vol. 60. Academic Press2008, pp 293-308.
- 374. Yang Y, Wang JZ. From Structure to Behavior in Basolateral Amygdala-Hippocampus Circuits. *Front Neural Circuits* 2017; **11**: 86.
- 375. Wang J, Barbas H. Specificity of Primate Amygdalar Pathways to Hippocampus. J Neurosci 2018; **38**(47): 10019-10041.
- 376. Harrington KD, Lim YY, Gould E, Maruff P. Amyloid-beta and depression in healthy older adults: a systematic review. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2015; **49**(1): 36-46.
- 377. Zuckerman H, Pan Z, Park C, Brietzke E, Musial N, Shariq AS *et al.* Recognition and Treatment of Cognitive Dysfunction in Major Depressive Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 2018; 9.
- 378. Modrego PJ, Ferrandez J. Depression in patients with mild cognitive impairment increases the risk of developing dementia of Alzheimer type: a prospective cohort study. *Arch Neurol* 2004; **61**(8): 1290-1293.
- 379. Chung JK, Plitman E, Nakajima S, Chow TW, Chakravarty MM, Caravaggio F *et al.* Lifetime History of Depression Predicts Increased Amyloid-beta Accumulation in Patients with Mild Cognitive Impairment. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2015; **45**(3): 907-919.
- 380. Wu KY, Hsiao IT, Chen CS, Chen CH, Hsieh CJ, Wai YY *et al.* Increased brain amyloid deposition in patients with a lifetime history of major depression: evidenced on 18F-florbetapir (AV-45/Amyvid) positron emission tomography. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 2014; **41**(4): 714-722.
- 381. Cummings J, Friedman JH, Garibaldi G, Jones M, Macfadden W, Marsh L et al. Apathy in Neurodegenerative Diseases: Recommendations on the Design of Clinical Trials. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2015; 28(3): 159-173.
- 382. Creese B, Brooker H, Ismail Z, Wesnes KA, Hampshire A, Khan Z *et al.* Mild Behavioral Impairment as a Marker of Cognitive Decline in Cognitively Normal Older Adults. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2019; **27**(8): 823-834.
- 383. Carrillo MC, Blennow K, Soares H, Lewczuk P, Mattsson N, Oberoi P *et al.* Global standardization measurement of cerebral spinal fluid for Alzheimer's disease: An update from the Alzheimer's Association Global Biomarkers Consortium. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2013; 9(2): 137-140.

- 384. Vanderstichele H, Bibl M, Engelborghs S, Le Bastard N, Lewczuk P, Molinuevo JL et al. Standardization of preanalytical aspects of cerebrospinal fluid biomarker testing for Alzheimer's disease diagnosis: a consensus paper from the Alzheimer's Biomarkers Standardization Initiative. Alzheimers Dement 2012; 8(1): 65-73.
- 385. Lois C, Gonzalez I, Johnson KA, Price JC. PET imaging of tau protein targets: a methodology perspective. *Brain Imaging Behav* 2019; **13**(2): 333-344.
- Leuzy A, Chiotis K, Lemoine L, Gillberg P-G, Almkvist O, Rodriguez-Vieitez E *et al.* Tau PET imaging in neurodegenerative tauopathies-still a challenge. *Mol Psychiatry* 2019; 24(8): 1112-1134.
- 387. Villemagne VL, Dore V, Burnham SC, Masters CL, Rowe CC. Imaging tau and amyloidbeta proteinopathies in Alzheimer disease and other conditions. *Nat Rev Neurol* 2018.
- 388. Leandrou S, Petroudi S, Kyriacou PA, Reyes-Aldasoro CC, Pattichis CS. Quantitative MRI Brain Studies in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease: A Methodological Review. *IEEE Rev Biomed Eng* 2018; **11**: 97-111.
- 389. Mohammad D, Ellis C, Rau A, Rosenberg PB, Mintzer J, Ruthirakuhan M et al. Psychometric Properties of Apathy Scales in Dementia: A Systematic Review. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 2018; 66: 1065-1082.
- 390. Wolinsky D, Drake K, Bostwick J. Diagnosis and Management of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* 2018; **20**(12): 117.
- 391. Theleritis C, Siarkos K, Politis AA, Katirtzoglou E, Politis A. A systematic review of nonpharmacological treatments for apathy in dementia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2018; **33**(2): e177-e192.
- 392. Pieper MJ, Francke AL, van der Steen JT, Scherder EJ, Twisk JW, Kovach CR et al. Effects of a Stepwise Multidisciplinary Intervention for Challenging Behavior in Advanced Dementia: A Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Geriatr Soc 2016; 64(2): 261-269.
- 393. Leontjevas R, Gerritsen DL, Smalbrugge M, Teerenstra S, Vernooij-Dassen MJ, Koopmans RT. A structural multidisciplinary approach to depression management in nursing-home residents: a multicentre, stepped-wedge cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet* 2013; **381**(9885): 2255-2264.
- 394. Zwijsen SA, Smalbrugge M, Eefsting JA, Twisk JWR, Gerritsen DL, Pot AM *et al.* Coming to grips with challenging behavior: a cluster randomized controlled trial on the effects of a multidisciplinary care program for challenging behavior in dementia. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* 2014; **15**(7): 531.e531-531.e510.
- 395. Eikelboom WS, van den Berg E, Singleton EH, Baart SJ, Coesmans M, Leeuwis AE et al. Neuropsychiatric and Cognitive Symptoms Across the Alzheimer Disease Clinical Spectrum: Cross-sectional and Longitudinal Associations. *Neurology* 2021; 97(13): e1276e1287.
- Vik-Mo AO, Giil LM, Ballard C, Aarsland D. Course of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia: 5-year longitudinal study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2018; 33(10): 1361-1369.